REFERENCE ONLY



UNIVERSITY OF LONDON THESIS

Degree Phil

Year Zoo7

Name of Author YUGO

TSUCHIVA

COPYRIGHT

This is a thesis accepted for a Higher Degree of the University of London. It is an unpublished typescript and the copyright is held by the author. All persons consulting the thesis must read and abide by the Copyright Declaration below.

COPYRIGHT DECLARATION

I recognise that the copyright of the above-described thesis rests with the author and that no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author.

LOAN

Theses may not be lent to individuals, but the University Library may lend a copy to approved libraries within the United Kingdom, for consultation solely on the premises of those libraries. Application should be made to: The Theses Section, University of London Library, Senate House, Malet Street, London WC1E 7HU.

REPRODUCTION

University of London theses may not be reproduced without explicit written permission from the University of London Library. Enquiries should be addressed to the Theses Section of the Library. Regulations concerning reproduction vary according to the date of acceptance of the thesis and are listed below as guidelines.

- A. Before 1962. Permission granted only upon the prior written consent of the author. (The University Library will provide addresses where possible).
- B. 1962 1974. In many cases the author has agreed to permit copying upon completion of a Copyright Declaration.
- C. 1975 1988. Most theses may be copied upon completion of a Copyright Declaration.
- D. 1989 onwards. Most theses may be copied.

This thesis comes within category D.

This copy has been deposited in the Library of

UCL

This copy has been deposited in the University of London Library, Senate House, Malet Street, London WC1E 7HU.

Bound By Blissett Bookbinders 020 8992 3965 www.blissetts.com

The Effect of Adrenaline on Cardiac AMP-Activated Protein Kinase

by

Yugo Tsuchiya

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the University of London

Department of Biochemistry University College London Gower Street London WC1E 6BT

January 2007

UMI Number: U592446

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI U592446 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Abstract

In freshly isolated adult rat cardiac myocytes, adrenaline decreased AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation in AMPK a-subunits. This was associated with a decrease in AMPK-driven phosphorylation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase. The effect of adrenaline on AMPK was rapid with a half-time of approximately 4 minutes. The inactivation of AMPK by adrenaline was not associated with detectable changes in the myocyte contents of ATP, ADP, AMP, creatine, and creatine phosphate. The effect of adrenaline on AMPK was preserved under conditions where AMPK was activated by palmitate or sorbitol, but it was markedly diminished when AMPK was activated by 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleoside (AICAR), oligomycin, or phenformin. The effect of adrenaline was partially blocked by propranolol (βadrenergic antagonist) or phentolamine (α_1 -adrenergic antagonist) while it was essentially abolished when both blockers were present, suggesting involvement of both β and α_1 adrenergic receptors. Isoproterenol (β -adrenergic agonist) and phenylephrine (α_1 -adrenergic agonist) could also decrease AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation. Adrenaline did not increase phosphorylation of Ser485/491 in the AMPK α -subunit, but incubation of a catalytically inactive AMPK complex $(\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1)$ with a cell lysate from adrenaline-treated myocytes increased phosphorylation of the AMPK ß1 subunit. The effect of adrenaline was not mimicked by conditions that activated cAMP-pathways and was not blocked by an inhibitor of calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II. However, a phorbol ester could mimic the effect of adrenaline on AMPK, suggesting the possible involvement of PKC isoforms.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my highest gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. David Saggerson for his advice and support throughout this study. I am grateful to Dr. Hilary Clark and Dr. Nigel Turner for their advice and for providing assistance in experimental techniques. I am also grateful to Mrs Ikhlass Tabidi for preparing some of myocyte samples used in this study. I would like to thank Prof. David Carling and Dr. Richard Heath (MRC Clinical Sciences Centre, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College London) for providing me anti- α 1 AMPK antibody and for taking time to perform some *in vitro* phosphorylation experiments and western blotting analysis of AMPK β subunit phosphorylation. I am truly grateful to my parents and the Department of Biochemistry for their financial support. I would also like to thank my mother and elder brother for their advice and encouragement. Finally, I acknowledge the British government for supporting my study in the form of Overseas Research Students Award and the British Heart Foundation for funding this project.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Table of Contents	4
List of Figures	7
Abbreviations	9
Chapter 1: Introduction	14
1.1 The physiological roles of cardiac adrenergic receptors	14
1.2 The adrenergic receptors	15
1.3 GTP-binding protein (G protein) signalling	17
1.4 An overview of cardiac adrenergic signalling	22
1.4.1 Contraction	23
1.4.2 Fuel catabolism	25
1.4.3 Hypertrophy	26
1.4.4 Apoptosis	27
1.5 Signalling components	
1.5.1 Protein kinase A (PKA)	28
1.5.2 Exchange Protein Directly Activated by cAMP (Epac)	30
$1.5.3 \text{ Ca}^{2+}$	30
1.5.4 Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CAMKII)	31
1.5.5 Phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)	32
1.5.6 Protein kinase B (PKB) / Akt	36
1.5.7 Protein kinase C (PKC)	37
1.5.8 Protein kinase D (PKD)	40
1.5.9 Mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs)	41
1.6 AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK)	44
1.6.1 Introduction	44
1.6.2 AMPK structure	47
1.6.3 AMPK kinases (AMPKKs)	52
1.6.4 Phosphorylation sites other than Thr172	54
1.6.5 The regulation of AMPK by AMP/ATP and other factors	56
(a) AMP/ATP	56

(b) Creatine/Creatine phosphate (Cr/CrP)	58
(c) NAD ⁺ /NADH	58
(d) Hyperosmotic stress	59
(e) Insulin	59
(f) Metformin	60
(g) Peroxynitrite	61
(h) Ca^{2+}	63
(i) Adipokines	63
(j) Ghrelin	64
(k) Glycogen	65
(1) Glucose	66
(m) Long chain fatty acids	66
(n) Contraction	67
(o) Myocardial ischemia	68
(p) Adrenergic receptors	70
1.7 The possibility of the regulation of AMPK through adrenergic	
receptors in the heart	70
1.8 The purpose of the present study	74
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	
2.1 Commercial preparations	76
2.2 Laboratory preparations	78
2.2.1 Palmitate bound to albumin	78
2.2.2 AMPK antibody bound to protein G	78
2.3 Animals	78
2.4 Heart perfusion	79
2.5 Adult rat cardiac myocyte isolation	79
2.6 Measurement of cardiac myocyte viability	
2.7 Measurement of glucose oxidation by myocytes	81
2.8 Measurement of palmitate oxidation by myocytes	81
2.9 AMPK activity assay	82
2.10 Western blotting	83
2.11 Measurements of adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds	86
2.12 Determination of protein concentration	
2.13 Determination of fatty acid concentration	

2.14 β -Scintillation counting	91
2.15 Statistical methods	92
Chapter 3: Results and Discussion	93
3.1 Cardiac myocyte isolation	93
3.2 The effect of adrenaline on cardiac AMPK activity	95
3.3 The effect of adrenaline is independent of changes in total cellular	
high energy phosphates	108
3.4 The effect of adrenaline is mediated by both α_1 and β adrenoreceptors	108
3.5 The effect of adrenaline is not mediated through the PI3K/PKB	
pathway	110
3.6 The effect of a drenaline on AMPK phosphorylation other than Thr172	118
3.7 Adrenaline selectively attenuates activation of AMPK	
by sorbitol and palmitate	121
3.8 Adrenergic signalling components mediating the effect of adrenaline	123
3.9 General Discussion	130
3.10 Conclusion	141
3.11 Suggestions for further study	142
Bibliography	143

List of Figures and Table

Figures

1.1	Putative signalling pathways linking the β adrenergic receptor to PI3K	
	and PKB	34
1.2	Signalling pathways linking cardiac adrenergic receptors to MAPKs	43
1.3	AMPK subunit domain structures and phosphorylation sites	49
1.4	The hypothetical regulation of cardiac AMPK by adrenergic agonists	72
2.1	Time-course of AMPK activity assay and the allosteric effect of AMP	84
2.2	The relationship between AMPK activity and protein concentration	
	of the 13,000g supernatant	85
2.3	A chromatogram of standard solutions of ATP, ADP, AMP, creatine,	
	and creatine phosphate	88
2.4	The relationship between the amount of ATP, ADP, and AMP with the	
	HPLC peak areas	89
2.5	The relationship between the amount of creatine and creatine phosphate	
	with the HPLC peak heights	70
3.1	Glucose oxidation by cardiac myocytes	96
3.2	Exogenous palmitate oxidation by cardiac myocytes	97
3.3	The effect of palmitate on $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity and the dose-response	
	curve of the inhibition of AMPK by adrenaline in cardiac myocytes	99
3.4	The presence of palmitate is not essential for the effect of adrenaline to	
	decrease AMPK activity	100
3.5	The effect of adrenaline on $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity	102
3.6	The effect of palmitate and adrenaline on $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity in	
	perfused hearts	103
3.7	The effect of adrenaline on AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation in cardiac	
	myocytes	105
3.8	The effect of adrenaline on ACC Ser79 (Ser227) phosphorylation in	
	cardiac myocytes	106
3.9	Time-course of inhibition of AMPK by adrenaline	107

3.10) The effect of α_1 and β adrenergic antagonists on the effect of	
	adrenaline on AMPK	111
3.11	The effect of isoproterenol on AMPK activity and Thr172	
	phosphorylation	112
3.12	The effect of phenylephrine on AMPK activity and Thr172	
	phosphorylation	113
3.13	The effect of adrenergic agonists on PLB Ser16 phosphorylation	114
3.14	The effect of wortmannin on the effect of adrenaline on AMPK	116
3.15	The effect of adrenaline on PKB phosphorylation	117
3.16	The additivity of inhibitory effects of insulin and adrenaline	119
3.17	The effect of adrenaline on AMPK Ser485/491 phosphorylation	120
3.18	The effect of adrenaline on AMPK β -subunit phosphorylation	122
3.19	The effect of adrenaline on activation of AMPK by different conditions	124
3.20	The effect of forskolin on AMPK activity	125
3.21	The effect of cAMP analogues on AMPK activity	126
3.22	The effect of KN93 on the effect of adrenaline on AMPK	128
3.23	The effect of PMA on AMPK activity	129

Table

3.1	1 The effect of adrenaline on adenine nucleotides and creatine	
	compounds	109

Abbreviations

8-CPT-2'-O-Me-cAMP	8-(4-chlorophenylthio)-2'-O-methyladenosine 3', 5'-
	cyclic monophosphate
AC	adenylate cyclase
ACC	acetyl-CoA carboxylase
ACOD	acyl-CoA oxidase
ADP	adenosine 5'-diphosphate
АКАР	A-kinase anchoring ptrotein
AMP	adenosine 5'-monophosphate
АМРК	AMP-activated protein kinase
АМРКК	AMP-activated protein kinase kinase
AICAR	5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleoside
AP-2	adaptor protein complex 2
aPKC	atypical protein kinase C
AR	adrenergic receptor
ARF6	ADP-ribosylation factor 6
ASC	Association with SNF1 Complex
ASK1	apoptosis signal-regulated kinase 1
ATM	ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATP	adenosine 5'-triphosphate
βARK	β adrenergic receptor kinase
BCA	bicinchoninic acid
BSA	bovine serum albumin
С	carboxyl (C)-terminus
С	catalytic subunit
САМК	calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase
САМКК	calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CBS	cystathione-β-synthase
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary
cPKC	conventional protein kinase C
Cr	creatine

CrP	creatine phosphate
CTX	cholera toxin
DAG	diacylglycerol
DNP	dinitrophenol
DTT	dithiothreitol
ECL	enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
eEF2	eukaryotic elongation factor 2
EGTA	ethylene glycol-bis(β -aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-
	tetraacetic acid
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
Epac	Exchange Protein Directly Activated by cAMP
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FABPpm	plasma membrane associated fatty acid binding protein
FAT	fatty acids translocase
GAP	GTPase activator protein
GBD	glycogen binding domain
GDP	guanosine 5'-diphosphate
GEF	guanine nucleotide exchange factor
Glut4	glucose transporter 4
GPCR	G protein coupled receptor
GRK	G protein coupled receptor kinase
GSK3	glycogen synthase kinase 3
GTP	guanosine 5'-triphosphate
Hepes	4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-1-ethanesulfonic acid
HMG-CoA	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cell
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor-1
IP ₃	inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate
JAK1	Janus kinase 1
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
КНВ	Krebs Henseleit Bicarbonate buffer

KIS	Kinase Interacting Sequence
Lbc	lymphoblastoma crisis
LCFA	long chain fatty acid
MAGI-1	membrane associated guanylate kinase-like protein
	inverted-1
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEF	mouse embryonic fibroblast
MEF2	myocyte enhancer factor 2
MEHA	3 -methyl-N-ethyl-N-(β -hydroxyethyl)-aniline
MEK	mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-
	regulated kinase kinase
MEKK	mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-
	regulated kinase kinase kinase
MCD	malonyl-CoA decarboxylase
MLTK	mixed lineage kinase-like mitogen-activated protein
	triple kinase
МКК	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
МККК	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase
ΜΟ25α	mouse protein 25 α
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
Myr	myristoylation
MUK	MAPK upstream kinase
Ν	amino (NH ₂)-terminus
NAD^+	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (oxidised)
NADH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (reduced)
NFAT	nuclear factor of activated T lymphocytes
NHERFP-1/2	Na^+ -H ⁺ exchanger regulatory factor proteins-1/2
nPKC	novel protein kinase C
NSF	N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor
PA	phosphatidic acid
РАК	p21-activated kinase
PC	phosphatidylcholine
PCA	perchloric acid
PDE	phosphodiesterase

PDK1	phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1
PDZ	PSD-95, Discs-large, and ZO-1
PEG	polyethylene glycol
PFK	phosphofructokinase
РН	pleckstrin homology
PI3K	phosphoinositide-3-kinase
PIK	phosphoinositide kinase
РКА	protein kinase A
РКВ	protein kinase B
РКС	protein kinase C
PKD	protein kinase D
PKI	protein kinase inhibitor
PLA ₂	phospholipase A ₂
PLB	phospholamban
PLC	phospholipase C
PLD	phospholipase D
PM	plasma membrane
РМА	phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate
PMSF	phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride
РР	protein phosphatase
PS	phosphatidylserine
PSD-95	post synaptic density protein-95
PtdIns	phosphatidylinositol
$PtdIns(3,4,5)P_3$	phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate
$PtdIns(3,4)P_2$	phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate
PtdIns(3)P	phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate
PtdIns(4,5)P ₂	phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate
PTX	pertussis toxin
PVDF	polyvinyldene difluoride
PYK2	protein tyrosine kinase 2
R	regulatory subunit
RACK	Receptor for Activated C-kinase
RGS	regulators of G-protein signalling
RICK	Receptor for Inactive C-kinase

Rictor	rapamycin-insensitive companion of mTOR
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecylsulphate polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
SH	Src homology
siRNA	small interfering RNA
SNF1	Sucrose non-fermenting 1
SPRK	Src homology 3 domain-containing proline-rich protein
	kinase
SR	sarcoplasmic reticulum
STRADa	STE20-related adaptor α
TAK1	transforming growth factor β -activated kinase 1
TBS	Tris buffered saline
Tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)-aminomethane
TSC2	tuberous sclerosis complex 2
UCP1	uncoupling protein 1
ZMP	5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleoside
	monophosphate

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 The physiological roles of cardiac adrenergic receptors

The stimulation of cardiac adrenergic receptors, which occurs following increased sympathetic activity and the increased release of adrenaline from the adrenal medulla (e.g. during exercise and fight-or-flight response), causes an acute increase in the cardiac output as a result of the increased heart rate (positive chronotropic effect), relaxation rate (positive lusitropic effect), and force of contraction (positive inotropic effect). During exercise, the adrenergic stimulation of cardiac output, together with skeletal muscle vasodilation, increases blood flow to the active muscles. The sympathetic activity is also increased during conditions which cause a fall in the arterial blood pressure (e.g. hemorrhage and heart failure) and the adrenergic stimulation of cardiac output is an important part of the hemodynamic defence reaction which attempts to restore the blood pressure. The stimulation of cardiac adrenergic receptors also causes alterations in the cardiac fuel metabolism to meet the increased demand for energy that accompanies the increased contractile function. The heart contractile activity requires a continuous supply of energy in the form of ATP. The heart is an omnivorous organ which can utilise a wide range of substrates including fatty acids, glucose, lactate, ketone bodies and amino acids. However, in the normal-well oxygenated heart, approximately 70% of ATP is generated by the oxidation of fatty acids and the rest mainly comes from carbohydrate (glucose and lactate) oxidation. Adrenergic stimulation causes a rapid burst of glycogenolysis followed by stimulation of exogenous glucose uptake, as well as stimulation of

14

intracellular triacylglycerol (TAG) turnover and peripheral lipolysis, increasing the fatty acid supply to the heart (Goodwin *et al* 1998 a and b; Collins-Nakai *et al* 1994; Williamson 1964; Gold *et al* 1965; Crass *et al* 1975). During adrenergic stimulation, both fatty acid and glucose oxidation and glycolysis are stimulated, but glucose utilisation is preferentially increased over fatty acid oxidation, increasing the relative contribution of carbohydrate to the overall ATP production (Goodwin *et al* 1998b; Collins-Nakai *et al* 1994). The selective utilisation of glucose is thought to be advantageous in the situations of increased cardiac workload as the ATP yield per oxygen consumed is higher for the oxidation of carbohydrate than that of fatty acids (Goodwin *et al* 1998b).

Plasma catecholamines are elevated in the patients with chronic heart failure (Rundqvist et al 1997) and prolonged stimulation of adrenergic receptors is thought to be a factor contributing to the development of pathological hypertrophy. This is supported by numerous studies done with the whole animals or isolated heart/myocytes (Scheuer 1999) and by the observation that transgenic mice lacking endogenous adrenaline and noradrenaline developed less hypertrophy in response to pressure overload by aortic constriction (Esposito et al 2002). Cardiac hypertrophy is an adaptive response to increased workload and is characterised by increased protein synthesis and cardiac myocyte size, and in the case of pathological hypertrophy, it is also associated with the expression of genes that are normally expressed in foetal cardiac myocytes, and with structural and metabolic abnormalities including reduced fatty acid oxidation and energy starvation (Sugden and Clerk 1998a; Allard et al 2006). Pathological hypertrophy is often associated with myocardial cell death (Dorn II and Brown 1999). This effect may be secondary to the metabolic abnormalities in the hypertrophied heart but it may also be partly due to direct activation of apoptotic signalling by adrenergic receptor stimulation (Krishna Singh et al 2001).

1.2 The adrenergic receptors

The adrenergic receptors are a subfamily of the G protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), which trigger intracellular signalling by activating heterotrimeric G proteins upon stimulation. Based on the pharmacological properties and the

downstream signalling pathways they activate, the adrenergic receptors are classified into three types; β , α_1 and α_2 , each of which is further divided into several genetically distinct subtypes (β_1 , β_2 , β_3 , α_{1A} , α_{1B} , α_{1D} , α_{2A} , α_{2B} , and α_{2C}). In addition to these, there are the α_{1L} receptor, which is a putative α_1 subtype (Muramatsu *et al* 1990); four splice variants of α_{1A} (1_{A-1} to 1_{A-4}) (Hirasawa et al 1995; Chang et al 1998); and a putative ' β_4 receptor' which is probably the β_1 receptor (Brodde *et al* 2001). The cardiac expression of the adrenergic receptor types and subtypes depends on the species and the developmental stage. The heart expresses both β and α_1 receptors. α_2 receptors do not appear to be expressed in the heart in many species including human (Xiang and Kobilka 2003; Brodde *et al* 2001). In the human heart α receptors are much less abundant than β receptors (the ratio of β receptors to α receptors is about ten to one) (Hoffman and Lefkowitz 2002). However, the rat heart expresses relatively high levels of α_1 receptors (Michelotti *et al* 2000). All three α_1 subtypes are expressed in rodent cardiac myocytes with α_{1B} being the most abundant (Yang *et al* 1998; Price et al 1994a; Wolff et al 1998). In contrast, the mRNA for α_{1A} (1A-4 and 1A-1) predominates in the human heart (Chang et al 1998; Price et al 1994b). In both rodents and human, α_{1D} is minimally expressed in the heart (Tanoue *et al* 2002; Yang et al 1999, Price et al 1994a). Both β_1 and β_2 receptors are expressed in the rat (Morisco *et al* 2001b) and human heart (Brodde *et al* 2001). In both species, β_1 is more abundant than β_2 in the adult heart (Brodde *et al* 2001; Morisco *et al* 2001b). However, the opposite pattern is seen in the neonatal rat heart (Morisco et al 2001b). The β_3 receptor is also expressed in the human heart (Gauthier *et al* 1996 and 1998).

All adrenergic receptors have similar overall structures which are characterised by seven transmembrane helices linked by three intracellular and three extracellular loops (Strosberg *et al* 1993; Graham *et al* 1996; Yarden *et al* 1986). The N-terminal region, which contains a number of N-linked glycosylation sites, is located at the extracellular side of the plasma membrane while the C-terminal tail is cytosolic. Mutagenesis and chimeric receptor studies have shown that the amino acid sequence at the intracellular loop connecting the 5th and 6th transmembrane regions is important for the interaction of the receptor with G proteins and for the specificity of the receptor - G protein coupling (Wu *et al* 1995; Xiao 2001). The C-terminal tail has a number of important functions. It contains phosphorylation sites for PKA, PKC, and GRK which are involved in the desensitisation of the adrenergic receptors

16

(Garcia-Sainz *et al* 2000). The β_2 receptor can be palmitoylated at a C-terminal cysteine (O'Dowd *et al* 1989). The palmitoylation at this site may regulate the desensitisation by inhibiting PKA phosphorylation of the receptor (Moffett *et al* 1996) or it may be involved in the association of hydrophobic proteins with the receptor (Morris and Malbon 1999). The C-terminal tail of the β receptor also contains a PDZ domain-binding motif (Hall and Lefkowitz 2002). Several PDZ-domain-containing proteins including PSD-95 and MAGI-2 have been shown to associate with the β_1 receptor (Hall and Lefkowitz 2002). The β_2 receptor associates with NHERFP-1 and NHERFP-2 through PDZ domain (Hall and Lefkowitz 2002). However, the role of the PDZ domain-binding motif in cardiac adrenergic signalling is not clear. The C-terminus of the β_2 receptor also interacts with the A-kinase anchoring proteins (Section 1.5.1) such as AKAP220 (gravin) (Fan *et al* 2001) and AKAP79 (Cong *et al* 2001).

1.3 GTP-binding protein (G protein) signalling

Adrenoreceptor stimulation causes the activation of G protein signalling through the following sequence of events.

1) In the absence of agonists, the adrenoreceptors resonate between the basal state (R) and the activated state (R*). Only R* can interact with G protein and activate downstream signalling. This concept of spontaneous activation is supported by the observation that overexpression of some adrenoreceptors (e.g. β_2) (Bond *et al* 1995) can activate downstream pathway in the absence of agonist. However this does not appear to be the universal property seen in all adrenoreceptor subtypes as over-expression of the β_1 receptor does not activate downstream pathway in the absence of the agonist (Zhou *et al* 2000). The agonist preferentially binds to R* and locks the receptor in the activated state, while the antagonist binds to both R and R* with similar affinity and blocks agonist binding. A negative agonist preferentially binds to R and locks the receptor in the inactive state. In addition to this simplified scheme, the existence of multiple R* states, which are coupled to different downstream signalling events have been suggested for α_{1B} (Perez *et al* 1996) and β_2 receptors

(Peleg et al 2001; Ghanouni et al 2001). Adrenergic receptors may also dimerise upon activation (Hebert and Bouvier 1998).

2) The heterotrimeric G proteins are composed of the G_{α} subunit, which is bound to GDP in the basal state, G_{β} , and G_{γ} . G_{β} and G_{γ} are tightly associated. The activated receptor acts as a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) for the heterotrimeric G proteins and stimulates the exchange of GDP bound to G_{α} for GTP. The GTP binding lowers the affinity of G_{α} to $G_{\beta\gamma}$ and the receptor, resulting in the dissociation of the active G_{α} from the complex and the release of $G_{\beta\gamma}$ dimer. Both G_{α} and $G_{\beta\gamma}$ then interact and modulate a number of downstream signalling components.

3) Hydrolysis of GTP by the intrinsic GTPase activity of G_{α} causes re-association of G_{α} with $G_{\beta\gamma}$, terminating G_{α} and $G_{\beta\gamma}$ signalling.

There are four classes of G_{α} (G_s, G_i, G_q, and G_{12/13}) which activate distinct signalling pathways (Morris and Malbon 1999; Eschenhagen 1993). The Gs class includes Gs, which is widely expressed including the heart, and Golf, which is only found in the brain and olfactory epithelium. The G_s class of G proteins activates adenylate cyclase (AC), which catalyses the formation of the second messenger cAMP from $Mg^{2+}ATP$. cAMP activates PKA which mediates many biological effects of adrenergic receptor stimulation. There are nine classes of AC with splice variants (Houslay and Milligan 1997). They are all activated by G_s but they differ in the regulation by other factors such as Ca²⁺, PKC and PKA. The predominant isoforms expressed in the heart are ACV and VI (Espinasse et al 1995). ACV and VI are phosphorylated and inhibited by PKA (Iwami et al 1995; Chen et al 1997). This may serve as a negative feedback mechanism for cAMP and PKA signalling (Bauman et al 2006). PKC has different effects on ACV and ACVI; it inhibits ACVI (Lai et al 1997) but it activates ACV (Kawabe et al 1994). ACV and VI have been reported to be insensitive to Ca²⁺/calmodulin (Tanssig and Gilman 1985; Katsushita et al 1992), although the study by Cooper et al suggests ACV and VI are inhibited by Ca²⁺ (Cooper et al 1994). Apart from activating AC, G_s has been suggested to directly modulate the activity of the L-type Ca²⁺ channel (Section 1.5.3) and Na⁺ channel (Schubert *et al* 1989).

The G_i class includes G_{i-1}, G_{i-2}, G_{i-3}, G_{oA}, G_{oB}, G_{t1}, G_{t2}, and G_z. G_{i-1}, G_{i-2}, and G_{i-3} are widely expressed but the heart does not express G_{i-1} (Jones and Reed 1987). The predominant G_i expressed in the heart is G_{i-2} (Bohm *et al* 1994). G_o and G_t are found in the brain and retina, but a low level of G_o mRNA is also found in the human and rat heart (Eschenhagen *et al* 1993). G_i is inhibitory to ACV/VI (Taussig *et al* 1994; Ran *et al* 2003).

The G_q class includes G_q, G₁₁, G₁₄, G₁₅, and G₁₆. G_q and G₁₁ are ubiquitously expressed. All members of the G_q class activate phospholipase C β (PLC β) (Wu *et al* 1992). There are four isoforms of PLC β (PLC β 1-4). The mRNA for PLC β 1 and 3 are found in the heart (Schnabel *et al* 1996 and 2000). PLC hydrolyses phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphopsphate (PtdIns(4,5)P₂) to generate diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃). IP₃ causes Ca²⁺ release from the SR through the IP₃ receptor (Section 1.5.3). DAG is an activator of conventional and novel PKC isoforms (Section 1.5.7).

The $G_{12/13}$ class is widely expressed, but their function is not well understood. The suggested downstream signalling of these G proteins includes Rho and PYK2 (Kurose 2003).

In addition to differences in their downstream pathways, these four classes of G proteins show differences in their susceptibility to ADP-ribosylation by cholera and pertussis toxins and this property is useful for identifying which class of G protein is involved in a given cellular response. G_s proteins are ADP-ribosylated by cholera toxin (CTX), which inhibits the intrinsic GTPase activity. This causes the constitutive activation of AC and cAMP generation. The members of the G_i family, except for G_z , are irreversibly ADP-ribosylated by pertussis toxin (PTX) which uncouples the G protein from the receptor and inhibits signalling through these G proteins. The members of G_q and $G_{12/13}$ families are insensitive to both CTX and PTX.

In addition to the four classes of G proteins described above, a G protein with an unusually high molecular weight (78 kDa) termed G_h has been isolated from the bovine heart (Baek *et al* 1993). This G protein has been shown to associate with the

 α_1 receptor and PLC and mediate the activation of PLC by α_1 agonists *in vitro* (Das *et al* 1993; Baek *et al* 1993).

Like G_{α} , $G_{\beta\gamma}$ regulates activity of a number of effectors including class IB PI3K (Section 1.5.5), AC isoforms (Taussig and Gilman 1995), and PLC β (Smrcka and Sternweis 1993). The effect of $G_{\beta\gamma}$ on ACV/VI is controversial. Bayewitch *et al* have reported that ACV and VI are inhibited by $G_{\beta\gamma}$ (Bayewitch *et al* 1998), although others found no effect of $G_{\beta\gamma}$ on ACV and VI (Taussig and Gilman 1995). In contrast, Gao *et al* have recently reported that $G_{\beta\gamma}$ enhances activity of ACV and VI in the presence of $G_{\alpha s}$ or forskolin (Gao *et al* 2006). PLC β isoforms, particularly PLC β 2 and 3 are activated by $G_{\beta\gamma}$ (Park *et al* 1993). $G_{\beta\gamma}$ also plays a role in desensitisation by recruiting β ARK to the membrane (Pitcher *et al* 1995).

Both β_1 and β_2 receptors are coupled to G_s and the stimulation of both receptors cause activation of AC and cAMP accumulation (Chesley *et al* 2000; Bartel *et al* 2003). Several lines of evidence suggest that the β_2 receptor is additionally coupled to G_i . Some downstream effects of selective β_2 stimulation, such as activation of PI3K (Chesley *et al* 2000) and PLA₂ (Pavoine *et al* 1999), are PTX sensitive. PTX has also been shown to enhance the stimulation of contraction by the β_2 receptor (Xiao *et al* 1995). Lastly, in mouse cardiac myocytes, association of the β_2 receptor and G_i (G_{i-2} and G_{i-3}) has been demonstrated by photoaffinity labelling and by immunoprecepitation using a G_i specific antibody (Xiao *et al* 1999). Like the β_2 receptor, the β_3 receptor also appears to dually couple to both G_s and G_i (Section 1.4.1).

The α_1 receptors are coupled to multiple G proteins. A transient transfection experiment with COS-7 cells showed that all three α_1 subtypes can couple to G_q and G_{11} to activate PLC β 1 in response to noradrenaline (Wu *et al* 1992). However, the three subtypes showed a difference in the coupling to G_{14} and G_{16} ; α_{1B} coupled to both G_{14} and G_{16} , α_{1A} only coupled to G_{14} , and α_{1D} did not couple to G_{14} or G_{16} (Wu *et al* 1992). The four splice variants of α_{1A} all couple to the PLC-Ca²⁺ pathway (Hirasawa *et al* 1995; Chang *et al* 1998). The heart α_1 receptor may also associate with G_h (Baek *et al* 1993). Some downstream effects of cardiac α_1 stimulation are PTX sensitive (Steinberg *et al* 1985) or blocked by inhibitors of $G_{12/13}$ (Maruyama *et* *al* 2002), indicating G_i and $G_{12/13}$ are also downstream of α_1 receptors. Gallego *et al* observed that stimulation of the cardiac α_1 receptor (α_{1A} and α_{1B}) caused a β receptorindependent (but G_s - and AC-dependent) increase in cAMP and PKA activity (Gallego *et al* 2005). This effect was only seen in intact cells, and the effect was inhibited by disrupting the cytoskeleton by colchicine, indicating compartmentalisation of this effect (Gallego *et al* 2005). It was also demonstrated that phenylephrine increased physical association of G_s with the α_1 receptor (Gallego *et al* 2005).

G protein signalling is regulated by a number of mechanisms. Prolonged stimulation of adrenergic receptors reduces the responsiveness of the receptors to activate downstream signalling pathways by the process termed desensitisation. This process involves phosphorylation of the receptors by PKA, PKC and a group of kinases called the G protein receptor kinases (GRKs) (Benovic et al 1985; Diviani et al 1996 and 1997; Guimond et al 2005; Lattion et al 1994). Phosphorylation of adrenergic receptors by PKA, PKC, and GRKs inhibits interaction of the receptors with G proteins and inhibits stimulation of G protein signalling (Benovic et al 1985; Diviani et al 1996, Guimond et al 2005). The phosphorylation by GRKs causes agonistspecific (homologous) desensitisation, while PKA and PKC phosphorylations cause non-agonist specific (heterologous) desensitisation (Lattion et al 1994). Several isoforms of GRK are expressed in the rat heart including GRK2 (also known as β adrenergic receptor kinase (BARK)), 3, 5, and 6 (Inglese et al 1993). Studies with mice over-expressing different GRKs suggested that distinct GRKs may be involved in desensitisation of the different adrenoreceptor subtypes in vivo. The α_{1B} receptor appears to be phosphorylated mainly by GRK3 in vivo (Eckhart et al 2000). However, the over-expression of GRK3 did not affect β signalling (Eckhart *et al* 2000), which was attenuated by over-expression of GRK5 (Rockman et al 1996). In addition to inhibiting G protein coupling, the phosphorylation of the receptors by GRKs and possibly PKC (Fonseca et al 1995) also leads to the internalisation of the receptors by recruiting β -arrestin, which binds a number of proteins involved in endocytosis including clathrin, clathrin adaptor AP-2, NSF, and ARF6 (Laporte et al 1999 and 2000; McDonald et al 1999; Claing et al 2001).

Another key regulatory step in G protein signalling is the hydrolysis of GTP bound to the active G_{α} by the intrinsic GTPase activity of G_{α} . This process is accelerated by the GTPase activator proteins (GAPs) which, by doing so, negatively regulate G protein signalling. PLC β appears to act as a GAP for G_q (Berstein *et al* 1992). A class of GAPs called the regulators of G-protein signalling (RGS) are a family of proteins that share a conserved RGS domain that can accelerate the GTPase activity of G_{α} (Wieland and Mittmann 2003). In the mammalian heart, at least 13 members of the RGS protein family are expressed including the most-well studied RGS4 (Wieland and Mittmann 2003). The majority of RGS proteins identified to date, including RGS4, enhance the GTPase activity of Gi/o and Gq/11 and inhibit signalling downstream of these G proteins (Wieland and Mittmann 2003). Some RGS proteins including RGS3, which is expressed in the heart, also inhibit signalling mediated by $G_{\beta\gamma}$ by binding and sequestering these subunits (Shi *et al* 2001). GRK2 contains a domain similar to the RGS domain which binds $G_{q/11}$ and it seems to regulate G_q signalling by sequestering the activated G_q (Kozasa 2001). RGS-PX1 is another protein containing a RGS-like domain. This protein acts as a GAP for G_s and inhibits isoproterenol-induced AC activation in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes (Zheng et al 2001). Another RGS-like domain-containing protein p115-Rho-GEF is a specific GAP for G_{12} and G_{13} (Kozasa *et al* 2001).

G protein signalling may also be regulated by direct post-translational modifications of the G proteins. The palmitoylation of G_{α} has been shown to protect G_z and G_{i-1} from GAP activity and RGS4, respectively (Tu *et al* 1997). The phosphorylation of G_{i-2} by PKC may block the effect of G_{i-2} to inhibit AC (Bushfield *et al* 1990; Strassheim and Malbon 1994). $G_{q/11}$ has been reported to be tyrosine phosphorylated by an unidentified tyrosine kinase upon receptor activation and this phosphorylation promotes the interaction of $G_{q/11}$ with the receptor (Umemori *et al* 1997).

1.4. An overview of cardiac adrenergic signalling

This section briefly outlines signalling pathways involved in the different biological effects of cardiac adrenergic receptor stimulation.

1.4.1 Contraction

The adrenergic stimulation of contractile function is predominantly regulated by the β_1 receptor through an increase in cAMP and activation of PKA, which phosphorylates key proteins involved in Ca²⁺ homeostasis and contraction including the L-type Ca²⁺ channel, the ryanodine receptor, phospholamban (PLB), and troponin I and C proteins. Phosphorylation of the L-type Ca^{2+} channel increases Ca^{2+} influx across the sarcolemma which triggers Ca^{2+} -induced Ca^{2+} release from the SR through the ryanodine receptor, leading to an increase in the cytosolic Ca²⁺ and contractile amplitude. PKA may also contribute to this process by increasing the open probability of the ryanodine receptor (Bers 2002). The lusitropic effect is due to a PKA phosphorylation of PLB (at PKA site, Ser16) and troponin I which accelerates Ca^{2+} sequestration into the SR and reduces the sensitivity of the myofilament for Ca^{2+} , respectively. Some of these PKA targets are also phosphorylated by CAMKII. CAMKII has been shown to increase the Ca^{2+} current through the L-type Ca^{2+} channel and the relaxation rate through the phosphorylation of PLB at the CAMKII site, Thr17 (Wang et al 2004). While the cAMP level declines quickly after adrenergic stimulation, CAMKII activity is sustained for longer (Wang et al 2004). Thus, CAMKII has been suggested to be the primary regulator of excitationcontraction coupling during prolonged β_1 stimulation (Wang *et al* 2004).

Stimulation of the β_2 receptor also causes an increase in cAMP through the activation of G_s. However, unlike stimulation of the β_1 receptor, which causes a global increase in cAMP and leads to PKA phosphorylation of membrane targets (e.g. Ca²⁺ channel) as well as intracellular targets (e.g. PLB), stimulation of the β_2 receptor in adult rat cardiac myocytes has been shown to cause a compartmentalised increase in cAMP which increases PKA phosphorylation of the L-type Ca²⁺ channel without affecting PLB phosphorylation (Jo *et al* 2000). Consistent with the lack of phosphorylation of PLB, the β_2 receptor stimulation increased the Ca²⁺ transient and contraction amplitude without increasing the relaxation rate in these myocytes (Jo *et al* 2002). The exact mechanism responsible for the compartmentalisation of the β_2 cAMP signalling is unknown, but the activation of G_i and PI3K, which is downstream of G_i, are essential for this effect (Jo *et al* 2000). Both the β_2 receptor and G_i are primarily found in calveoli (Rybin *et al* 2000), suggesting the cAMP accumulation by the β_2 receptor is confined to the calveoli. However this compartmentalised cAMP signalling apparently does not exist in human cardiac myocytes which showed phosphorylation of PLB by PKA after β_2 stimulation (Kaumann *et al* 1996). In contrast to rat and human cardiac myocytes, stimulation of the mouse β_2 receptor does not cause an inotropic response despite a dual coupling of the β_2 receptor with G_s and G_i (Xiao *et al* 1999). Thus, in mouse cardiac myocytes, a β_2 -mediated increase in cAMP appears to be completely negated by simultaneous activation of G_i.

The signalling of the cardiac β_3 receptor and its role in contractile activity and other processes are not well-understood. However several studies have demonstrated that selective stimulation of the cardiac β_3 receptor causes a small decrease in contractility (Devic *et al* 2001; Gauthier *et al* 1996 and 1998). This effect is attributed to the G_i-dependent activation of nitric oxide synthase (Gauthier *et al* 1996). The β_3 receptor also appears to be coupled to the G_s-cAMP pathway because selective stimulation of the β_3 receptor in the presence of PTX increased contractility, although this effect would be masked by the inhibitory effect through G_i during the normal stimulation of the receptor (Devic *et al* 2001). The β_3 regulation of contraction may play a role in the deterioration of heart contractile activity during chronic adrenergic stimulation because, unlike β_1 and β_2 receptors, the β_3 receptor lacks the recognition motif for β ARK and PKA which is involved in desensitisation (Strosberg *et al* 1993).

In addition to β_1 receptors, α_1 receptors also contribute to contractile activity by increasing Ca²⁺ and activating PKC, which has been implicated in the regulation of Ca²⁺ homeostasis (Kamp *et al* 2000), in modulation of properties of the contractile proteins (Takeishi *et al* 1998), and in ionic balance (Gambassi *et al* 1998 and 1992). However, α_1 receptors are generally considered to play a minor role in the stimulation of contractile activity. The effect of α_1 receptors on contractile function also appears to depend on the species and the developmental stage (Tanoue *et al* 2003).

1.4.2 Fuel catabolism

Adrenergic receptor stimulation increases fuel catabolism via both α_1 and β receptors. Key regulators of this process are PKA and Ca²⁺. PKA phosphorylates and activates key enzymes in catabolism including phosphorylase kinase (Haves and Mayer 1981), phosphofructokinase 2 (PFK2) (Depre et al 1998) and TAG lipase (Small et al 1989). PKA has also been shown to phosphorylate and inactivate the cardiac isoform of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) (ACC2/ACC280) in vitro (Boone et al 1999). ACC2 plays an important role in the regulation of the β -oxidation of long chain fatty acids in muscles by synthesising malonyl-CoA, a metabolite which inhibits the translocation of long chain fatty acids into the mitochondria for β oxidation by allosterically inhibiting carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (Kerner and Hoppel 2000). A decrease in malonyl-CoA has been observed during adrenergic stimulation, consistent with a stimulation of fatty acid oxidation (Goodwin and Taegtmeyer 1999). However, whether ACC2 is inactivated by PKA in vivo is not clear. Although Boone et al observed phosphorylation of ACC2 in cardiac myocytes in response to isoproterenol, partially purified ACC from isoproterenol-treated cells did not show a change in catalytic activity (Boone et al 1999). Goodwin and Taegtmeyer also did not observe any change in ACC activity despite a decrease in malonyl-CoA during adrenergic stimulation in the perfused heart (Goodwin and Taegtmeyer 1999). These investigators attributed the decrease in malonyl CoA to the activation of malonyl-CoA decarboxylase (MCD) (Goodwin and Taegtmeyer 1999). However, how MCD is activated during adrenergic stimulation was not investigated in this study. The increase in Ca^{2+} which occurs after β receptor or α_1 receptor stimulation activates a number of metabolic enzymes including phosphorylase kinase, pyruvate dehydrogenase (through pyruvate dehydrogenase phosphatase), NAD^+ -isocitrate dehydrogenase, and 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase (Werth *et al* 1982; McCormack and Denton 1979; Denton et al 1978; McCormack and England 1983; Denton et al 1996). The α_1 receptor has been reported to activate PFK in perfused hearts by Ca²⁺-dependent process, although PFK was not directly activated by Ca^{2+} (Patten *et al* 1982). The α_1 receptor may also contribute to the activation of mitochondrial enzymes by activating the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter (Kesser and Crompton 1981). The mechanism of the adrenergic stimulation of glucose uptake is

not completely understood. Both α_1 and β receptors are likely to be involved in the stimulation of Glut4 translocation and glucose uptake (Rattigan *et al* 1986; Fischer *et al* 1996a and 1996b; Clark and Patten 1984). The proposed downstream pathways for both receptors include Ca²⁺ (Clark and Patten 1984; Rattigan *et al* 1986) and PI3K/PKB (Doenst and Taegtmeyer 1999; Morisco *et al* 2005). PKC has also been implicated in the stimulation of glucose and fatty acid uptake in the heart (Luiken *et al* 2004).

1.4.3 Hypertrophy

The role of the α_1 receptor and G_q signalling in the development of hypertrophy is well-documented (reviewed by Dorn II and Brown 1999). Although the signalling pathways downstream of G_q are complex and incompletely understood, PKC and MAPKs (ERK, p38, and JNK) have been identified as key regulators of G_a-mediated hypertrophy (Dorn II and Force 2005; Michel et al 2001; Steinberg 2002). MAPKs regulate a wide range of transcription factors (Michel et al 2001). PKC regulates activities of transcription factors such NFATc3 (through inhibition of GSK3) (Dorn II and Force 2005), class II histone deacetylase (Vega et al 2004), and MAPKs (Section 1.5.9). There has been interest in the identification of the α_1 receptor subtypes responsible for hypertrophic growth. Although α_{1A} , α_{1B} , and α_{1D} , all couple to G_q, a number of studies suggest that the signalling by these subtypes are distinct. Transfection experiments using PC12 cells showed the three subtypes display differences in the efficiency of inositol phosphate production and Ca^{2+} release, with efficacy in the order; $\alpha_{1A} > \alpha_{1B} > \alpha_{1D}$ (Zhong and Minneman 1999). In the same experiments, the three subtypes also showed differences in the coupling to MAPKs. While ERK, JNK, and P38 were all activated by α_{1A} , α_{1B} only activated ERK and P38 (Zhong and Minneman 1999). The α_{1D} receptor did not cause significant activation of MAPKs (Zhong and Minneman 1999). In the rat heart, phospholipase D (PLD), the enzyme though to be important for the sustained activity of PKC (Section 1.5.7), was activated by α_{1A} and α_{1D} receptors, but not by α_{1B} (Mier *et al* 2002). The three subtypes also show distinct subcellular localisations; α_{1A} is localised at both the plasma and intracellular membranes; α_{1B} is localised primarily at the plasma membrane; and α_{1D} is confined to intracellular membranes (Plascik and Perez 2001).

26

Of the three subtypes, α_{1D} is generally not thought to play a major role in cardiac adrenergic signalling due to its low abundance and poor coupling to downstream signalling pathways. In neonatal cardiac myocytes, the selective activation of α_{1A} has been shown to be sufficient to cause hypertrophy (Autelitano and Woodcock 1998). There is a controversy over the relative importance of the α_{1B} receptor in hypertrophy. Transgenic mice over-expressing constitutively active α_{1B} developed cardiac hypertrophy (Milano *et al* 1994b), but over-expression of the wild type α_{1B} was found to be insufficient to cause hypertrophy (Akhter *et al* 1997). Moreover, in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes, the phenylephrine-induced increase in protein synthesis was inhibited by an α_{1A} antagonist but it was potentiated by α_{1B} antagonists, suggesting that α_{1B} signalling may inhibit hypertrophic signalling by the α_{1A} receptor (Deng *et al* 1998).

In addition to the α_1 receptors, stimulation of the β receptors by the general β agonist isoproterenol has also been demonstrated to cause hypertrophy *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Stein *et al* 1996; Morisco *et al* 2001b). This effect seems to be mediated primarily *via* the β_1 receptor as the stimulation of hypertrophy by isoproterenol was unaffected by β_2 antagonists and over-expression of the β_2 receptor did not cause hypertrophy in mice (Morisco *et al* 2001b; Milano *et al* 1994; Liggett *et al* 2000). The β_1 and α_1 receptors appear to promote hypertrophy *via* distinct pathways. The β_1 effect is primarily mediated by the Ca²⁺-activated phosphatase calcineurin (PP2B), which increases nuclear translocation of NFAT, by CAMKII, which regulates MEF2 through class II histone deacetylase, and by PKB, which regulates transcription factors such as GATA4 and NFAT3 (Morisco *et al* 2000; Morisco *et al* 2001a; Sucharov *et al* 2006). PKB is also an activator of mTOR signalling and protein translation (Proud 2004).

1.4.4 Apoptosis

The stimulation of apoptosis by prolonged adrenergic stimulation appears to be mediated mainly by the β_1 receptor (Zhu *et al* 2003). The pathways linking the β_1 receptor to apoptosis is not well-understood. The involvement of PKA has been demonstrated by some investigators (Iwai-Kanai et al 1999), but this is disputed by

Zhu *et al* who showed that β_1 receptor-mediated apoptosis was insensitive to specific PKA inhibitors but was blocked by chelating Ca^{2+} or by inhibiting CAMKII (Zhu et al 2003). The involvement of calcineurin in β receptor-mediated apoptosis has also been reported (Saito *et al* 2000). Stimulation of the β_2 receptor has been reported to protect cardiac myocytes from apoptosis caused by the β_1 stimulation or H₂O₂ (Chesley *et al* 2000; Zhu *et al* 2001). The anti-apoptotic effect of the β_2 receptor was attributed to the β_2 specific activation of G_i/PI3K/PKB pathway (Chesley *et al* 2000; Zhu et al 2001). However a later study showed that PI3K was activated as effectively by the β_1 receptor (Leblais et al 2004), suggesting that some other factors are involved in this effect or that different isoforms of PI3K are activated by the β_1 and β_2 receptors. Although over-expression of G_q in the heart causes apoptosis in mice (Adams et al 1998), in isolated myocytes the α_1 receptor has been reported to have either no effect on apoptosis (Communal et al 1998) or even to have an antiapoptotic effect (Iwai-Kanai et al 1999). Although MAPKs are known as regulators of apoptosis, the precise roles of MAPKs in the adrenergic regulation of apoptosis in cardiac myocytes are not well-understood (Bishopric et al; Krishna Singh et al 2001). However, the observations that the anti-apoptotic effect of the α_1 receptor was blocked by ERK inhibition (Iwai-Kanai et al 1999) and that β receptor-mediated apoptosis was potentiated by p38 inhibition (Communal et al 2000) have suggested anti-apoptotic roles of ERK and p38 in cardiac myocytes.

1.5 Signalling components

1.5.1 Protein kinase A (PKA)

At the unstimulated level of cAMP, PKA exists as a holoenzyme consisting of two catalytic (C) and two regulatory (R) subunits. The C subunit is a 40 kDa Ser/Thr kinase that transfers γ phosphate of ATP to substrates containing -RRXSX-consensus sequence. Three isoforms of the C subunit encoded by different genes have been characterised; Ca, C β , and C γ (Francis and Corbin 1994). Ca and C β show a high sequence similarity and are ubiquitously expressed while C γ shows less similarity and is only expressed in the testis (Francis and Corbin 1994). In the holoenzyme, the C subunits are inactivated by interaction with the autoinhibitory

region of R subunits. Each of the R subunits has two cAMP binding sites, and the binding of cAMP to these sites decreases the affinity of the R subunit for the C subunit, releasing the free R subunits and the active C subunits. Four isoforms of the R subunit have been identified and they are divided into two types; RI (43 KDa) and RII (25 kDa) (Francis and Corbin 1994). RIa and RIIa are the predominant isoforms and are ubiquitously expressed, while RIB and RIB are expressed in the central nervous system and reproductive tissue (Francis and Corbin 1994). The R subunits form homodimers through the amino terminal dimerisation domain. An important difference between RI and RII is that RI is predominantly found in cytosol whereas RII is associated with the membrane (Scott 1991). This difference in the subcellular localisation is attributed to the preferential interaction of RII with the A-kinase anchoring proteins (AKAPs). Apart from regulation by the R subunits and cAMP, PKA activity is known to be regulated by several other factors including the nuclear protein kinase inhibitors (PKIs) α , β , and γ , which bind to PKA and inhibit its activity (Koppernd et al 2003). PKIs also assist nuclear export of the C subunit (Koppernd *et al* 2003). The C subunit can be inactivated by glutathionylation of Cys 199 which may occur during oxidative stress (Humphries et al 2002). .

AKAPs play a key role in PKA signalling by giving specificity to the very broad action of PKA (Ruchr et al 2004). PKA is tethered to discrete subcellular locations, usually its targets, by interaction with different AKAPs containing unique subcellular targeting domains (Ruchr et al 2004). For example, AKAP15/18, Yotiao, and AKAP79/150 tether PKA to L-type Ca^{2+} channel, potassium channel KCNQ11k, and ACV/VI, respectively (Marx et al 2002; Fraser et al 1998; Gray et al 1997; Bauman et al 2006). Most AKAPs bind the RII homodimer by interaction of the amphipathic helix with the amino terminal domain of RII (Dodge Kafka et al 2006). As well as anchoring PKA to its targets, AKAPs also act as signalling processing units by binding other signalling enzymes such as phosphodiesterases (PDEs) and phosphatases. Localised clustering of PDEs and PKA allows differential control of PKA activity in different subcellular locations. Similarly, clustering of phosphatases and PKA targets by AKAP allows localised control of the duration of the effect initiated by PKA. The activity of PDEs or phosphatases in a given AKAP complex may be regulated by AKAP, PKA or some other proteins present in the complex. For example, AKAP220, which binds PKA and PP1, is a competitive inhibitor for PP1

29

(Schillace *et al* 2001). Muscle-selective AKAP (mAKAP), which is found at the nuclear envelope and SR of cardiac myocytes forms a complex with a number of proteins including PKA, ryanodine receptor, PDE4D3, PP1, PP2A, PP2B, nesprin- 1α , Epac, MEK5 and ERK5 (Kapiloff *et al* 2001; Marx *et al* 2000; Dodge *et al* 2001; Dodge Kafka *et al* 2005). PDE4D3 is phosphorylated at two sites by PKA, resulting in increased activity and increased binding affinity for mAKAP (Sette *et al* 1996; Carlisle Michel *et al* 2004). PDE4D3 is also under control of ERK5 which phosphorylates and inhibits it (Dodge Kafka *et al* 2005). In addition to providing a scaffold for assembly of the PKA signalling complex, some AKAPs also play a more direct signalling role. For example, AKAP-lymphoblastoma crisis (Lbc), which binds PKA and G α_{12} , is a Rho selective guanine nucleotide exchange factor (Diviani *et al* 2001).

1.5.2 Exchange Protein Directly Activated by cAMP (Epac)

Epac is a relatively recently discovered downstream effector of cAMP (de Rooji *et al* 1998). It is the broadly expressed cAMP-sensitive guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rap1 and Rap2, which are small Ras-like GTPases (Kitayama *et al* 1989). The sequence of the putative cAMP binding site of Epac is similar to the cAMP binding site of the regulatory subunits of PKA (de Rooji *et al* 1998). The binding of cAMP relieves the inhibition of the guanine nucleotide exchange factor activity by the cAMP-binding domain. (de Rooji *et al* 1998). The downstream effects of cAMP mediated by Epac can be discriminated from PKA-mediated effects by the use of cAMP analogues which selectively activate Epac (Koppernd *et al* 2003). The role of Epac in the heart is still not well-understood. A recent study suggested Epac may activate Ca²⁺ and Rho signalling in neonatal cardiac myocytes (Morel *et al* 2005).

1.5.3 Ca²⁺

 Ca^{2+} is a common signalling component for both α_1 and β receptor signalling. In the beating heart or electrically paced cardiac myocytes, the β receptor-mediated increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} is attributable to phosphorylation of the L-type Ca^{2+} channel at the sarcolemma by PKA, which increases the mean channel open time

and/or opening probability (van der Heyden *et al* 2005). The L-type Ca²⁺ channel has also been reported to be activated directly by $G_{\alpha S}$ (Lader *et al* 1998; Hamilton *et al* 1991; Imoto *et al* 1988). Because the opening of the L-type Ca²⁺ channel is regulated by the action potential, β receptor stimulation in quiescent cardiac myocytes does not cause a rapid increase in intracellular Ca²⁺, as seen for the contracting heart or for contracting myocytes (Saini *et al* 2006). However, it appears that the β receptor stimulation still causes a slow accumulation of Ca²⁺ through the L-type Ca²⁺ channel even in the absence of the action potential, since prolonged β_1 stimulation increased Ca²⁺ in quiescent cardiac myocytes and this effect was inhibited by nifedipine (Zhu *et al* 2003). The α_1 receptor-mediated increase in Ca²⁺ is due to production of IP₃ which releases Ca²⁺ from the SR through the IP₃ receptor. α_1 stimulation has also been reported to increase Ca²⁺ influx through the L-type Ca²⁺ channel, but this effect is controversial (Liu *et al* 1994; Gaughan *et al* 1998).

1.5.4 Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CAMKII)

Of the three CAMK types (CAMKI, II, and IV), which are all activated by Ca²⁺/calmodulin, CAMKII is most abundant in the heart and most well-studied (Colomer et al 2003). The heart also expresses CAMKI but its function is unclear. CAMKIV is only present in low abundance (Colomer et al 2003). CAMKII is a homo or heteromultimer of 8-12 CAMKII monomers bound to each other by the Cterminal domain (Anderson 2005). The binding of $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$ to the N-terminal regulatory region releases the inhibition of the catalytic activity by the pseudosubstrate sequence. Once a CAMKII monomer is activated it phosphorylates adjacent monomers in the holoenzyme at Thr287 (Anderson 2005). This autophosphorylation has two effects; it increases the affinity of the monomer for Ca²⁺/calmodulin, and it also makes CAMKII active even in the absence of bound Ca^{2+} /clamodulin after the return of the cellular Ca^{2+} to the basal level (Anderson 2005). There are four isoforms of CAMKII encoded by separate genes; α , β , γ , and δ , with splice variants for each isoform (Mayer et al 1995). In the heart the predominant CAMKII isoform is CAMK δ , which is further divided into two splice variants, δC (δ 2) and δ B (δ 3) (Edman and Shulman 1994). CAMK δ B, which is the predominant isoform, is found in the nucleus whereas CAMKSC is cytosolic (Edman and

Shulman 1994; Zhu *et al* 2003). CAMK δ B and CAMK δ C appear to have distinct roles; CAMK δ C is implicated in the regulation of contraction and apoptosis while δ B is implicated in hypertrophy (Zhang *et al* 2002; Maier *et al* 2003; Zhu *et al* 2003).

 β_1 receptor stimulation has been reported to activate CAMKII *via* a PKAindependent activation of the L-type Ca²⁺ channel in adult rat cardiac myocytes (Zhu *et al* 2003; Wang *et al* 2004). In the perfused heart only β_1 receptor stimulation and not β_2 stimulation caused phosphorylation of PLB at Thr17 (CAMKII site), suggesting CAMKII is not a downstream target of the β_2 receptor (Bartel *et al* 2003). CAMKII has also been shown to be activated by α_1 stimulation in cardiac myocytes (O-Uchi *et al* 2005; Wang *et al* 2001a). In adult rat cardiac myocytes, the phenylephrine-induced activation of CAMKII was inhibited by a PKC inhibitor (O-Uchi *et al* 2005). The role of PKC in the activation of CAMKII is unknown. In the same study, CAMKII was also shown to translocate from the plasmalemma to transverse tubules (O-Uchi *et al* 2005). The authors suggested that like PKC, the translocation may be important for the regulation of CAMKII activity .

1.5.5 Phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)

PI3Ks are lipid kinases that phosphorylate the inositol ring of phosphatidylinositol (PtdIns) and various phosphatidylinositol phosphates at the 3 position. PI3Ks are grouped into three classes; classes I, II, and III. *In vivo*, class I PI3Ks predominantly phosphorylate PtdIns(4,5)P₂ to generate PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃, whereas class II and III mainly phosphorylate PtdIns to generate PtdIns(3)P (Oudit *et al* 2004). The class I PI3Ks are heterodimeric enzymes consisting of catalytic and regulatory adaptor subunits, and they are further divided into class IA and IB. There are three isoforms for class IA catalytic subunits; p110α, p110β, and p110δ, and three isoforms for the adaptor subunit; p85α, p85β, and p55γ. The class IB PI3K (PI3Kγ) is composed of the catalytic subunit p110γ tightly bound to the regulatory subunit p101. The adaptor subunits for the class IA PI3Ks contain a SH2 domain as well as a p110 binding domain, and they recruit the catalytic subunit to the plasma membrane upon tyrosine phosphorylation following, for example, receptor tyrosine kinase activation by insulin. In contrast, the regulatory subunit of PI3Kγ lacks the SH2 domain. Instead,

both the catalytic and regulatory subunits of PI3K γ contain the binding sites for G_{$\beta\gamma$} (Wymann *et al* 2003). PI3K γ is recruited and activated by G_{$\beta\gamma$} following activation of GPCRs (Stephens *et al* 1997; Alloatti *et al* 2004; Naga Prasad *et al* 2000). Both class IA PI3Ks and PI3K γ catalytic subunits also contain the C2 domain involved in phospholipid binding, the PIK domain involved in protein-protein interaction, and the Ras-binding domain. Ras-GTP binding enhances the catalytic activity of both class IA PI3K and PI3K γ (Wymann *et al* 2003).

The class IA PI3K α and PI3K β enzymes are expressed in cardiac myocytes (Crackower 2002). The physiological importance of PI3K γ in cardiac myocytes is questioned by some investigators because it is only weakly expressed (Alloati *et al* 2004). However deletion of PI3K γ causes significant differences in the cardiac phenotype including altered contractile function in response to catecholamines and the loss of downstream effects of some GPCRs, suggesting the physiological importance of this protein (Alloatti *et al* 2004). The signalling and physiological function of class IA PI3Ks and PI3K γ appear to be distinct. While class IA PI3Ks seem to be involved in adaptive hypertrophy without cardiac dysfunction, PI3K γ is associated with pathological hypertrophy (Shioi *et al* 2000; Naga Prassad *et al* 2003). Moreover, only PI3K γ appears to be involved in the regulation of contraction (Alloatti *et al* 2004).

Several studies have reported the activation of PI3K after β_2 receptor stimulation in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes or in adult rat or mouse cardiac myocytes (Chesley *et al* 2000; Jo *et al* 2002; Zhu *et al* 2001). The stimulation of the β_1 receptor has also been reported to activate PI3K in adult rat cardiac myocytes (Leblais *et al* 2004). However, the isoforms of PI3K activated in these studies were not determined, and the pathways by which β receptors activate PI3K are not completely understood. Figure 1.1 summarises the putative pathways by which the β receptor activates PI3K in cardiac myocytes. For the β_2 receptor, the observations that the activation of PI3K or its downstream effects were inhibited by PTX or β ARK-ct peptide (an inhibitor of $G_{\beta\gamma}$ signalling) suggest the activation of PI3K γ through G_i and $G_{\beta\gamma}$ (Chesley *et al* 2000; Jo *et al* 2002). In contrast, the downstream effects of PI3K activation by the β_1 receptor were unaffected by PTX, although they were inhibited by β ARK-ct (Leblais *et al* 2004). The lack of involvement of G_i is consistent with the exclusive coupling


Figure 1.1 Putative signalling pathways linking the β adrenergic receptor to PI3K and PKB

Dotted lines indicate pathways which have been suggested in cardiac mycocytes but have not been completely elucidated, or pathways which have been observed in non-cardiac myocytes but yet to be confirmed in cardiac myocytes.

of the β_1 receptor with Gs. It is possible that the β_1 -mediated activation of PI3K is due to activation of PI3K γ by $G_{\beta\gamma}$ derived from G_s . However, the involvement of $G_{\beta\gamma}$ does not necessarily prove the selective activation of PI3K γ . As well as being the direct activator of PI3K γ , $G_{\beta\gamma}$ has also been reported to be upstream of non-receptor tyrosine kinases such as Src family tyrosine kinases, and an increase in tyrosine kinase activity after β receptor stimulation has been demonstrated in cardiac myocytes (Zou *et al* 1999). Thus, the possibility of activation of the class IA PI3Ks by β receptors through a $G_{\beta\gamma}$ -mediated increase in tyrosine phosphorylation cannot be ruled out (Morisco *et al* 2000).

In adult cardiac myocytes, forskolin has also been shown to activate PI3K (Leblais *et al* 2004), suggesting cAMP signalling may also contribute to the PI3K activation by β receptors. The activation of PI3K by forskolin has been indirectly shown to be inhibited by β ARK-ct, suggesting the involvement of G_{$\beta\gamma$}. How cAMP signalling affects G_{$\beta\gamma$} signalling and activates PI3K is not clear, but it may be related to the effect of PKA to phosphorylate the β_2 receptor and increase the coupling of the β_2 receptor to G_i (Section 1.5.9). It has been shown in HEK293 cells that the expression of Epac activates PI3K *via* Rap1 (Mei *et al* 2002). Whether PI3K is activated by cAMP through Epac in cardiac myocytes is unknown.

Till *et al* have reported the possibility of contraction-dependent activation of PI3K in cardiac myocytes (Till *et al* 2000). These investigators observed that electrical contraction of adult rat cardiac myocytes increased the PI3K activity present in the cell lysate (Till *et al* 2000). This activation of PI3K was not associated with the tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor and insulin receptor substrates (IRS) 1/2 or the recruitment of PI3K to IRS1/2 (Till *et al* 2000). However, they observed increased association of p85 α with unidentified protein which is tyrosine-phosphorylated following the myocyte contraction (Till *et al* 2000). This contraction-mediated activation of PI3K may be relevant to the adrenergic regulation of PI3K activity in the beating heart/myocytes or in the *in vivo* heart.

Compared to the β receptor, the information regarding activation of PI3K by α_1 receptor stimulation in the heart is limited. Doenst and Taegtmeyer reported that the effects of the α_1 receptor and insulin to increase glucose uptake in the perfused heart

were additive but both effects were inhibited by wortmannin (Doenst and Taegtmeyer 1999). This suggests that the cardiac α_1 receptor activates a PI3K isoform, possibly PI3K γ , which is different from those activated by insulin.

1.5.6 Protein kinase B (PKB) / Akt

The activation of PKB by PI3K involves the recruitment of PKB to the plasma membrane through the interaction of $PtdIns(3,4,5)P_3$ with the PH domain, and phosphorylation by the phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1), which is also recruited to the membrane by the PH domain. PDK1 phosphorylates PKB at Thr308 in the catalytic domain (Mora et al 2004). PtdIns (3,4,5)P₃ is thought to promote the phosphorylation of PKB by PDK1 by causing a conformational change of PKB which exposes Thr308 and by bringing constitutively active PDK1 to the proximity of PKB (Alessi et al 1997 and 1998; Stokoe et al 1997; Anderson et al 1998). PKB is additionally phosphorylated at Ser473 in the C-terminal hydrophobic region ('the PDK2 site'). The identity of the kinase(s) that phosphorylate(s) Ser478 is the subject of intense investigation (Dong and Liu 2005). Several candidate kinases, including mTOR/rictor complex, have been reported (Dong and Liu 2005). The Thr308 phosphorylation is essential for PKB activity. The role of Ser473 is less clear but it may stabilise the active configuration and/or it may assist the phosphorylation of Thr308 by PDK1 (Dong and Liu 2005). However, Thr308 phosphorylation has been seen in the absence of Ser473 (Morisco et al 2005).

In neonatal and adult rat cardiac myocytes, isoproterenol or β_2 receptor stimulation has been shown to increase PKB activity (as measured by GSK3 α phosphorylation) and/or phosphorylation of Ser478 (Morisco *et al* 2000; Zhu *et al* 2001). It has been reported that phenylephrine does not affect Ser478 phosphorylation of PKB in adult rat cardiac myocytes, suggesting PKB may not be downstream of the α_1 receptor (Wang *et al* 2001b). This apparently contradicts the activation of PI3K by the α_1 receptor (Section 1.5.5). However, the lack of PKB phosphorylation under conditions that increase PI3K activity has been reported by several other studies (Till *et al* 2000; Zou *et al* 2002 and 2003) and it may be due to compartmentation of PI3K signalling. The activation of PKB by the β receptor is sensitive to inhibitors of PI3K (Morisco *et* al 2000; Zhu et al 2001). However, several observations suggest that PKB may also be activated by PI3K-independent pathways (Figure 1.1). It has been shown in 293 cells that cAMP-raising agents activate PKB by a PKA-dependent but PI3Kindependent pathway (Fillippa et al 1999). The activation of PKB by cAMP-raising agents was associated with increased phosphorylation of Thr308 but it was seen in the absence of Ser473 phosphorylation (Fillippa et al 1999). This is in contrast to the activation of PKB by insulin, which required phosphorylation of both Thr308 and Ser473 (Fillippa et al 1999). It appears that the increase in Thr308 phosphorylation by cAMP-raising treatments is not due to direct phosphorylation of PKB by PKA (Fillippa et al 1999). The possibility that PKB is also activated by the PKA pathway in cardiac myocytes is supported by the recent study by Morisco et al (Morisco et al 2005). These investigators showed that isoproterenol caused phosphorylation of PKB at Thr308 and Ser473 with different time-courses; the phosphorylation of Thr308 could be detected within 1 minute of stimulation and it returned to the basal level after 60 minutes, whereas the phosphorylation of Ser473 increased after 10 minutes and was sustained for 2 hours (Morisco et al 2005). They showed that the early phosphorylation of Thr308 (10 minutes), but not the later phosphorylation of Ser473 (60 minutes), was insensitive to wortmannin (Morisco et al 2005). The phosphorylation of Thr308 was blocked by H89, nifidepine, or KN93, suggesting the possibility that PKA regulates PKB phosphorylation through activation of the L-type Ca²⁺ channel and CAMKII (Morisco et al 2005). How Ca²⁺/CAMKII might be linked to PKB is not clear.

1.5.7 Protein kinase C (PKC)

There are at least ten different isoforms of PKC, which are grouped into conventional (cPKC) (α , β I, β II, γ), novel (nPKC) (δ , ε , η , θ), and atypical (aPKC) (ζ , λ) PKCs. All PKC isoforms share conserved C-terminal catalytic domains termed C3 and C4 but display differences in the N-terminal regulatory domain. The regulatory domain of the cPKCs contains two tandem repeats of a cysteine-rich zinc finger-like motif termed C1 which binds DAG, and the region termed C2 which binds membrane phospholipids in a Ca²⁺ dependent manner. Both Ca²⁺ and DAG are required for the activation of the cPKCs for Ca²⁺

(Nishizuka 1984). The nPKCs also contain the C1 region but they lack the C2 region. These isoforms require DAG for activation but are insensitive to Ca²⁺. Both cPKCs and nPKCs are also activated by phorbol esters, which are DAG analogues. The aPKCs, which lack the C2 region and contain only one cysteine-rich zinc finger-like motif, are insensitive to DAG or Ca²⁺. All PKC isoforms, however, require phosphatidylserine (PS) for activity. The activation of PKC isoforms is associated with translocation from the cytosolic to a particulate subcellular fraction. For the cPKCs and nPKCs, the translocation to the membrane and the interaction with DAG and PS provides the energy to release the inhibitory pseudosubstrate from the active site. Differential centrifugation followed by detection with PKC isoform-specific antibodies has been most commonly used to show the activation of particular PKC isoforms. Anchoring proteins called Receptors for Activated C-kinases (RACKs) target activated PKC isoforms to a specific subcellular location (Mochly-Rosen and Gordon 1998). In neonatal cardiac myocytes RACK1 selectively targets activated PKCβII to the perinuclear structure (Ron et al 1995). RACKII (beta'-COP) selectively targets activated PKCE to the Golgi membrane in cardiac myocytes (Csukai et al 1997). It has been suggested some of the inactive PKC isoforms are also selectively targeted to different subcellular sites by Receptor for Inactive Ckinases (RICKs) (Mochly-Rosen and Gordon 1998).

DAG, which is required for cPKCs and nPKCs activation, initially comes from the hydrolysis of PtdIns(4,5)P₂ by PLCβ upon G_q-coupled receptor activation (Nishizuka 1995). However, DAG derived from PLC β is quickly degraded by the actions of DAG kinase and DAG lipase (Nishizuka 1995). The sustained increase in DAG, which is required for some of the long term effects of Gq signalling such as proliferation, is thought to be due to the hydrolysis of phosphatidylcholine (PC) (Nishizuka 1995). This is because the fatty acid composition of DAG, which is sustained, corresponds with that of PC, and DAG derived from PC is more slowly degraded than DAG derived from PtdIns(4,5)P₂ (Nishizuka 1995). DAG is produced from PC by the action of phospholipase D (PLD) which hydrolyses PC to generate dephosphorylated by phosphatidate phosphatidic acid (PA), which is phosphohydrolase to DAG. PA is also known to be an activator of aPKCs (Farese et al 2002). PLD has been shown to be activated by α_1 receptor stimulation in the rat heart (Weismuller et al 2004).

In addition to DAG and Ca^{2+} , the activity of PKC is also regulated by cis-unsaturated fatty acids (Nishizuka 1995). These fatty acids are incapable of activating cPKCs on their own but they increase the affinity of cPKCs for Ca^{2+} synergistically with DAG. causing the activation of the PKCs at basal Ca^{2+} level (Shinomura *et al* 1991; Yoshida et al 1992). The cis-unsaturated fatty acids including arachidonic acid activate some nPKCs (ε and δ) either in a DAG-dependent manner or independently of DAG (Koide et al 1992; Ogita et al 1992). PKC has also been reported to be activated by arachidonic acid (Kochs et al 1993). Phospholipase A2 (PLA2) appears to play a role in PKC signalling by hydrolysing the sn-2-fatty acyl ester bonds thereby releasing free fatty acids and lysophospholipids. Lysophosphatidylcholine, produced by the hydrolysis of PC by PLA2, is also known to enhance the DAGdependent activation of cPKC (Sasaki et al 1993). There are several PLA₂ types which display differences in their preference for the sn-2-fatty acids, subcellular localisation, and Ca²⁺ requirement (Pavoine and Defer 2005). The cytosolic PLA₂, which selectively releases arachidonic acid, has been shown to be activated by α_1 or β₂ receptors (Pavoine *et al* 2003; Ait-Mamar *et al* 2005; Debetto *et al* 1999).

Some members of nPKCs (δ , ε , and η) and aPKCs are also known to be activated by PtdIns(3,4)P₂ and PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ (Farese *et al* 2002; Rameh and Cantley 1999; Toker *et al* 1994; Nakanishi *et al* 1993). The activation by PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ is partly mediated by the phosphorylation of nPKCs and aPKCs by PDK1 (below).

All PKC isoforms are phosphorylated at the threonine residue in the activation loop and at one (aPKCs) or two (cPKCs and nPKCs) residues at the C-terminus (Malhotra *et al* 2001b). The activation loop threonine of all three groups of PKCs is phosphorylated by PDK1 (Dutil *et al* 1998, Le Good *et al* 1998). For cPKCs, the phosphorylation of the activation loop by PDK1 and subsequent stimulation of autophosphorylation at the two C-terminal residues are required for the maturation of newly synthesised cPKCs (Dutil *et al* 1998). cPKCs phosphorylated at the Cterminal are still inactive but are now capable of being activated by Ca²⁺ and DAG (Dutil *et al* 1998). Once cPKCs are in the mature form, the activation loop can be dephosphorylated without affecting the activation of cPKCs by Ca²⁺ and DAG (Dutil *et al* 1998). The re-phosphorylation of the activation loop of the mature cPKCs by PDK1 does not change the basal activity or DAG- and Ca²⁺-induced activity (Dutil *et* 39 *al* 1998). In contrast to cPKCs, PDK1 phosphorylation of the activation loop increases the activity of aPKCs in the presence of PS or the activity of nPKCs in the presence of PS and DAG (Le Good *et al* 1998). This activation of aPKCs and nPKCs is stimulated in the presence of PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ (Le Good *et al* 1998). However, phosphorylation of aPKCs by PDK1 is not an essential mechanism for the activation of aPKCs because PA appears to activate aPKCs without this phosphorylation (Farese *et al* 2002).

The nature of the PKC isoforms expressed in cardiac myocytes is controversial. Adult rat cardiac myocytes have been reported to express α , $\beta 1$, $\beta 2$, δ , ε , and ζ (Malhotra et al 2001a). However studies by another group found that adult cardiac myocytes express PKCe and ζ but they do not express α , $\beta 1$, γ , or δ (Bogoyevitch *et* al 1993). In cultured neonatal rat myocytes, PKCa, δ , ϵ , and ζ were detected but PKCß was not detected (Puceat et al 1994). A number of studies done with transgenic mice and isolated cardiac myocytes have shown that α_1 receptor/G_a stimulation selectively increases the translocation of PKCE to the membrane without affecting the translocation of PKC α and PKC ζ (D'Angelo et al 1997; Puceat et al 1994; Clerk et al 1994; Wang et al 2003; Deng et al 1998). Whether PKCS is activated by α_1 receptor stimulation is controversial. The translocation of PKCS upon α_1 stimulation has been observed by some groups (Puceat et al 1994; Wang et al 2003; Deng et al 1998), but not by others (Clerk et al 1994). There have been studies suggesting that β receptor stimulation can also activate PKC. The signalling linking the β receptor to PKC is unknown but it appears to involve Ca²⁺. In the perfused rat heart, isoproterenol pre-treatment (10 min) provided ischemic preconditioning which was inhibited by a L-type Ca²⁺ channel blocker or by PKC inhibitors (Miyawaki and Ashraf 1997). In adult rat cardiac myocytes isoproterenol (1h) increased translocation of PKC ε to the membrane without affecting PKC α and δ (Shizukuda and Buttrick 2001).

1.5.8 Protein kinase D (PKD)

PKD is a family of serine/threonine kinases that includes PKD, PKD2 and PKD3 (Wang 2006). Although PKD and PKD3 are also known as PKCµ and PKCv,

respectively, PKDs show different substrate specificities from PKCs and are more closely related to CAMKs (Wang 2006). PKD contains a PH domain and the N-terminal C1 domain (C1a/C1b) which binds DAG and phorbol esters. Like conventional and novel PKCs, PKD is activated by DAG or phorbol ester (van Lint 1995). PKDs are also activated by phosphorylation by PKC (particularly the novel PKCs) which relieves the autoinhibitory effect of the PH domain (Wang 2006). PKD is expressed in rat ventricular myocytes and is activated by GPCR (Haworth *et al* 2000) but the cardiac function of PKDs is still not well-understood. PKD has been suggested to mediate the effect of PKC to phosphorylate class II histone deacetylase (Vega *et al* 2004). Cardiac troponin I and myosin-binding protein C have been identified as possible PKD targets (Haworth *et al* 2004), indicating a possible role of PKD in the regulation of contraction.

1.5.9 Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs)

MAPKs are classified into 5 groups (Michel et al 2001);

- 1. The extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1 and 2
- 2. p38 α , β , γ , and δ
- 3. The c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) 1, 2, and 3
- 4. ERK 5
- 5. ERK 3 and 4

The regulation and function of the first three groups are most extensively studied whereas the functional information for the last two groups is relatively scarce. The heart predominantly expresses ERK1/2, $p38\alpha/\beta$, and JNK1/2 (Magne *et al* 2001; Lemke *et al* 2001; Stein *et al* 1997; Clerk *et al* 1998). MAPKs are activated by phosphorylation of threonine and tyrosine in the Thr-X-Tyr motif in the activation loop by one or more of the upstream dual specificity kinases, MAPK kinases (MKKs) which selectively activate each group of MAPKs. Thus, MEK1 and MEK2 activate ERKs, MKK3 and MKK6 activate p38s, and MEK4 and MEK7 activate JNKs. MAPKs are inactivated by specific MAPK dual phosphatases. The activity of MKKs is under the control of the upstream ser/thr kinase, MAPK kinase kinases (MKKKs). The Raf MKKK family (Raf1, A-Raf, and B-Raf) and MEKK1 are upstream components of the ERK MAPK cascade. MKKKs for p38 include JAK1 and PAK, and those for JNK include MEKK4, MUK, and MST. MKKKs often activate more than one group of MAPKs by activating several MKKs. Thus, MEKK2 and MEKK3 can activate both ERK and JNK *via* their respective MKKs. Similarly ASK1, SPRK, TAK1 can activate both p38 and JNK.

In cardiac myocytes, both α_1 and β receptors have been reported to activate all three of ERK, p38, and JNK (Markou and Lazou 2002; Yamazaki *et al* 1997; Communal *et al* 2000; Wang and Proud 2002; Maruyama *et al* 2002). However, there is considerable controversy over the activation of individual MAPKs (ERK, p38, or JNK) by different adrenergic receptor types and subtypes, and the relative importance of each MAPK on the development of hypertrophy and apoptosis (Michel *et al* 2001). This is at least partly due to diversity of the experimental systems employed (transgenic animals, freshly isolated/cultured myocytes, perfused hearts) and the age (adult vs. neonatal myocytes) and species (e.g. rat vs. mouse) specificity of the adrenergic signalling.

The adrenergic receptors activate MAPKs through multiple pathways which are not completely understood. Figure 1.2 summarises some of the pathways that have been suggested to be involved in MAPK activation. Many studies have identified PKC as a key signalling component mediating the activation of ERK and possibly other MAPKs by the α_1 receptor (Sugden and Clerk 1998b; Zou *et al* 1999; Yamazaki *et al* 1997; Bogoyevitch *et al* 1996; Wang *et al* 2003). The activation of ERK by PKC appears to involve Raf (Sugden and Clerk 1997). In addition, the activation of MAPK by the α_1 receptor has been suggested to involve the small G proteins Ras and Rho (Thorburn 1994; Sugden and Clerk 2000). Rho has been shown to be downstream of G₁₂ and G₁₃, and it seems to be involved in the activation of JNK by the GEF activity of AKAP-Lbc (Kurose 2003; Diviani *et al* 2001) and p115RhoGEF (Hart *et al* 1998), respectively.

In contrast to the α_1 receptor, the activation of ERK by the β receptor is insensitive to PKC inhibition (Zou *et al* 1999; Bogoyevitch *et al* 1996; Yamazaki *et al* 1997).



Figure 1.2 Signalling pathways linking cardiac adrenergic receptors to MAPKs

43

Instead, the activation of MAPK by the β receptor appears to involve PKA, G_{i/o}, and G_{by} signalling (Zou et al 1999; Yamazaki et al 1997; Zheng et al 2000; Chesley et al 2000; Communal et al 2000), although the pathways linking these to MAPK are not well-understood. G_{by} has been suggested to activate MAPK via PI3Ky (Lopez-Ilasaca et al 1997). It has also been reported that G_i-derived G_{$\beta\gamma$} activates ERK via the Src-Ras-Raf1 pathway, and phosphorylation of the β_2 receptor by PKA stimulates this pathway by increasing the coupling of the receptor with G_i (Zou et al 1999; Daaka et al 1997). However, how $G_{\beta\gamma}$ activates the Src pathway is not clear. Possibly, it could involve the activation of β ARK and the recruitment of β -arrestin, which has been postulated to activate MAPK by binding Src as well as the components of ERK and JNK MAPK cascades (Rockman et al 2002). The activation of p38 by the β_2 receptor has been shown to be dependent on PKA but independent of G_i/G_{By} (Zheng et al 2000), suggesting PKA also activates MAPK via mechanisms other than the stimulation of the G_i pathway. One likely pathway is the increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} through activation of the L-type Ca^{2+} channel. The activation of ERK by isoproterenol or phenylephrine has been reported to be inhibited by Ca²⁺ chelation or nifedipine, suggesting Ca^{2+} is a common mechanism mediating the activation of MAPK by both α_1 and β receptors (Yamazaki *et al* 1997; Bogoyevitch et al 1996). The mechanisms by which Ca^{2+} activates MAPK are not clear. The possible downstream pathways include the activation of tyrosine kinase PYK2 (Sugden and Clerk 1997) or CAMKII, which appears to be upstream of the apoptosis signal-regulated kinase 1 (ASK1) (Kashiwase et al 2005).

1.6 AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK)

1.6.1 Introduction

The AMP-activated protein kinase is a broadly expressed serine/threonine kinase consisting of catalytic α subunit and regulatory β and γ subunits. AMPK and its orthologues are present in all eukaryotes. The earlier studies with purified AMPK from the rat liver (much of the earlier *in vitro* studies were done with AMPK from this tissue) showed AMPK was activated by AMP and by phosphorylation of Thr172 at the catalytic loop of the α subunit by upstream kinases, collectively called the

AMPK kinases (AMPKKs), which cause a dramatic increase in the AMPK activity (Hawley et al 1996). AMP activates AMPK by several mechanisms; 1. It binds to AMPK and allosterically activates AMPK (Sullivan et al 1994). 2. It enhances the phosphorylation of Thr172 by AMPKKs (Hawley et al 1995). 3. It protects AMPK against the dephosphorylation of Thr172 by PP2C and PP2A, the phosphatases identified to dephosphorylate Thr172 in vitro (Davis et al 1995). 4. It allosterically activates AMPKK (Hawley et al 1995). The last effect was observed with a partially purified liver AMPKK but it is questioned following the recent discoveries that LKB1 and CAMKK β phosphorylate Thr172 and act as AMPKKs (Section 1.6.3). Both LKB1, which is the main AMPKK in the liver, and CAMKK β are not directly activated by AMP (Section 1.6.3). All four effects of AMP have been shown to be antagonised by ATP (Carling et al 1989; Davis et al 1995; Hawley et al 1996). Thus, the activity of AMPK in vivo is likely to be regulated by changes in the AMP/ATP ratio rather than AMP per se. A number of conditions that increase the cellular AMP/ATP ratio (e.g. skeletal muscle contraction and H_2O_2) have been demonstrated to increase Thr172 phosphorylation and the AMPK activity in isolated or in vivo tissues/cells. In the heart, AMPK has been shown to be activated by ischemia and by metabolic inhibitors which impede ATP production (Kudo et al 1995; Pelletier et al 2005). AMPK is also activated in many cell types including cardiac myocytes (Chabowski et al 2006) by 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleoside (AICAR) (Corton et al 1995), which is converted in the cell to ZMP, an AMP analogue which has also been shown to activate AMPK in vitro (Sullivan et al 1994). AICAR is the most commonly used experimental tool for activating AMPK, and many downstream effects of AMPK have been studied using this compound.

In the heart AMPK is emerging as a key regulator of many metabolic pathways. AMPK has been shown to phosphorylate and inactivate cardiac ACC2 (Dyck *et al* 1999). AMPK has also been shown by some investigators to phosphorylate and activate MCD in skeletal muscle (Saha *et al* 2000) but this effect has not been confirmed by others (Habinowski *et al* 2001). The activation of AMPK during ischemia/reperfusion is associated with phosphorylation of ACC, a decrease in malonyl CoA, and an increased rate of fatty acid oxidation (Kudo *et al* 1995 and 1996). AMPK activation is also associated with increased lipoprotein lipase activity (An *et al* 2005) and translocation of the fatty acid translocase CD36 to the plasma

45

membrane (Luiken et al 2003). Recently, prolonged activation of AMPK has been shown to increase the expression of fatty acid transporters FABPpm and FAT/CD36 in cardiac myocytes and perfused heart (Chabouski et al 2006). In addition to stimulating fatty acid utilisation, AMPK also regulates glucose metabolism. Several studies have shown that the activation of AMPK increases the translocation of Glut4 to the plasma membrane (Russell et al 2004; Li et al 2005). AMPK has also been shown to phosphorylate and activate PFK2 in vitro and this is implicated in the stimulation of glycolysis during ischemia (Marsin et al 2000). Results from skeletal muscle suggest that AMPK may also regulate cardiac glycogen metabolism by inhibiting glycogen synthase (Wojtaszewski et al 2002). AMPK possibly stimulates glycogen phosphorylase (by phosphorylating phosphorylase kinase) but this effect is controversial (Carling and Hardie 1989; Young et al 1996; Beyer et al 2000). These effects of AMPK to stimulate energy producing pathways, together with the activation of AMPK by an increase in the AMP/ATP ratio, have led to the notion that the main physiological function of this enzyme is to protect the cells against the loss of ATP during metabolically stressful conditions. For this reason AMPK is described as the energy or stress sensor (Hardie et al 2006). This role of AMPK has been supported by the recent study with hearts from transgenic mice lacking $\alpha 2$ AMPK (the major isoform), which showed a much higher increase in AMP/ATP during ischemia than wild type hearts (Zarrinpashneh et al 2006).

In addition to stimulating energy producing pathways, the maintenance of cellular ATP by AMPK is also likely to involve inhibition of energy consuming pathways. Liver ACC and HMG CoA reductase, which are involved in the biosynthesis of fatty acids and cholesterol, respectively, are inactivated by AMPK (Carling *et al* 1987). In the heart, which is not lipogenic, one relevant biosynthetic pathway which is inhibited by AMPK activation is protein synthesis (Chan and Dyck 2005). The activation of AMPK in cardiac myocytes causes inhibition of protein synthesis by phosphorylation and activation of the eukaryotic elongation factor 2 (eEF2) kinase, which phosphorylates and inhibits eEF2 (Horman *et al* 2003; Browne *et al* 2004; Macleod *et al* 2002; Chan *et al* 2004; Browne and Proud 2004). Studies in cardiac myocytes and other cell types have suggested that AMPK also regulates protein synthesis by inhibiting the mTOR-p70 S6 kinase pathway (Bolster *et al* 2002; Kimura *et al* 2003). AMPK may inhibit this pathway either by direct inhibitory

phosphorylation of mTOR (Cheng *et al* 2004), or by phosphorylation and activation of TSC2, which is a negative regulator of mTOR (Inoki *et al* 2003).

Recently, there have been an increasing number of studies reporting AMP/ATPindependent modulation of AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation state. AMPK has been demonstrated to be activated by hyperosmotic stress (Section 1.6.5.d) and metformin (Section 1.6.5.f) via AMP/ATP-independent mechanisms. It has also been reported that AMPK is inactivated by glucose in skeletal muscle (Section 1.6.5.1) and is activated by long chain fatty acids in the heart and skeletal muscle (Section 1.6.5.m) through an AMP/ATP-independent change in the Thr172 phosphorylation state. These findings suggest that, in addition to protecting cells from ATP depletion, AMPK may have other roles. For example, AMPK may act as a fuel sensor which regulates fuel metabolism in response to the change in the type of fuel supplied. Moreover, recent studies have also shown that the activity and the Thr172 phosphorylation state of AMPK can be modulated by a number of hormonal or other extracellular signals through the stimulation of cell surface receptors. These include insulin (Section 1.6.5.e), adiponectin (Section 1.6.5.i), leptin (Section 1.6.5.i), ghrelin (Section 1.6.5.j), resistin (Section 1.6.5.i), extracellular nucleotides (Section 1.6.5.h), fibronectin (Han et al 2006), angiotensin II (Nagata et al 2004), histamine (Section 1.6.5.h), thrombin (Section 1.6.5.h), interleukin-6 (Kelly et al 2004) and adrenergic agonists (Section 1.6.5.p). These observations suggest that AMPK may additionally mediate some of the biological effects of these signals.

1.6.2 AMPK structure

AMPK purified from rat liver exists as a heterotrimer of α , β , and γ subunits (Davies *et al* 1994). *In vitro* expression of the three subunits showed that the formation of the ternary complex is not dependent on phosphorylation or the catalytic activity of the α subunit (Woods *et al* 1996; Dyck *et al* 1996). The β subunit interacts with both α and γ subunits, but the α subunit does not interact (Woods *et al* 1996) or interacts very weakly with the γ subunit (Dyck *et al* 1996). Transfection of the AMPK subunits in COS-7 cells has shown that co-expression of either the β or γ subunit with the α subunit has a small stimulatory effect on AMPK activity but the full activity requires

the expression of all three subunits (Dyck *et al* 1996). This may be partly due to the stabilisation of the α subunit by the β and γ subunits (Dyck *et al* 1996). The homologues of all three subunits are found in S.cerevisiae. The AMPK α , β , and γ subunits are genetically and functionally related to the yeast Snf1p, Sip1p/Sip2p/Gal83p, and Snf4p, respectively (Stapleton *et al* 1994; Yang *et al* 1994; Woods *et al* 1996; Carling *et al* 1994; Woods *et al* 1994).

The catalytic α subunit (Carling *et al* 1989) transfers γ phosphate of ATP to serine or threenine residues in the consensus sequence ($\Phi(X,\beta)XXS/T^*XXX\Phi$, where Φ and β indicate hydrophobic and basic residues, respectively; X indicates any amino acid; the order of the amino acids within the parenthesis is not important) (Weekes et al 1993; Dale et al 1994; Salt et al 1998). However, a structural modelling of the interaction between the catalytic domain of AMPK and the region around Ser79 (AMPK phosphorylation site) of ACC1 has suggested that residues over a much longer region than the above recognition motif are important for the interaction (Scott *et al* 2002). There are two isoforms of the α subunit; α 1 (548 residues) encoded by the gene on chromosome 5p11 (Stapleton et al 1997) and $\alpha 2$ (552 residues) encoded by the gene on chromosome 1p31 (Beri et al 1994) (Stapleton et al 1996). Both isoforms migrate on SDS-PAGE at approximately 63kDa and are activated by AMP and by the phosphorylation of Thr172 by AMPKK (Stapleton et al 1996). They show high sequence similarity at the N-terminal catalytic domain but less similarity at the C-terminal region (Stapleton et al 1996). Truncation studies have shown that the C-terminal region (313-473) of the α subunit is required for association with the β and γ subunits (Figure 1.3) (Crute *et al* 1998; Iseli *et al* 2005). A truncated $\alpha 1$ lacking the C-terminal region ($\alpha 1$ (312)) is constitutively active and the presence of an autoinhibitory domain has been suggested in the region between residues 312-392 (Crute et al 1998). The a1 mRNA and protein are generally expressed but α^2 mRNA and protein are most abundant in heart, skeletal muscle and liver (Stapleton et al 1996). In terms of the activity, a2 AMPK activity is predominant in the heart and skeletal muscle, while al AMPK activity is predominant in lung, kidney, testis, brain and pancreas (Cheung et al 2000). Both al and $\alpha 2$ AMPK contribute equally in the liver (Cheung *et al* 2000). In the heart, $\alpha 1$ AMPK contributes to about 30% of the total AMPK activity (Cheung et al 2000).



Figure 1.3 AMPK subunit domain structures and phosphorylation sites

The domain structure and the phosphorylation sites for the $\alpha 1$, $\beta 1$, and $\gamma 1$ subunits are shown. The phosphorylation sites in parentheses represent the corresponding phosphorylation sites in the $\alpha 2$ and $\beta 2$ subunits.

The $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ isoforms display a number of differences. The $\alpha 2$ activity is stimulated by AMP to a greater extent than $\alpha 1$ in vitro (Salt et al 1998). This effect was seen for both the allosteric effect of AMP and for the stimulation of the Thr172 phosphorylation by an upstream kinase. This difference in the sensitivity to AMP may explain the greater activation of $\alpha 2$ AMPK than $\alpha 1$ AMPK during cardiac ischemia (Li et al 2006) and the isoform-specific AMPK activation during skeletal muscle contraction. Low or moderate skeletal muscle contraction has been generally found to selectively activate $\alpha 2$ AMPK while $\alpha 1$ activation is only seen during high intensity contraction (Vavvas et al 1997; Stephens et al 2002; Wojtaszewski et al 2000; Chen et al 2000), although a recent study by Toyoda et al has shown a selective activation of al AMPK by low intensity contraction in the epitrochlearis muscle (Toyoda *et al* 2006). Both isoforms are deactivated similarly by PP2C but α^2 is deactivated by PP2A to a much greater extent than $\alpha 1$ (Salt *et al* 1998). $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ AMPK may also have distinct physiological functions. It has been shown only α^2 AMPK co-purifies with heart ACC (Dyck et al 1999) suggesting a role for this isoform in the regulation of cardiac ACC. α 2 AMPK has also been suggested to be the isoform involved in the regulation of glucose homeostasis (Jorgensen et al 2004). A selective activation of α^2 has been also observed in skeletal muscle in response to leptin (Section 1.6.5.i). Both α 1 and α 2 AMPK are found in the cytosol but α 2 AMPK is also found in the nucleus in INS-1 cells and CCL13 cells (Salt et al 1998). This localisation is not dependent on the activation state of $\alpha 2$ or association with the β and γ subunits (Salt *et al* 1998).

The β subunit binds both α and γ subunits and is thought to act as a scaffold protein. There are two isofoms of the β subunit; β 1 (38kDa) and β 2 (34kDa) (Thornton *et al* 1998). The two isoforms display similar C-terminal sequence but show less similarity at the N-terminal sequence (Thornton *et al* 1998). AMPK complexes containing different β subunits do not show differences in activity and there is no evidence of preferential association of the two β isoforms with different α isoforms *in vitro* (Thornton *et al* 1998). Both isoforms are generally distributed. The liver expresses mainly β 1 and a small amount of β 2, while the opposite pattern is seen in skeletal muscle (Thornton *et al* 1998). The heart expresses both isoforms but β 2 is slightly more abundant than β 1 (Thornton *et al* 1998). The yeast homologues of the β subunit contain conserved domains termed KIS and ASC, which are involved in the association with Snf1p and Snf4p, respectively (Yang et al 1994; Jiang and Carlson 1997). Putative KIS and ASC domains are also found in the AMPK β subunits at the internal region and the C-terminal region, respectively (Gao et al 1996; Woods et al 1996; Thornton et al 1998). However, in contrast to SNF1, a truncation study has revealed that the β subunit binds both α and γ subunits via a C-terminal sequence (residues 186-270 for β 1) (Iseli *et al* 2005). The C-terminal residues 241-270 have also been shown to be sufficient to bind the γ subunit, but not the α subunit (Iseli et al 2005). The KIS domain in the β subunit is not required for the association with the α or γ subunit (Hudson *et al* 2003). The internal region (amino acids 68-163) of the β subunits which overlaps with the putative KIS domain has been identified as the glycogen binding domain (GBD) closely related to the isoamylase domain found in glycogen and starch branching enzymes (Polenkhina et al 2003). The association of AMPK with glycogen *in vivo* has been suggested by the co-localisation of the β subunits with glycogen phosphorylase and synthase (Polenkhina et al 2003; Hudson et al 2003). The GBD domain is likely to be important for the regulation of glycogen metabolism by AMPK (Section 1.6.5.k). The β subunits are myristoylated at the Nterminus (Thornton et al 1998). The myristoylation is involved in the membrane association of AMPK (Mitchelhill et al 1997; Warden et al 2001). The removal of the myristoylation has been also shown to increase AMPK activity by a mechanism independent of a change in the Thr172 phosphorylation (Warden et al 2001).

The γ subunit contains two pairs of CBS (cystathione- β -synthase) domains (CBS1/2 and CBS3/4) called the Bateman modules which are proposed to bind AMP and ATP (Kemp 2004; Adams *et al* 2004). The involvement of the CBS domains in AMP binding is supported by the observations that some point mutations in these domains make AMPK insensitive to AMP (Hamilton *et al* 2001; Adams *et al* 2004). Moreover, several naturally occurring mutations in the human γ 2 subunit (R302Q, H383R, and R531G), which are associated with the development of the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome, are found within the CBS domains, and these mutations have been shown to decrease the sensitivity of AMPK to AMP (Daniel and Carling 2002a). The inhibition of the stimulatory effect of AMP on AMPK by ATP is thought to be due to the competitive binding of ATP to the Bateman modules (Adams *et al* 2004). There are three isoforms of the γ subunit; γ 1, γ 2, and γ 3. The γ 2 gene has two transcriptional start sites and two forms (short and long) of γ 2 are predicted (Cheung *et al* 2000). The γ 2 contains a putative nuclear localisation signal (Cheung *et al* 2000). The AMPK complexes containing different γ subunits show differences in the dependence for AMP for activation. The AMPK with γ 2 shows the highest AMP dependence followed by γ 1 and γ 3 (Cheung *et al* 2000). There has been no conclusive evidence of selective association between the three γ isoforms and the α isoforms (Cheung *et al* 2000), although the possibility of preferential association of γ 3 with α 2 and β 2 in the skeletal muscle has been reported (Mahlapuu *et al* 2004). In most tissues, except for the brain and testis, the AMPK complex containing γ 1 accounts for the majority of the AMPK activity, and the remainder is accounted for by the γ 2-containing complex (Cheung *et al* 2000). The heart expresses both γ 1, which is the predominant form, and γ 2 (Li *et al* 2006). The expression of γ 3 is confined to the skeletal muscle (Cheung *et al* 2000; Yu *et al* 2004).

1.6.3 AMPK kinases (AMPKKs)

AMPK is activated by the phosphorylation of Thr172 of the α subunit by AMPKK. The mutation of Thr172 to alanine completely abolishes the activation of AMPK by partially purified AMPKK (Stein et al 2000). The identity of the upstream kinase(s) that phosphorylate(s) Thr172 was elusive for a long time. Earlier studies on AMPKK mostly used a partially purified AMPKK fraction from rat liver. Recently, three yeast AMPKKs have been identified (Pak1p, Tos3p and Elm1p) which can phosphorylate the residue equivalent to Thr172 in the activation loop of Snflp (Hong et al 2003; Sutherland et al 2003). Subsequently, LKB1 in mammals, which has a catalytic domain related to these three yeast kinases, has been shown to phosphorylate Thr172 and activate AMPK in vitro (Hong et al 2003; Hawley et al 2003; Woods et al 2003; Shaw et al 2003). LKB1 is known as a serine/threonine kinase which has a tumour suppressor role. Mutation of LKB1 causes the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (Boudeau et al 2003). LKB1 (~50kDa) purified from rat liver is associated with two accessory proteins; STRADa (~45/48kDa) and MO25a (~40kDa) (Hawley et al 2003). The heterotrimeric complex of LKB1 is required for its full activity towards AMPK (Hawley et al 2003). LKB1 seems to equally activate AMPK complexes containing different subunit isoforms (Woods et al 2003). The role of LKB1 as an AMPKK in vivo is supported by several observations. First, an anti-LKB1 antibody could remove

most of the AMPKK activity from the partially purified liver AMPKK fraction (Hawley *et al* 2003; Woods *et al* 2003). Second, in cultured cell lines, the inhibition of LKB1 by expression of catalytically inactive LKB1 inhibited the increase in Thr172 phosphorylation induced by AICAR and H₂O₂ (Woods *et al* 2003; Shaw *et al* 2003). Third, in HeLa cells, which lack endogenous LKB1, and in MEF cells from a LKB1 knock out mouse, AICAR or H₂O₂ failed to increase Thr172 phosphorylation (Hawley *et al* 2003; Shaw *et al* 2003). Lastly, in transgenic mice, deletion of LKB1 in the liver or skeletal muscle greatly decreased the basal Thr172 phosphorylation caused by metformin, AICAR, or skeletal muscle contraction (Shaw *et al* 2005; Sakamoto *et al* 2005). The heart from the transgenic mice lacking cardiac expression of LKB1 also showed almost complete abolition of the basal activity of α 2 AMPK and a moderate reduction in the activity of α 1 AMPK, indicating a significant role of LKB1 in cardiac AMPK regulation (Sakamoto *et al* 2006).

Despite the lack of LKB1, a small amount of Thr172 phosphorylation could still be detected in HeLa cells and MEF cells from LKB1 knock-out mice (Hawley et al 2003). This was not due to non-phospho specific binding of the anti-Thr172 antibody as it was almost completely abolished by incubation with PP2A (Hawley et al 2005). Moreover, a Ca²⁺ inophore was shown to increase Thr172 phosphorylation and AMPK activity in HeLa cells. These observations prompted the search for AMPKK other than LKB1. The AMPKK activity towards recombinant AMPK present in a HeLa cell lysate could be completely abolished by STO-609, an inhibitor of CAMKKa and β (Hurley *et al* 2005). The effect of a Ca²⁺ inophore to activate AMPK in the HeLa cells was also inhibited by STO-609 or by small interfering RNA (siRNA) against CAMKK α or β , although the inhibitory effect of siRNA against CAMKK β was much greater than that for CAMKK α (Hurley *et al* 2005; Hawley *et* al 2005; Woods et al 2005). Both CAMKK α and β can phosphorylate Thr172 and activate recombinant AMPK in vitro, but CAMKKß activates AMPKK more readily than CAMKKa (Hawley et al 2005; Woods et al 2005). These observations strongly suggest that in addition to LKB1, CAMKKB and possibly CAMKKa also act as AMPKKs in vivo. In brain slices, the activation of AMPK by depolarlisation or an increase in Ca^{2+} induced by increasing K⁺ concentration has been shown to be inhibited by STO-609, suggesting a role for CAMKKs in the regulation of AMPK in

this organ (Hawley *et al* 2005). However, although CAMKK α and β are highly expressed in the brain, they are poorly expressed in other tissues (Anderson *et al* 1998). The heart has been reported to express CAMKK β but not CAMKK α (Allard *et al* 2006). The role of CAMKK β in the regulation of cardiac AMPK remains to be determined.

There still remains the possibility of AMPKKs different from LKB1 or CAMKKs. The possibility of a yet unidentified AMPKK that is activated during ischemia has been reported in the heart (Section 1.6.5.0). Suzuki *et al* have demonstrated that in several cultured cell lines, including the human pancreatic cancer cell line (PANC-1), HeLa and human fibroblast cell lines, AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation is increased by incubation with growth factors such as IGF-1 (Suzuki *et al* 2004). The tyrosine phosphorylation of ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) appears to be involved in this effect as the activation of AMPK was blocked by genistein or antisense mRNA for ATM (Suzuki *et al* 2004). The ATM immunoprecipitated from the IGF-1-stimulated cells phosphorylated the AMPK α catalytic domain *in vitro*, suggesting ATM may be directly upstream of AMPK (Suzuki *et al* 2004).

1.6.4 Phosphorylation sites other than Thr172

In addition to Thr172, AMPK is known to be phosphorylated at several sites on the α and β subunits (Figure 1.3). The α subunit has been shown to be phosphorylated at two other sites, Thr258, and Ser485 (α 1)/Ser491 (α 2) (Woods *et al* 2003). The mutation of Thr258 or Ser485/491 to asparatic acid to mimic phosphorylation did not affect the kinase activity or sensitivity of AMPK to AMP (Woods *et al* 2003). Using constitutively active and catalytically inactive mutants of AMPK, these sites were shown to be phosphorylated by both autophosphorylation and by a partially purified AMPKK (Woods *et al* 2003). However, the upstream kinases that phosphorylate Thr258 and Ser485/491 were thought to be different from that which phosphorylates Thr172 because the sequences surrounding the Thr258 and Ser485/491 were similar to each other but different from the sequence surrounding the Thr172 (Woods *et al* 2003). Unlike Thr172, the Ser485 phosphorylation was also resistant to incubation with PP2C, PP1 or PP2A (Woods *et al* 2003). Recently, Horman *et al* have

confirmed that Thr258 and Ser485 are autophosphorylated but they are not phosphorylated by LKB1 (Horman *et al* 2006). Moreover, PKB has been shown to phosphorylate recombinant $\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1$ and $\alpha 2\beta 1\gamma 1$ AMPK *in vitro* at Ser485/491. The phosphorylation of Ser485 did not directly affect the kinase activity but *in vitro* preincubation of AMPK with PKB and phosphorylation of Ser485 decreased the Thr172 phosphorylation and the activation of AMPK by LKB1, suggesting a hierarchical mechanism where the prior phosphorylation of Ser485 inhibits the subsequent phosphorylation at Thr172 (Horman *et al* 2006).

The β 1 subunit has been reported to be phosphorylated at Ser24, Ser25, Ser96, Ser101, Ser108, and Ser182 (Mitchelhill et al 1997; Woods et al 2003; Chen et al 1999). The phosphorylations of Ser24/25 are mutually exclusive (Mitchelhill et al 1997). The only reported phosphorylation on the β 2 subunit is Ser182 (Chen *et al* 1999). Phosphorylation of these residues may regulate the AMPK activity, cellular localisation, or interaction with substrate. Warden et al showed that mutation of Ser108 to alanine decreased AMPK activity while mutation of Ser24/25 or Ser182 did not affect the activity but increased the nuclear localisation (Warden et al 2001). Ser108 is within the GBD and mutating it to glutamic acid has been shown to partially inhibit the association of GBD with glycogen (Polekhina et al 2003). Most of the β phosphorylation sites identified are autophosphorylation sites (Mitchelhill *et* al 1997; Woods et al 2003). However Ser182 and some of the other sites are also likely to be phosphorylated by separate kinases (Mitchelhill et al 1997). The catalytically inactive mutant of AMPK has been reported to be phosphorylated at the β subunit by a partially purified AMPKK (Mitchelhill *et al* 1997; Stein *et al* 2000) although this was not observed by other investigators (Woods et al 2003). This discrepancy is likely to be due to the difference in the composition of the partially purified AMPKK used in these studies. Recently, incubation of recombinant AMPK with PKB has been shown to increase phosphate incorporation into the β 1 but not β 2 subunit (Horman *et al* 2006). The significance of PKB phosphorylation of the β subunit in the regulation of AMPK remains to be determined.

1.6.5 The regulation of AMPK by AMP/ATP and other factors

(a) AMP/ATP

In vitro, AMP activates AMPK by a direct allosteric mechanism and by increasing the phosphorylation of AMPK at Thr172 by AMPKK. This phosphorylation is the key event which accounts for most of the activation of AMPK by AMP. Recent studies in cultured cells and in skeletal muscle lacking LKB1 expression have suggested that LKB1 is required for the phosphorylation of AMPK by treatments that increase the AMP/ATP ratio (Section 1.6.3). However, it has been shown that AMP does not directly activate LKB1, although the phosphorylation of AMPK by LKB1 is stimulated in the presence of AMP (Hawley et al 2003; Woods et al 2003; Shaw et al 2003). The activity of LKB1 purified from cultured cells or from skeletal muscle treated with agents that increase AMP/ATP is also not different from that in untreated cells (Woods et al 2003; Shaw et al 2003; Sakamoto et al 2004). LKB1 is known to be phosphorylated at up to eight residues (Boudeau et al 2003), and LKB1 immunoprecipitated from a liver AMPKK fraction exists as several species which seem to represent different phosphorylation states of LKB1 (Woods et al 2003). However, none of the phosphorylations of LKB1 appear to regulate LKB1 catalytic activity (Sapkota et al 2001 and 2002). Consistent with this, preincubation of LKB1 with PP1, PP2A or PP2C does not affect the phosphorylation of AMPK by LKB1 (Woods et al 2003). These observations suggest that LKB1 is constitutively active and AMP stimulates the Thr172 phosphorylation by making AMPK a better substrate for LKB1. The exact molecular mechanism for this effect is unknown. According to the model suggested by Cheung et al, AMP binding to both α and γ subunits stabilises the conformation where the autoinhibitory region of the α subunit is removed from the catalytic site, exposing Thr172 (Cheung et al 2000). Alternatively, Adams et al has proposed that ATP binding to the CBS domains of the γ subunit positions a part of the ATP molecule in the activation loop region of the α subunit and blocks the phosphorylation of Thr172 (Adams et al 2004). AMP binding has been suggested to stimulate the Thr172 phosphorylation by displacing ATP and removing this inhibitory interaction (Adams et al 2004). The constitutive activity and insensitivity of LKB1 to AMP is consistent with the observations made with the total

AMPKK activity present in the INS-1 cell lysate (Hamilton *et al* 2002). However, an earlier study by Hawley *et al* showed that AMPKK partially purified from the liver was directly activated by AMP (Hawley *et al* 1995). Although LKB1 appears to be the predominant AMPKK in the liver, the possibility of as yet unidentified AMPKK(s) which is/are activated by AMP can not be ruled out.

Whether CAMKK is involved in the phosphorylation of AMPK in response to an increase in AMP/ATP is not clear. CAMKK α and β are activated by Ca²⁺/calmodulin but they are not directly activated by AMP (Hawley et al 2005; Woods et al 2005). This observation alone does not rule out the possibility that AMP facilitates the phosphorylation of Thr172 by CAMKK β which has been reported to have some activity in the absence of stimulation by $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$ (Anderson *et al* 1998). However, unlike LKB1, AMP has been shown to have no effect on the in vitro phosphorylation of AMPK by CAMKKs (Hawley et al 2005). Although this observation contradicts the earlier study by the same group which showed a stimulatory effect of AMP (Hawley et al 1995), it raises the possibility that the AMP-induced facilitation of Thr172 phosphorylation by LKB1 may involve a specific interaction between LKB1 and AMPK. Several other observations suggest that CAMKKs specifically mediate the phosphorylation of Thr172 in response to Ca^{2+} . In HeLa cells, which lack LKB1, AMPK is not activated by AICAR or H_2O_2 but it is activated by a Ca²⁺ inophore (Hurley et al 2005; Hawley et al 2005). In brain slices, STO-609 inhibited the activation of AMPK by Ca²⁺ but it did not affect the activation of AMPK by phenformin, which increased cellular AMP/ATP (Hawley et al 2005). In contrast to these studies, Woods et al showed that Thr172 phosphorylation could be increased by H2O2 in HeLa cells and in LKB1-deficient MEF cells (Woods et al 2005). Moreover, transfection of HeLa cells with siRNA against CAMKK β decreased the basal AMPK activity and both H₂O₂ and inomycin stimulated AMPK activity (Woods et al 2005). They also showed that in NIH3T3 cells, which express both LKB1 and CAMKKs, the activation of AMPK by inomycin, AICAR and H₂O₂ were only partially inhibited by STO-609 whereas in the LKB1-deficient MEF cells, their effects were completely inhibited by the inhibitor, suggesting that Ca²⁺ and AMP activate AMPK via both LKB1 and CAMKK β (Woods *et al* 2005). Offering a possible explanation for the discrepancy between this study and those by Hurley et al and Hawley et al described above, these

authors suggested that although LKB1 and CAMKK β are likely to be responsible for the activation of AMPK by AMP and Ca²⁺ signalling, respectively, the distinction is likely to be blurred *in vivo* because an increase in Ca²⁺ is often associated with an increase in AMP and *vice versa*, possibly due to the action of the Ca²⁺ pump (Woods *et al* 2005).

(b) Creatine/Creatine phosphate (Cr/CrP)

AMPK has been reported to be inhibited in vitro by physiological concentrations of creatine phosphate (CrP) (5-40mM), and this effect has been shown to be antagonised by creatine (Cr) (Ponticos et al 1998). The regulation of AMPK activity by Cr/CrP is consistent with the energy sensing role of AMPK. The effect of Cr/CrP on AMPK is not affected by the presence of AMP, suggesting Cr/CrP bind to a site distinct from the AMP binding site (Ponticos et al 1998). Whether Cr/CrP affects the phosphorylation of Thr172 by AMPKKs remained unknown. Recently, Taylor et al showed that physiological concentrations of CrP (5-50 mM) did not affect the activation of recombinant $\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1$ or $\alpha 2\beta 2\gamma 2$ by the recombinant LKB1 complex or the activation of AMPK purified from the liver by recombinant LKB1 (Taylor et al 2005). Moreover, the activity of $\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1$ or $\alpha 2\beta 2\gamma 2$ were not inhibited by CrP, and Cr did not activate $\alpha 2\beta 2\gamma 2$ or the activation of $\alpha 2\beta 2\gamma 2$ by recombinant LKB1 (Taylor et al 2005). However, they did observe an inhibitory effect of CrP on crude AMPK purified from rat liver and skeletal muscle by PEG precipitation. However, this effect was not specific for CrP (glucose-6-phosphate also inhibited crude AMPK), and the inhibitory effect by CrP or glucose-6-phosphate was not seen in the purer preparation of AMPK obtained by immunoprecipitation, suggesting that the inhibitory effect of CrP seen in the crude AMPK preparation and possibly that observed by Ponticos et al may be an artefact due to contaminating enzymes such as creatine kinase and phosphatases that act on CrP or other small phosphomolecules and possibly perturb the concentrations of free phosphate, ATP or AMP (Taylor et al 2005).

(c) NAD⁺/NADH

The recombinant AMPK heterotrimer has been shown to be activated by β -NAD⁺

and inhibited by β -NADH *in vitro* (Rafaeloff-Phail *et al* 2004). This effect depends on the concentrations of AMP and ATP; increasing the concentration of AMP increased the potency of NADH to inhibit AMPK and slightly increased that of NAD⁺ to activate AMPK (Rafaeloff-Phail *et al* 2004). The ability of NADH to inhibit AMPK is decreased with the increasing concentration of ATP (Rafaeloff-Phail *et al* 2004).The physiological significance of this effect is not clear. The effect of NAD⁺/NADH on covalent modification of AMPK is unknown.

(d) Hyperosmotic stress

In H-2Kb muscle cells, sorbitol caused activation of both $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ AMPK and increased the Thr172 phosphorylation (Fryer et al 2002). The effect of sorbitol on the AMPK activity was independent of changes in the AMP/ATP ratio and was additive to the effects of AICAR and DNP, suggesting hyperosmotic stress activates AMPK by a distinct pathway (Fryer et al 2002). This is supported by the study by Daniel and Carling who showed that the α 1 chimeric protein containing the C-terminal regulatory region of snf1p coexpressed with the SNF1 regulatory subunits in CCL13 cells was not activated by an increase in the AMP/ATP ratio but was activated by sorbitol (Daniel and Carling 2002b). LKB1 was shown to be required for the effect of sorbitol to increase the Thr172 phosphorylation (Woods et al 2003, Shaw et al 2003). However, like AMP/ATP-raising treatments, sorbitol did not affect the LKB1 activity in cultured cells (Woods et al 2003, Shaw et al 2003). Thus, how sorbitol, which does not increase AMP/ATP, increases the LKB1-mediated Thr172 phosphorylation is unknown. Hyperosmotic stress is known to activate a number of kinases including PKA, MLTK, PI3K, PKC, and p38 MAPK (Mao et al 2004; van der Kaay et al 1999; Schaffler et al 2000). It appears that PI3K, PKC, and p38 MAPK α/β are not involved in the sorbitol induced AMPK activation (Fryer *et al* 2002).

(e) Insulin

Insulin has been known to inhibit AMPK activity in the heart (Gamble and Lopaschuk 1997; Clark *et al* 2004). This effect was shown to be independent of

changes in the AMP/ATP ratio (Beauloye et al 2001). Moreover, insulin markedly decreased the extent of the AMPK activation and Thr172 phosphorylation increased by ischemia or anoxia by a mechanism which was again independent of AMP/ATP and Cr/CrP but was sensitive to wortmannin (Beauloye et al 2001). Subsequently, Kovacic et al demonstrated that the Thr172 phosphorylation was decreased in the heart of transgenic mice and neonatal cardiac myocytes over-expressing constitutively active PKB (Kovacic et al 2003). A possible mechanism by which insulin inhibits AMPK activity has been recently described by Horman et al, who showed that PKB phosphorylates the α subunit of AMPK at Ser485/491 in vitro (Horman et al 2006) (Section 1.6.4). They also showed in the perfused heart that the phosphorylation of Ser485/491 was increased by insulin and by ischemia. The with phosphorylation of Ser485/491 by ischemia is consistent the autophosphorylation of this site. It may be possible that this autophosphorylation serves as a negative feedback mechanism. Similar to the in vitro observation, the prior phosphorylation of Ser485/491 by insulin in the perfused heart prevented the phosphorylation of Thr172 by ischemia (Horman et al 2006). Consistent with Horman *et al*, Soltys *et al* showed that adenoviral expression of constitutively active PKB in neonatal cardiac myocytes prevented the increase in the phosphorylation of Thr172 and ACC2 Ser227 (ACC1 Ser79) induced by adenoviral expression of LKB1 or chemical hypoxia (Soltys et al 2006).

(f) Metformin

The anti-diabetic drug metformin decreases plasma glucose by inhibiting hepatic glucose production and by stimulating peripheral glucose utilisation. Metformin increases Thr172 phosphorylation and activates AMPK in various tissues including the liver (Zhou *et al* 2001), skeletal muscle (Musi *et al* 2002), heart (Kovacic *et al* 2003), adipocyte (Huypens *et al* 2005b) and endothelial cells (Zou *et al* 2004). Metformin has been shown to inhibit complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (El Mir *et al* 2000; Owen *et al* 2000) and the activation of AMPK by metformin is associated with decreased ATP and CrP in skeletal muscle (Musi *et al* 2002). However, AMP/ATP-independent increases in Thr172 phosphorylation and AMPK activity have been reported in CHO fibroblasts, a rat hepatoma cell line

(H4IIE), and in cultured muscle cells (H-2Kb) (Hawley *et al* 2002; Fryer *et al* 2002). Metformin did not directly stimulate the activation of purified AMPK by a partially purified AMPKK *in vitro* and it did not protect AMPK from dephosphorylation by PP2C (Hawley *et al* 2002). However, the AMPKK activity present in the lysate of metformin-treated H4IIE cells was increased compared to that in untreated cells (Hawley *et al* 2002), raising the possibility that metformin activates AMPKK through a covalent modification.

(g) Peroxynitrite

A series of studies by Zou et al primarily done in endothelial cells suggested that some of the reported AMP/ATP-independent activation of AMPK, including metformin and hypoxia (Section 1.6.5.0), may be mediated by peroxynitrite (Zou et al 2002, 2003, and 2004; Xie et al 2006). In endothelial cells, both metformin and peroxynitrite increased Thr172 phosphorylation and activated AMPK without changing AMP/ATP (Zou et al 2003 and 2004). Peroxynitrite has been shown to be increased by metformin in endothelial cells in vitro or in the heart of metforminadministered mice (Zou et al 2004). The involvement of peroxynitrite in the activation of AMPK by metformin in endothelial cells is suggested by the observation that the activation of AMPK by metformin was abolished by inhibiting the two precursors of peroxynitrite, superoxide and nitric oxide, by over-expression of superoxide dismutase and by an eNOS inhibitor, respectively (Zou et al 2004). Metformin is likely to increase superoxide by inhibiting the mitochondrial complex I as functional mitochondria were required for the effect of metformin to produce superoxide, and rotenone, another inhibitor of the complex I, also increased superoxide (Zou et al 2004). In endothelial cells, hypoxia or reoxygenation after hypoxia caused the activation of AMPK and this effect was inhibited by overexpression of superoxide dismutase or a NOS inhibitor, indicating that peroxynitrite is also involved in the regulation of AMPK during hypoxia (Zou et al 2003). Further limited studies by the same investigators have shown that peroxynitrite activates AMPK in other cell types including cardiac myocytes, retinal pericytes, cultured rat vascular smooth muscle cells and mouse 3T3-L1 preadipocytes, suggesting the possibility that the regulation of AMPK by metformin and hypoxia in these cells may also involve peroxynitrite (Zou *et al* 2004; Xie *et al* 2006). Supporting this possibility, the effect of metformin to increase Thr172 phosphorylation in the cardiac myocytes was inhibited by superoxide dismutase and by a NOS inhibitor (Zou *et al* 2004).

These investigators have also provided evidence that peroxynitrite activates AMPK by increasing the association of LKB1 with the AMPK α subunit (Xie *et al* 2006). This is a novel mechanism for regulating the 'effective activity' of LKB1, which appears to be constitutively active. They have demonstrated that $PKC\zeta$, which has been shown to be activated by peroxynitrite, is required for the association of LKB1 with AMPK (Xie et al 2006). Moreover, PKC has been shown to phosphorylate LKB1 at Ser428 (Ser431 in the human sequence) in vitro, and the mutation of this residue to alanine inhibited the peroxynitrite-induced activation of AMPK, suggesting that Ser428 may be important for the interaction of LKB1 with AMPK (Xie et al 2006). Previously, the phosphorylation of Ser428 has been reported to have no effect on the catalytic activity of LKB1 (Sapkota et al 2001). The possible role of Ser428 in the regulation of the interaction of LKB1 with AMPK may explain the previous observation reported by Sapkota et al that mutating Ser428 prevented the suppression of cell growth by LKB1 in G361 melanoma cells despite the lack of the effect of the Ser428 mutation on the catalytic activity of LKB1 (Sapkota et al 2001). It may also explain the observation made by Kimball *et al* that the increase in the AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation in response to glucagon in the liver was associated with the increased PKA phosphorylation of LKB1 at Ser428 (Kimball et al 2004). In the heart, ischemia has been reported to activate AMPK by a PKC-dependent mechanism (Nishino et al 2004). Although the activation of PKCE by ischemia was demonstrated, the activation of PKC² was not determined in this study (Nishino et al 2004). Whether, PKC isoforms other than PKC can phosphorylate LKB1 Ser428 and regulate AMPK is unknown.

PKC ζ was suggested to be activated by peroxynitrite through a cSrc-PI3K-PDK1 pathway in endothelial cells because the activation of AMPK by peroxynitrite was inhibited by wortmannin or by expression of dominant negative cSrc or PDK1 (Zou *et al* 2003). The activation of PI3K by peroxynitrite contradicts the observation that insulin inhibits AMPK *via* the PI3K-PKB pathway (Section 1.6.5.e). However, it

may be possible that peroxynitrite activates different isoforms or different pools of PI3K.

(h) Ca^{2+}

In addition to the aforementioned activation of AMPK by Ca²⁺ in brain slices and cultured cells (Section 1.6.5.a), stimulation of several cell surface receptors have also been reported to activate AMPK by increasing intracellular Ca²⁺. The stimulation of the thrombin receptor or P2Y purinergic receptor in the human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) and triggering of the T cell antigen receptor in T lymphocytes have all been shown to increase Thr172 phosphorylation via AMP/ATP-independent and Ca2+-dependent mechanisms (Stahmann et al 2006; da Silva et al 2006; Tamas et al 2006). The increase in Ca²⁺ was likely to be mediated by Gq and PLC (Stahmann et al 2006). The effects of all three receptors on the AMPK activation were abolished by STO-609, indicating the involvement of CAMKKs (Stahmann et al 2006; da Silva et al 2006; Tamas et al 2006). LKB1, which is also expressed in HUVEC, does not seem to be involved in the activation of AMPK by thrombin as the effect was insensitive to siRNA against LKB1 (Stahmann et al 2006). In contrast, the activation of AMPK in HUVEC by AICAR was insensitive to CAMKK β inhibition but it was inhibited by siRNA against LKB1 (Stahmann et al 2006). These observations provide additional support for distinct roles of LKB1 and CAMKKs. Histamine in HUVEC has also been shown to activate AMPK via Ca²⁺-dependent mechanism (Thors et al 2004). Stimulation of α_1 adrenergic receptor in skeletal muscle also appears to activate AMPK by a Ca^{2+} dependent mechanism (Hutchinson and Bengtsson 2006; Section 1.6.5.p).

(i) Adipokines

An adipocyte-derived hormone leptin has been shown to have different effects on AMPK in different tissues. Leptin activates $\alpha 2$ but not $\alpha 1$ AMPK in the skeletal muscle (Minokoshi *et al* 2002). However, leptin inhibits AMPK in the hypothalamus (Andersson *et al* 2004; Minokoshi *et al* 2004), while it seems to have no effect on AMPK in the perfused heart (Atkinson *et al* 2002). *In vivo* administration of leptin

has been shown to activate AMPK in skeletal muscle *via* two pathways; the direct effect of leptin on the skeletal muscle and indirect slower effect through the hypothalamic-sympathetic nervous system (Minokoshi *et al* 2002). The direct effect of leptin seems to be mediated by the AMP-dependent pathway as a transient increase in AMP was observed immediately after leptin administration (Minokoshi *et al* 2002). However, the delayed indirect effect is likely to be mediated *via* an AMP/ATP-independent mechanism through the α_1 adrenergic receptor as the *in vivo* effect was sensitive to phentolamine and phenylephrine activated AMPK in isolated skeletal muscle (Minokoshi *et al* 2002).

Another adipocyte-derived hormone adiponectin activates AMPK in skeletal muscle, liver, and pancreatic β cells (Yamauchi *et al* 2002; Huypens *et al* 2005a). Adiponectin receptors are also expressed in the cardiac myocytes, which also have been shown to secrete adiponectin (Pineiro *et al* 2005). Adiponectin increased AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation in the HL-1 atrial cardiac myocyte cells (Pineiro *et al* 2005). The mechanism by which adiponectin activates AMPK is not clear. However adiponectin increased AMP in skeletal muscle, suggesting the involvement of the AMP-dependent pathway (Yamauchi *et al* 2002). In bovine aortic endothelial cells, the adiponectin-induced increase in AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation was inhibited by wortmannin, suggesting that the adiponectin effect may also involve PI3K (Chen *et al* 2003).

Another adipocyte-derived hormone resistin inhibits AMPK in the liver and skeletal muscle by an unknown mechanism (Banerjee et al 2004; Muse et al 2004; Palanivel and Sweeney 2005).

(j) Ghrelin

Ghrelin is produced in the stomach and it stimulates food intake. Like leptin, ghrelin has different effects on AMPK in different tissues. Ghrelin increases Thr172 phosphorylation or AMPK activity in the hypothalamus and heart (Andersson *et al* 2004; Kola *et al* 2005). However, ghrelin decreases the Thr172 phosphorylation or AMPK activity in the liver and adipose tissue, while it has no effect in skeletal

muscle (Kola *et al* 2005 and Barazzoni *et al* 2005). The mechanism of this tissue specificity is unknown.

(k) Glycogen

There appears to be a complex relationship between AMPK activity and the cellular glycogen content. High cellular glycogen was shown to be associated with decreased basal and AICAR-stimulated a2 AMPK activity in skeletal muscle (Wojtaszewski et al 2002). Moreover, the activation of AMPK in skeletal muscle induced by AICAR or by glucose withdrawal was accompanied by a decrease in the glycogen synthase activity (Wojtaszewski et al 2002; Halse et al 2003). These observations suggest a reciprocal relationship between AMPK and the cellular glycogen level. The inactivation of glycogen synthase is probably due to the direct phosphorylation of glycogen synthase by AMPK, which has been shown in vitro (Carling and Hardie 1989). The mechanism by which glycogen inhibits AMPK is not clear. It has been shown that glycogen does not directly inhibit AMPK activity (Polekhina et al 2003). The inhibitory effect may involve glycogen-associated phosphatases or other glycogen-associated enzymes. However, this reciprocal relationship between AMPK and glycogen has not been observed under some conditions. Aschenbach et al demonstrated that in vivo AICAR administration increased glycogen in skeletal muscle despite the activation of $\alpha 2$ AMPK (Aschenbach *et al* 2002). These authors attributed the glycogen accumulation to increased glucose uptake because no change in the activity of glycogen synthase or phosphorylase was observed (Aschenbach et al 2002). Several naturally occurring mutations in the human γ^2 gene have been shown to cause excessive glycogen accumulation the heart. The myocardial glycogen accumulation causes ventricular pre-excitation, the condition called Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome, which is associated with the development of cardiac hypertrophy. Transgenic mice expressing some of these mutations (N488I, R302Q, R531G) have been generated (Arad et al 2003; Davies et al 2006; Sidhu et al 2005). All of these mice showed glycogen accumulation in the heart and cardiac hypertrophy (Arad et al 2003; Davies et al 2006; Sidhu et al 2005). The AMPK activity is decreased in the heart of R302Q-expressing mice (Sidhu et al 2005), consistent with the reciprocal relationship between AMPK and glycogen. The cardiac

AMPK activity of the mice expressing the R531G mutation was found to be not different at 1 week of age and there was also no glycogen accumulation at this age (Davies *et al* 2005). However, glycogen accumulation was seen at four week of age and this was associated with the decreased AMPK activity (Davies *et al* 2005). In contrast to these mutations, the N488I mutation is associated with accumulation of glycogen despite increased AMPK activity (Arad *et al* 2003). Thus, the precise relationship between AMPK and glycogen is not clear and requires further research.

(l) Glucose

Glucose has been shown to decrease Thr172 phosphorylation and AMPK activity in the pancreatic β -cells and skeletal muscle (da Silva Xavier *et al* 2000 and 2003; Itani et al 2003; Halse et al 2003). While glucose caused the expected decrease in the AMP/ATP ratio in the β -cells (this is implicated in the 'glucose sensing' function of the β -cells and the regulation of insulin release) (da Silva Xavier *et al* 2003)), glucose did not affect the total adenine nucleotides and CrP in skeletal muscle (Itani et al 2003). The mechanism by which glucose inhibits AMPK in the skeletal muscle is unknown. However, the possibility of a localised change in free AMP and ATP cannot be ruled out. The effect of glucose does not appear to involve glycogen, because inhibiting glycogen phosphorylase inhibited the decrease in glycogen caused by low glucose but it did not inhibit the activation of AMPK by low glucose (Halse et al 2003). Gimeno-Alcaniz and Sazz have demonstrated using the yeast two-hybrid system that the interaction of AMPK $\alpha 2$ and $\gamma 1$ increased when the glucose concentration was lowered (Gimeno-Alcaniz and Sazz 2003). The significance of this effect is unclear but it may be possible that glucose or a glucose metabolite causes a conformational modification of the AMPK complex which may affect the regulation by AMPKK or phosphatases.

(m) Long chain fatty acids

The physiological concentrations of long chain fatty acids (LCFA) such as palmitate have been shown to increase Thr172 phosphorylation and activate AMPK in heart and skeletal muscle (Hickson-Bick *et al* 2000; Clark *et al* 2004; Fediuc *et al* 2006;

Watt et al 2006), although this effect has not been observed by some investigators (Olsen and Hansen 2002; Dobrzyn et al 2005; Crozier et al 2005; Folmes et al 2006). Apart from the observation that fatty acids increase Thr172 phosphorylation without a detectable change in AMP/ATP, CrP, or glycogen content (Clark et al 2004; Watt et al 2006), the mechanism of the fatty acid-induced activation of AMPK is unknown. Watt et al reported that paradoxically, the activity of LKB1 towards recombinant AMPK was lower in cells treated with fatty acids than in untreated cells (Watt et al 2006). However, they found that palmitate or oleate stimulated the in vitro activation of AMPK by LKB1 by a mechanism dependent on the presence of the β and γ subunits of AMPK (Watt *et al* 2006). In contrast to Watt *et al*, Taylor *et* al did not observe a stimulatory effect of palmitate on the activation of AMPK by LKB1 in vitro (Taylor et al 2005). Moreover, they showed that the phosphorylation and activation of AMPK by LKB1 or AMPKK purified from the liver were inhibited by long chain acyl CoA esters such as palmitoyl CoA in vitro (Taylor et al 2005). Whether these in vitro observations are involved in the regulation of AMPK by fatty acids in intact cells is unknown.

(n) Contraction

The activation of AMPK seen during skeletal muscle contraction has been attributed to the increase in AMP/ATP associated with contraction (Hutber *et al* 1997; Park *et al* 2002). However, Toyoda *et al* recently demonstrated that low intensity contraction of skeletal muscle caused an increase in the Thr172 phosphorylation and activation of α 1 AMPK without any changes in the total AMP/ATP (Toyoda *et al* 2006). This could be due to the activation of AMPK by a small or localised change in the free AMP concentration which would not be detected by total cellular adenine nucleotide measurements by HPLC. However, the authors argue that this possibility is unlikely because they did not observe an activation of α 2 AMPK, which is more sensitive to AMP than α 1 AMPK (Section 1.6.2) during the low intensity contraction. Thus there is the possibility that in addition to AMP/ATP, some other factor is also involved in the activation of AMPK during muscle contraction (Toyoda *et al* 2006). Compared to skeletal muscle, in the heart, the AMP/ATP ratio remains relatively constant during increased contractile activity. However, an increase in the AMP/ATP ratio during increased contractile activity has been reported in the heart and there have been observations suggesting that increased cardiac contractile activity activates AMPK by increasing the AMP/ATP ratio under some conditions (Section 1.7). Beauloye *et al* have shown that an acute increase in contraction induced by increasing afterload in perfused hearts does not increase AMP or AMPK activity, suggesting cardiac muscle contraction alone (without an increase in AMP) does not activate AMPK (Beauloye *et al* 2002). However, these authors also demonstrated that PKB was activated by increased contraction (Beauloye *et al* 2002). These observations apparently contradict the inhibition of cardiac AMPK by PKB.

(o) Myocardial ischemia

Cardiac ischemia is associated with an increase in AMP/ATP and activation of AMPK through the phosphorylation of Thr172 (Kudo et al 1995; Baron et al 2005). Sakamoto et al studied the role of LKB1 in the activation of AMPK during ischemia using transgenic mice lacking cardiac expression of LKB1 (Sakamoto et al 2006). The deletion of LKB1 in the heart prevented the increase in the Thr172 phosphorylation of AMPK in response to ischemia, suggesting that LKB1 mediates the activation of AMPK during ischemia (Sakamoto et al 2006). However ischemia has been shown to have no effect on the catalytic activity of LKB1, as measured by in vitro phosphorylation of recombinant AMPK by LKB1 immunoprecipitated from the ischemic heart, or on the protein abundance of LKB1, although LKB1 purified from the heart is able to phosphorylate $\alpha 312$ (the truncated catalytic subunit which can be phosphorylated and activated in the absence of AMP), confirming the constitutive activity of LKB1 (Sakamoto et al 2006; Altarejos et al 2005). Thus, as suggested for the other AMP/ATP-raising conditions, the phosphorylation of Thr172 by LKB1 during ischemia is also likely to be due to the effect of AMP to make AMPK a better substrate for LKB1, rather than a change in LKB1 catalytic activity.

Recent studies suggest that in addition to LKB1, the activation of AMPK during ischemia also involves some other AMPKK which, unlike LKB1, is activated by ischemia. In the aforementioned study by Sakamoto *et al*, whereas the Thr172 phosphorylation of $\alpha 2$ AMPK induced by ischemia was completely abolished,

ischemia could still increase the Thr172 phosphorylation of a1 AMPK in the LKB1deficient hearts (Sakamoto et al 2006). This suggests that LKB1 is the major AMPKK mediating the α^2 AMPK activation during ischemia but α^1 AMPK is also activated by some other AMPKK, as well as by LKB1 (Sakamoto et al 2006). Altarejos et al found that although LKB1 can be completely precipitated with 5% PEG6000 and it is not present in the supernatant, AMPKK activity still remained in the supernatant and this AMPKK activity was increased by ischemia (Altarejos et al 2005). Moreover, Baron et al have shown that the total AMPKK activity present in a heart homogenate is increased by ischemia (Baron et al 2005). Given that LKB1 activity is not increased by ischemia, this result further supports the idea that the activation of AMPK during ischemia involves an AMPKK whose catalytic activity is activated by ischemia. Whether this AMPKK is a CAMKK or a yet unidentified AMPKK is unknown. The mechanism by which ischemia activates this AMPKK also remains to be determined. AMP does not appear to activate this AMPKK as the total cardiac AMPKK in the study by Baron et al was not directly activated by AMP in vitro (Baron et al 2005).

Recent studies have revealed that mild ischemia or hypoxia increases Thr172 phosphorylation and AMPK activity without affecting AMP/ATP or Cr/CrP (Altarejos et al 2005; Frederich et al 2005). This raises the possibility that during severe ischemia, AMPK is activated by two parallel pathways; the AMP pathway and a pathway which is independent of AMP but dependent on some factors that are generated or activated during mild ischemia or hypoxia. Altarejos et al observed that the activity of the non-LKB1 AMPKK present in the 5% PEG6000 supernatant was increased by mild ischemia (Altarejos et al 2005). Thus, this non-LKB1 AMPKK may be responsible for the activation of AMPK during hypoxia/mild ischemia and for AMP-independent activation of AMPK during severe ischemia. However the involvement of LKB1 in the AMP-independent activation of AMPK during ischemia/hypoxia cannot be ruled out because it is conceivable that 'non-AMP factors' may stimulate the phosphorylation of AMPK by LKB1 by modifying the interaction of AMPK with LKB1 or by modifying a property of AMPK such as the affinity of AMPK for AMP. Supporting the latter possibility, Frederich et al have shown that hypoxia increases the sensitivity of AMPK to stimulation by AMP (Frederich et al 2005).
(p) Adrenergic receptors

Since the initial report by Moule and Denton that isoproterenol increased Thr172 and AMPK activity in epididymal fat cells (Moule and Denton 1998), several groups have reported the activation of AMPK through adrenergic receptors in the Chinese hamster ovary cells (Kishi et al 2000), skeletal muscle (Minokoshi et al 2002; Hutchinson and Bengtsson 2006), white adipocytes (Yin et al 2003; Daval et al 2005) and brown adipocytes (Inokuma et al 2005; Hutchinson et al 2005). Although these studies did not investigate the signalling mechanism linking the adrenergic receptors to AMPK in great detail, the adrenergic activation of AMPK in adipocytes was shown to be exclusively mediated by the β receptor and the cAMP pathway (Yin et al 2003; Daval et al 2005; Hutchinson et al 2005), while that in skeletal muscle was shown to be exclusively mediated by the α_1 receptor (Hutchinson and Bengtsson 2006). The effect of the α_1 adrenergic stimulation on AMPK in skeletal muscle was also shown to be independent of changes in the AMP/ATP ratio, but it appeared to involve Ca^{2+} (Hutchinson and Bengtsson 2006). It is not clear whether the effect in adipocytes was due to an increase in the AMP/ATP ratio. Inokuma et al reported an increase in AMP/ATP after noradrenaline stimulation in brown adipocytes, possibly due to the activation of the uncoupling protein, UCP1 (Inokuma et al 2005). However, a subsequent study by Hutchinson et al using UCP1 knock-out brown adipocytes showed UCP1 was not necessary for AMPK activation by noradrenaline, although the effect of noradrenaline on AMP/ATP in UCP1-null adipocytes was not determined (Hutchinson et al 2005). No measurements of AMP/ATP were made in the other studies reporting adrenergic activation of AMPK in adipocytes. The effect in adipocytes could also be due to β adrenergic stimulation of lipolysis and an increase in long chain fatty acids which have been shown to activate AMPK (Section 1.6.5.m).

1.7 The possibility of the regulation of AMPK through adrenergic receptors in the heart

Clarifying an effect of adrenergic receptor stimulation on the AMPK activity in the heart is important because it may be possible that, given the emerging role of AMPK

as a key regulator of many metabolic processes in the heart (Section 1.6.1), some of the biological effects of adrenergic receptor stimulation are mediated through the regulation of AMPK. This possibility is supported by the recent observations by Hutchinson and Bengtsson that inhibiting AMPK abolished α_1 receptor-mediated glucose uptake in skeletal muscle and partially blocked β receptor-mediated glucose uptake in brown adipocytes (Hutchinson and Bengtsson 2006; Hutchinson et al 2005). In the heart, in addition to regulating glucose uptake and fuel metabolism, AMPK is thought to be involved in cardiac hypertrophy and apoptosis, although the precise roles of AMPK in these processes are still not clear (Dyck and Lopaschuk 2006). As summarised in the Figure 1.4, the stimulation of cardiac adrenergic receptors activates a number of pathways that could potentially activate or inhibit AMPK activity. These include the activation of PKA, PKC and Ca²⁺, which have been shown to activate AMPK in non-cardiac tissues (Sections 1.6.5.g and h), and PKB, which has been shown to inhibit AMPK in the heart (Section 1.6.5.e). The stimulation of adrenergic receptors also increases cardiac muscle contraction which could activate AMPK by the AMP/ATP-dependent pathway. However, An et al have reported that isoproterenol has no effect on AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation in perfused hearts or in isolated myocytes (An et al 2005). Moreover, Clark et al have shown that adrenaline does not change AMPK activity in isolated hearts perfused with glucose as a sole substrate (Clark et al 2004). These results suggest that, unlike in skeletal muscle and adjpocytes, neither α nor β receptor stimulation directly alters AMPK activity in the heart.

However, the possibility that adrenergic stimulation of contraction activates AMPK through an AMP/ATP-dependent pathway under some conditions can not be ruled out. Studies with perfused hearts have reported different effects of adrenergic stimulation on cardiac AMP/ATP. AMP/ATP is unaffected by adrenergic stimulation in some studies (Collins-Nakai *et al* 1994; Goodwin and Taegtmeyer 1999) and presumably in the aforementioned studies by An *et al* and Clark *et al*, while it is increased in the other studies (Goodwin *et al* 1998b). This is likely to be due to the difference in the intensity of the stimulation, the metabolic substrates included in the perfusion media, or the mode of the perfusion (Langendorff vs. working heart mode). No studies have directly correlated the increase in AMP/ATP during adrenergic



Adrenaline/noradrenaline

Figure 1.4 The hypothetical regulation of cardiac AMPK by adrenergic agonists

Dotted lines indicate hypothetical pathways based on observations in non-cardiac tissues, or pathways which are still controversial. See text for details.

stimulation to the AMPK activity in perfused hearts. *In vivo* administration of isoproterenol increased AMPK Thr172 phsophorylation in the heart possibly due to the increased heart contraction, although no measurements of AMP/ATP were made (An *et al* 2005). However, other investigators reported that infusion of dobutamine in swine did not cause activation of cardiac AMPK (King *et al* 2005). Again, these differences in *in vivo* observations could be due to the difference in the intensity of contraction. In the former study, the heart was isolated one hour after the isoproterenol injection whereas the heart in the latter study was stimulated for 15 minutes. This possibility is supported by the studies by Coven *et al* and Musi *et al* investigating the effect of exercise, which is known to increase plasma catecholamines (Wadley *et al* 2006), on the activation of AMPK in the heart. Low intensity exercise (10 minutes treadmill running) did not cause activation of cardiac AMPK, while moderate (16 minutes running) and high intensity (32 minutes or 30 minutes running) exercise decreased the cardiac high energy phosphates and caused a graded activation of AMPK in the heart (Coven *et al* 2003; Musi *et al* 2005).

The finding that long chain fatty acids activate AMPK in the perfused heart and in neonatal cardiac myocytes (Section 1.6.5.m) raises the possibility that in vivo, catecholamines may activate cardiac AMPK by increasing plasma fatty acids. However, in the aforementioned study by Clark *et al*, it was discovered that although adrenaline did not affect the AMPK activity in the heart perfused with glucose alone, it completely abolished the activation of $\alpha 2$ AMPK (the predominant cardiac isoform (Section 1.6.2)) by palmitate (Clark et al 2004). This finding implies that in vivo, most of the activation of cardiac AMPK due to the increased supply of fatty acids would be counteracted during adrenergic stimulation. Although detailed information regarding the time-course of the effect of fatty acids to activate AMPK is not available, the effect was not found to be transient in both perfused heart and neonatal myocytes (Clark et al 2004; Hickson-Bick et al 2000). Thus, given that the heart is constantly exposed to fatty acids, it may be possible that there is a tonic activation of cardiac AMPK by fatty acids in vivo. If this turned out to be the case, the adrenergic stimulation *in vivo* would be expected to not only counteract the activation of AMPK by the increased fatty acids supply but also decrease the activity of $\alpha 2$ AMPK in the heart to the level below the unstimulated level. To date, this possibility has not been conclusively examined. Several in vivo studies have shown cardiac AMPK is not

inhibited during exercise or in response to infusion of β agonists (Coven *et al* 2003; Musi *et al* 2005; An *et al* 2005; King *et al* 2005). However, the interpretations of some of these studies are complicated by activation of AMPK secondary to an increase in AMP/ATP. In addition, the effect of α_1 -receptor stimulation has not been directly examined *in vivo* (e.g. by infusion of α_1 agonists).

The pathway by which fatty acids covalently activate AMPK and how adrenaline inhibits this effect are unknown. The observation that adrenaline only inhibited the activation of $\alpha 2$ AMPK, despite the activation of both $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ AMPK by palmitate, suggests that adrenergic signalling directly acts on the $\alpha 2$ AMPK complex or the proteins specifically associated with $\alpha 2$ AMPK, rather than blocking the conversion of fatty acids to the metabolite that activates AMPK. The activation of AMPK by fatty acids was found to be independent of changes in AMP/ATP. It is not known whether adrenaline inhibits the activation of AMPK by other conditions that are known to activate AMPK independently of AMP/ATP such as hyperosmotic stress. The activation of cardiac AMPK by high intensity exercise may suggest that adrenaline does not inhibit the activation of AMPK through an increase in AMP/ATP, although this needs to be clarified.

1.8 The purpose of the present study

The purpose of the present study was to investigate further the observation made by Clark *et al* (Clark *et al* 2004) that adrenaline inhibited the increase in AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation and activity induced by palmitate in the heart. Specifically, I sought to elucidate the adrenergic signalling pathways involved in this effect and get some insights into the mechanism by which adrenergic signalling prevents the phosphorylation of AMPK Thr172. I also tried to determine whether this inhibitory effect was specific for the activation of AMPK by long chain fatty acids, or if it could also prevent the activation of AMPK by other conditions such as hyperosmotic stress and AMP-raising treatments. The use of quiescent cardiac myocytes is suited for this purpose for several reasons. First, it allows determination of whether the effect of palmitate and adrenaline observed in perfused hearts was dependent on noncardiac myocytes (e.g. endothelial cells) in the whole heart. Second, because myocytes from the same hearts can be incubated under multiple different conditions, effects of different treatments (e.g. inhibitors and activators of adrenergic signalling pathways) on the effect adrenaline on AMPK can be more efficiently investigated than in perfused hearts. Lastly, the use of quiescent cardiac myocytes is suited for the elucidation of the specific effects of adrenaline on different AMPK-activating conditions because it eliminates the possibility of AMPK activation due to an increase in AMP/ATP that might occur during adrenergic stimulation in the contracting heart.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Commercial preparations

All routinely used chemicals and chemicals which are not specified below were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich or BDH (VWR International).

Purified water used for cardiac myocyte isolation was from BDH (VWR International).

O₂:CO₂ (95%:5%) cylinders were from BOC Ltd.

Sodium pentobarbitone was from Merial.

Collagenase Type 2 and hyaluronidase were from Worthington Biochemical Corporation.

DNase I was from Roche.

(-)-Epinephrine bitartrate, (-)-isoproterenol hydrochloride, (R)-(-)-phenylephrine hydrochloride, phentolamine hydrochloride, (+/-)-propranolol hydrochloride, forskolin, dibutyryl cyclic AMP sodium salt, 8-(4-chlorophenylthio)-2'-O-methyladenosine 3', 5'-cyclic monophosphate (8-CPT-2'-O-Me-cAMP) sodium salt, insulin, wortmannin, D-sorbitol, phenformin hydrochloride, phorbol-12-myristate-

76

13-acetate, BSA (essentially fatty acid free, fraction V), palmitic acid sodium salt, protein G-Sepharose and bicinchoninic acid protein assay kit were from Sigma-Aldrich.

NEFA C Test kit was from Wako Chemicals Inc.

AICAR, oligomycin, and KN93 were from Calbiochem (Merck Biosciences).

Anti-AMPKα1 antibody (sheep) was from Prof. David Carling, Clinical Sciences Centre, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College London.

Anti-AMPK α 2 antibody (goat), anti-phospho-Ser16 PLB antibody (rabbit) and antiphospho-Thr17 PLB antibody (rabbit) were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.

SAMS peptide was from Cambridge Research Biochemicals.

 $[\gamma^{-33}P]$ ATP, $[9,10^{-3}H]$ palmitate, and $[U^{-14}C]$ -glucose were from N.E.N.

Anti-phospho-Thr172 AMPKα antibody (rabbit), anti-phospho-Ser485/491 AMPKα antibody (rabbit), anti-AMPKα antibody (rabbit), anti-phospho-Ser79 ACC1 antibody (rabbit), anti-ACC antibody (rabbit), anti-phospho-Thr308 PKB antibody (rabbit), anti-phospho-Ser473 PKB antibody (rabbit), anti-PKB antibody (rabbit), HRP-linked anti-rabbit secondary antibody and ECL detection kit (LumiGLOTMReagent and Peroxide) were from Cell Signalling Technology.

IRDyeTM800-conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibody was from Rockland.

Odyssey blocking buffer was from Licor.

NuPAGE® 4-12% Bis-Tris gels, PVDF membranes, and buffers used for SDS-PAGE and western blotting (NuPAGE® LDS Sample Buffer, Sample Reducing Agent, Antioxidant, MOPS SDS Running Buffer, and Transfer Buffer) were from Invitrogen.

2.2 Laboratory preparations

2.2.1 Palmitate bound to albumin

Sodium palmitate was added to a solution containing 15% (w/v) of bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 0.9% (w/v) NaCl (250mg sodium palmitate was added per 50ml of the solution). The mixture was sonicated in a sonicating water bath until an even mixture was obtained. The mixture was incubated at 50°C for 30 minutes followed by incubation at 4°C overnight. Undissolved sodium palmitate was removed by filtration through Whatman No.1 filter paper at 4°C, followed by centrifugation at 26,000g for 30 minutes at 4°C in a Beckman Sorvall RC5-B centrifuge. The supernatant was collected and the pH was adjusted to 7.4 with NaOH. After determining the concentration of palmitate bound to albumin (Section 2.13), the preparation was aliquoted and stored at -20°C.

2.2.2 AMPK antibody bound to protein G

0.4ml of Protein G-Sepharose was washed twice with Hepes Buffer containing 50mM Hepes pH7.4, 50mM NaF, 5mM Na₄P₂O₇, 10% (v/v) glycerol, 1mM EDTA, and 1mM dithiothreitol (DTT). 100µl of either anti- α 1 or α 2 AMPK antiserum, or pre-immune goat/sheep serum (as controls) was added to 0.8ml of Protein G: Hepes Buffer (1:1, v/v) and mixed overnight at 4°C. Protein G-Sepharose bound to AMPK antibodies/non-immune serum proteins was collected by centrifuging at 5200g for 1min at 4°C, washed twice with 1ml of Hepes Buffer, resuspended in Hepes Buffer (1:1, v/v), and stored at 4°C until used.

2.3 Animals

Animals used were male Sprague Dawley rats weighing 200-350g bred in the Biological Service Unit at University College London. Rats were maintained at 20-22°C with constant access to drinking water and to Rat and Mouse Breeding Diet (Special Diet Services, Witham, Essex, UK) containing 21% protein, 4% fat, 39% starches and sugars. Rats were exposed to 13 hours of light between 0600 and 1900h.

2.4 Heart perfusion

Rats were anesthetised by an intraperitoneal injection of sodium pentobarbitone (300mg/Kg). Hearts were removed and placed in ice-cold Krebs Henseleit Bicarbonate Buffer (KHB) (25mM NaHCO₃, 118.5mM NaCl, 4.7mM KCl, 1.2mM MgSO₄, 1.2mM KH₂PO₄, pH7.4) containing 5mM glucose and 1.3mM CaCl₂, followed by retrograde perfusion through the aorta, as previously described (Mowbray and Ottaway 1973), with KHB containing 2% (w/v) BSA, 1.3mM CaCl₂, 5mM glucose with or without palmitate bound to albumin (Section 2.2.1) as specified. The perfusion medium was constantly gassed with O₂:CO₂ (95%:5%) and maintained at 37°C. The perfusion pressure (preload) was 70 ± 5 cm H₂O and the perfusion rate was approximately 15ml/min. All hearts were initially perfused for 5 minutes in non-recirculation mode to remove blood and endogenous hormones. Perfusion was then continued for further 60 minutes with recirculating perfusate, except for the hearts perfused with adrenaline, which were perfused in nonrecirculation mode for the entire perfusion period. At the end of perfusion, hearts were excised from the cannula and freeze-clamped using tongs pre-cooled to the temperature of liquid N₂. Frozen hearts were powdered under liquid N₂ and stored in liquid N₂.

2.5 Adult rat cardiac myocyte isolation

The buffers used in the isolation procedure were Buffer A consisting of KHB + 10mM glucose + 1.3mM CaCl₂, Buffer B consisting of KHB + 10mM glucose + 0.1mM EGTA, Buffer C consisting of KHB + 10mM glucose + 0 to 5 μ M added CaCl₂, Wash Buffer consisting of KHB + 10mM glucose + 0.2mM CaCl₂ + 2% BSA + 0.5mg/ml DNase I, and Resuspension Buffer consisting of KHB + 1.3mM CaCl₂ + 2% BSA + 5mM glucose with or without 0.5mM palmitate as indicated. All buffers were prepared with purified H₂O with minimal contamination with Ca²⁺. Buffers (except for ice-cold Buffer A) were maintained at 37°C and constantly gassed with O₂:CO₂ (95%:5%). Rats were anaesthetised and hearts were removed to ice-cold Buffer A, followed by a brief washout perfusion at 37°C with Buffer A as described above. After perfusion with recirculating Buffer A for 10 minutes, the perfusate was

switched to Buffer B and Ca^{2+} was washed from the heart and perfusion tubing by non-recirculating perfusion with approximately 100ml of Buffer B. Perfusion with Buffer B was continued for a further 5 minutes followed by washing with Buffer C to remove EGTA. Hearts were then perfused with Buffer C containing 0.1% (w/v) BSA, 1mg/ml collagenase (type 2), and 0.4mg/ml hyaluronidase for 20 to 30 minutes until the heart became soft. The exact amount of Ca^{2+} added to Buffer C (<5 μ M) depended on the batch of digestive enzymes and the level of Ca^{2+} contamination, and was determined empirically. Myocytes were gently dispersed in Buffer C containing 0.1% BSA, lmg/ml collagenase, 0.4mg/ml hyaluronidase, and 0.5mg/ml DNase I by shaking in a water bath (37°C) (~150 oscillations/min) for 10 minutes with gassing $(O_2:CO_2 (95\%:5\%))$. DNase I was included to minimise the loss of myocytes due to clumping of the cells by DNA released from dead cells. The digested heart was filtered through nylon mesh and the cells were allowed to settle under gravity for 5 minutes at 37°C. The supernatant, which contained non-settled dead cells, was removed and the cell pellet was resuspended in Wash Buffer. Myocytes were again allowed to settle under gravity for 3 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the cells were resuspended in fresh Wash Buffer. The Ca²⁺ concentration was then gradually increased every 2 minutes (0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1, 1.3mM) while the cells were shaken gently at 37°C with gassing (O₂:CO₂ (95%:5%)). Finally, myocytes were allowed to settle under gravity for 5 minutes and the cell pellet was resuspended in Resuspension Buffer (cells:buffer 1:10 (v/v)) as a Cell Stock. Except for measurements of glucose and palmitate oxidation, myocytes were incubated in a total volume of 2ml (0.67ml of Cell Stock + 1.33ml of Resuspension Buffer) in siliconised glass scintillation vials at 37°C with gentle shaking and gassing with O₂:CO₂ (95%:5%). At the end of incubation, cells were collected by centrifugation at 950g at 0°C for 20 seconds. Cells were then quickly washed twice with 0.5ml of icecold BSA free buffer (KHB + 1.3mM CaCl₂ + 5mM glucose). This step was necessary because BSA was found to interfere with the detection of the AMPKa subunit by western blotting. Cells were finally frozen in liquid N2 and stored in liquid N_2 .

2.6 Measurement of cardiac myocyte viability

The viability was determined using a hemocytometer and trypan blue (0.4%) which stains non-viable cells. Under the light microscope, healthy adult rat cardiac myocytes display elongated (rod-shaped) morphology with visible cross striations. Damaged cells appear short (hypercontracted) or spherical. Viability was determined as the percentage of rod-shaped cells which excluded trypan blue. Cells which excluded trypan blue but were hypercontracted or spherical were not considered viable.

2.7 Measurement of glucose oxidation by myocytes

The incubation medium was palmitate-free Resuspension Buffer gassed with $O_2:CO_2$ (95%:5%) (Section 2.5) containing 5mM [U-¹⁴C] glucose (approximately 20µCi/mmol). Myocytes were incubated at 37°C with gentle shaking in a total volume of 2.5ml (0.5ml Cell Stock + 2ml buffer) in sealed siliconised metabolic flasks fitted with centre wells. At the end of the indicated incubation period, 0.2ml of 60% perchloric acid (PCA) and 0.5ml of 1M benzethonium hydroxide were injected through the stopper to the outer compartment (containing myocytes) and the centre well, respectively. After a further 60 minutes incubation to collect [¹⁴C] CO₂, the contents of centre wells were transferred to scintillation vials and 10ml of Ecoscint A was added. The radioactivity was measured by scintillation counting (Section 2.14).

2.8 Measurement of palmitate oxidation by myocytes

Myocytes were incubated as above (Section 2.7) except that the incubation medium contained 5mM glucose and 0.5mM [9,10-³H] palmitate (approximately 18µCi/mmol). At the end of the indicated incubation period, PCA was added to the cells as above. [³H] H₂O was separated from [9,10-³H] palmitate by the method used by Saddik and Lopaschuk (Saddik and Lopaschuk 1991). 0.5ml of incubation medium was mixed with 1.88ml of chloroform:methanol (1:2, v/v). 0.625ml of chloroform and 0.625ml of 2M KCl:2M HCl (v/v) were then added. The mixture was vortexed and centrifuged at 2000g at room temperature. The upper aqueous phase

was collected and 0.3ml of chloroform, 0.3ml of methanol, and 0.27ml of 2M KCI:2M HCl were added. The mixture was vortexed and centrifuged as above. The volume of aqueous phase was measured and a 1ml sample was transferred to a scintillation vial and 10ml Ecoscint A was added for scintillation counting. The efficiency of $[^{3}H]$ H₂O extraction with this method was estimated to be 85-90%.

2.9 AMPK activity assay

Frozen myocytes were sonicated (3 X 7 seconds) in 0.5ml of ice-cold Sonication Buffer containing 50mM Tris/HCl pH 7.5, 1mM EDTA, 1mM EGTA, 50mM NaF, 5mM Na₄P₂O₇, 10% glycerol (v/v), 1% Triton X-100 (v/v), 1mM DTT, 1mM phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 1mM benzamidine, and 4µg/ml soybean trypsin inhibitor. The cell lysate was centrifuged at 13,000g for 10 minutes at 4°C and 60µl of the supernatant was incubated at 4 °C for 2 hours with either anti-AMPK antibody or pre-immune serum prebound to Protein G-Sepharose (Section 2.2.2). The volumes of antibody/Protein G Sepharose used for immunoprecipitation were 15 and $20\mu l$ for $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ AMPK, respectively. These volumes were chosen because they were found to maximally immunoprecipitate AMPK activity from the supernatant. After binding, the immunoprecipitates were collected by centrifugation at 5,200g for 1 minute at 4°C and washed once with 200µl of Sonication Buffer and twice with AMPK Assay Buffer (40mM Hepes pH7, 80mM NaCl, 0.8mM EDTA, 8% glycerol (v/v), and 800µM DTT) by centrifuging as above. The immunoprecipitates were then incubated at 37°C with gentle shaking in a final volume of 50µl of AMPK Assay Buffer which 200µM SAMS additionally contained peptide (HMRSAMSGLHLVKRR), 200μM [γ-³³P] ATP (100-500 dpm/pmol), 5mM MgCl₂, and 200 μ M AMP. The reaction was started by addition of [γ -³³P] ATP. The assay measures incorporation of ³³P to SAMS peptide (Davies et al 1989), which is based on the sequence surrounding the AMPK phosphorylation site (Ser79) of ACC1, with mutation of Ser77 to alanine to prevent phosphorylation by PKA and addition of two arginines to allow recovery of SAMS peptide by ion exchange after the reaction. The reaction was stopped after 30 minutes by spotting the reaction mixture onto squares of P81 Whatman phosphocellulose ion exchange paper which were then immersed in 1% (v/v) orthophosphoric acid. SAMS peptide phosphorylated with ^{33}P was

separated from $[\gamma^{-33}P]$ ATP by washing the papers twice in 1% orthophosphoric acid followed by two washes in distilled H₂O (10 minutes each). The papers were airdried and transferred to scintillation vials and 10 ml of Ecoscint A was added before radioactivity was counted by a scintillation counter. Because $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ antibodies were raised in sheep and goat, respectively, activity immunoprecipitated with sheep/goat pre-immune serum prebound to Protein G-Sepharose was used as a blank to account for non-selective binding of AMPK with serum proteins and/or Protein G-Sepharose and was subtracted from the activity immunoprecipitated with anti-AMPK antibodies. AMPK activity was expressed either as the percentage of AMPK activity of myocytes incubated under control conditions (as indicated in the figures/tables) or as pmol of ATP incorporated to SAMS peptide per mg of the 13,000g supernatant protein per min. Although 200µM AMP was always included in the assay, preliminary experiments confirmed the allosteric activation of immunoprecipitated AMPK by AMP (Figure 2.1). AMPK activity also increased linearly during the assay time (30 minutes) and showed a good linear correlation with the concentration of 13,000g supernatant protein within the range of concentrations typically used (Figure 2.2).

For heart samples, frozen, powdered heart was weighed and homogenised on ice using an Ultra Turrax tissue disintegrator (100mg of tissue/ml) in Homogenisation Buffer containing 50mM Tris/HCl pH7.8, 0.25M mannitol, 1mM EDTA, 1mM EGTA, 50mM NaF, 5mM Na₄P₂O₇, 1mM DTT, 1mM PMSF, 1mM benzamidine, and 4 μ g/ml soybean trypsin inhibitor. The 13,000g supernatant was obtained and AMPK was immunoprecipitated and assayed as above, except that the immunoprecipitate was washed with Homogenisation Buffer instead of Sonication Buffer. AMPK activity of heart samples was expressed as pmol of ATP incorporated to SMAS peptide per minute per mg of the 13,000g supernatant protein.

2.10 Western blotting

Myocytes were lysed as above (Section 2.9) and proteins in 15-25µl of the 13,000g supernatant were separated by sodium dodecylsulphate polyacrylamide gel



Figure 2.1 Time-course of AMPK activity assay and the allosteric effect of AMP

 $\alpha 2$ AMPK immunoprecipitated from cardiac myocyte 13,000g supernatant was assayed for the indicated time in the presence or absence of 200 μ M AMP, as described in Section 2.9. n=4



Figure 2.2 The relationship between AMPK activity and protein concentration of the 13,000g supernatant

Samples of 13,000g supernatant with different protein concentrations were prepared from the same myocyte preparation. $\alpha 2$ AMPK was immunoprecipitated from the supernatants and AMPK was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP as described in Section 2.9. n=1

electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) under denaturing and reducing conditions on 4-12% Bis-Tris gels, and transferred to polyvinyldene difluoride (PVDF) membranes. Phospho-AMPK Thr172, phospho-AMPK Ser485/491, phospho-PKB Thr308, phospho-PKB Ser473, phospho-ACC Ser79/227, total AMPKa, total PKB, and total ACC were detected by chemiluminescence (Fujifilm LAS-1000 Image Reader) with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody and chemiluminescent substrate (luminol). For these measurements, primary and secondary antibodies were diluted (1/1000 dilution) in Tris Buffered Saline (TBS) (20mM Tris/HCl pH7.6, 137mM NaCl) containing 5% (w/v) BSA and 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20. Secondary antibody used for detection of phospho-AMPK Ser485/491 was diluted in the same buffer which additionally contained 0.01% SDS. 5% (w/v) milk powder in TBS + 0.1% Tween-20 was used to block membranes except for membranes probed with anti-phospho-AMPK Ser485/491 antibody, which was blocked with 5% BSA in TBS + 0.1% Tween-20. Band intensities were quantified with Fujifilm Multi Gauge software. After measurements of phospho-AMPK, ACC, or PKB, membranes were stripped by incubating with 62.5mM Tris/HCl buffer, pH 6.7, containing 0.8% (w/v) β -mercaptoethanol and 2% (w/v) SDS at 50°C for 30 minutes, and reprobed with antibodies against total AMPK, ACC, or PKB. Phosphorylation of PLB Ser16 and Thr17 were detected and quantified using secondary antibody conjugated with infrared dye (IRDyeTM800) and an Odyssey infrared imaging system. For detection of PLB phosphorylation, membranes were blocked with Odyssey blocking buffer. Anti-phospho-PLB antibodies and secondary antibody were diluted (1/200 (primary antibodies) and 1/2000 (secondary antibody)) in Odyssey blocking buffer + 0.1% Tween-20.

2.11 Measurements of adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds

Adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds were measured by ion-pair reverse phase HPLC as described by Sellevold *et al* (Sellevold *et al* 1986). The column used was a 150 X 4.6mm Nucleosil C18 column with particle size of 5 μ m and pore size of 100Å. The mobile phase consisted of 215mM KH₂PO₄, 2.3mM tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulphate (TBAHS), and 3.5% (v/v) acetonitrile. The pH was adjusted to 6.25 with 10M KOH. The mobile phase was filtered through a 0.22 μ m Millipore filter and degassed before use. 200µl of ice-cold 0.21M PCA was added to frozen myocytes and the mixture was vortexed. Following centrifugation at 13,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C, perchloric ion in 150µl of the supernatant was precipitated with 1M KOH which was added in sufficient amount to precipitate most of the perchloric ion in the extract whilst maintaining an acidic pH. The precise amount was determined by titration of a sample extract and the usual amount was 20-40µl. Potassium perchlorate precipitates were removed by centrifuging at 13,000g for 2 minutes at 4°C, and 450µl of the mobile phase was added to 50µl of the supernatant. The samples diluted with the mobile phase were filtered through a 0.22µM filter and 50µl was injected onto the column which was pre-equilibriated with the mobile phase. Adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds were eluted isocratically at ambient temperature. The flow rate was 1.0ml/min and each run lasted for 20 minutes. Elution of creatine compounds and adenine nucleotides was detected by changes in absorbance at 206nm using a Waters tunable absorbance detector, and the elution profile was stored and processed using Millennium 2010 software. Peaks for creatine, creatine phosphate, ATP, ADP, and AMP were identified by comparison of the retention times with standards (Figure 2.3). In order to ensure that the standards had a similar amount of residual PCA as the samples, the standards were prepared in 0.21M PCA which was partially neutralised with the same amount of 1M KOH as used in the preparation of the samples, and diluted ten times with the mobile phase before injection onto the column. Amounts of adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds were determined by the comparison of peak areas and peak heights, respectively, with those of the standards. In order to establish whether this method is sensitive enough to accurately measure the small amounts of adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds present in myocyte samples, standards were prepared in the range of concentrations similar to those seen in myocyte samples. Peak areas or peak heights showed a good linear correlation with the amount of adenine nucleotides or creatine compounds (Figures 2.4 and 2.5). Adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds in heart samples were determined as above except that 0.2g of powdered frozen heart was homogenised on ice (1 minute) in 2ml of 0.21M PCA using an Ultra Turrax tissue disintegrator.



Figure 2.3 A chromatogram of standard solutions of ATP, ADP, AMP, creatine, and creatine phosphate



Figure 2.4 The relationship between the amount of ATP, ADP, and AMP with the HPLC peak areas

Standard solutions of ATP, ADP, and AMP were analysed by HPLC as described in Section 2.11. n=1



Figure 2.5 The relationship between the amount of creatine and creatine phosphate with the HPLC peak heights

Standard solutions of creatine and creatine phosphate were analysed by HPLC as described in Section 2.11. n=1

2.12 Determination of protein concentration

Protein concentration was determined by a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) method. This method is based on the concentration-dependent reduction of alkaline Cu(II) to Cu(I) by proteins, and the chromogenic reaction of BCA with Cu(I). 10 μ l of samples were incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes with 200 μ l of BCA:copper (II) sulphate pentahydrate 4% solution (50:1, v/v) in a 96 well microtitre plate. After incubation, the absorbance at 570nm was determined using a Dynatech MR7000 spectrophotometer. BSA solutions (0.2-1mg/ml) were used as standards.

2.13 Determination of fatty acid concentration

The concentration of free fatty acids was assayed using a Wako NEFA C test kit. This assay is based on the oxidation of fatty acyl-CoA by acyl-CoA oxidase (ACOD) to 2,3-trans-enoyl-CoA. This reaction releases H_2O_2 , which, in the presence of peroxidase and 4-aminoantipyrine, allows the conversion of 3-methyl-N-ethyl-N-(β -hydroxyethyl)-aniline (MEHA) to a coloured compound. 10µl of samples were incubated in a 96 well microtitre plate at 37°C for 10 minutes with 67µl of Reagent A (50mM phosphate buffer pH6.9 containing 3mM MgCl₂, 0.3U/ml acyl-Coenzyme A synthetase, 3U/ml ascorbate oxidase, 3mg/ml ATP, 0.7mg/ml Coenzyme A, and 0.3mg/ml 4-aminoantipyrine). 133µl of Reagent B (1.2mM MEHA, 6.6U/ml ACOD and 7.5U/ml peroxidase) was then added and samples were incubated for further 10 minutes. The absorbance at 550nm was determined with a Dynatech MR7000 spectrophotometer. Oleate solutions (0.2-1mg/ml) were used as standards.

2.14 β-Scintillation counting

Radioactivity of ¹⁴C, ³H, and ³³P was measured using a PerkinElmer Tri-Carb 2900TR Liquid Scintillation Analyzer, which is equipped with software which corrected for quenching and allowed direct calculation of activity in disintegrations per minute (dpm).

2.15 Statistical methods

Values are given as means \pm S.E.M. Values of n indicate numbers of independent myocyte preparations or perfused hearts. Statistical significance was determined using Students t-test for paired (myocyte data) and unpaired samples (heart data). The following symbols were used throughout in figures/tables to indicate statistical significance: a, P<0.05; b, P<0.025; c, P<0.01; d, P<0.005; e, P<0.0005; NS, not significant (P>0.05). Unless otherwise specified, these symbols indicate statistical significance of values compared to values of cells incubated under control conditions as indicated in legends to figures/tables.

Chapter 3: Results and Discussion

3.1 Cardiac myocyte isolation

Adult rat cardiac myocytes were isolated by an enzymatic perfusion method as detailed in Section 2.5. Key features of the procedure are (1) initial Ca^{2+} -free perfusion in the presence of EGTA, (2) digestion of hearts with a combination of collagenase and hyaluronidase in the presence of low Ca^{2+} , (3) mechanical dispersion of myocytes followed by stepwise reintroduction of physiological Ca²⁺ concentration. As reported by others, careful handling of Ca²⁺ concentration was found to be crucial for successful isolation of cardiac myocytes. Myocytes are usually isolated under low Ca^{2+} to assist their release from intercellular connections and extracellular matrix. One potential problem associated with this is the Ca²⁺ paradox, that is, the loss of viability due to Ca^{2+} overload and hypercontracture when Ca^{2+} is reintroduced to the cells after digestion of hearts under low Ca^{2+} conditions. It has been reported previously that gradual reintroduction of physiological Ca²⁺ concentration lessens the loss of viability caused by the Ca^{2+} paradox (Awan and Saggerson 1993). However, despite this technique, initial attempts to isolate myocytes in the presence of a low concentration of Ca^{2+} in the pre-perfusion (5µM) and enzyme perfusion (50µM) were unsuccessful. This was unlikely to be due to the Ca²⁺ paradox because cells were already non-viable before the reintroduction of a physiological concentration of Ca^{2+} . It was subsequently found that initial viability (before Ca^{2+} introduction) and the yield of Ca^{2+} -tolerant myocytes could be significantly improved if pre-perfusion and enzyme-perfusion were performed in the absence of added Ca²⁺. There are several explanations for this observation. It is

possible that too much Ca^{2+} during enzyme perfusion may damage myocytes due to excessive enzyme activity because collagenase and possibly other proteases present in commercially available collagenase preparations are activated by Ca^{2+} . Many investigators have also found that a short period of Ca^{2+} -free perfusion is necessary for isolation of viable cells (Tytgat 1994; Mitra and Morad 1985). This may be related to Ca²⁺-dependent loosening of the extracellular matrix (Mitra and Morad 1985) and intercellular connections (Wittenberg et al 1986). Wittenberg et al have reported that the concentration of Ca^{2+} has to be reduced to 5-14µM in order to dissociate the intercellular connections (Wittenberg et al 1986). A higher concentration of Ca^{2+} increased the proportion of the cells still attached to each other at the intercalated disc, and this was associated with a significant loss of viability, possibly because cells attached firmly to each other are vulnerable to a shearing force of dissociation which forcedly tears apart the cells causing membrane damage. Although hearts in the initial isolation attempts were exposed to Ca^{2+} concentration as low as 5μ M, it is possible that the actual concentration of Ca²⁺ was higher than that required for gentle separation of intercellular connections because of contamination from blood, chemicals, and the perfusion apparatus. Although the absence of added Ca^{2+} during the perfusion step could improve viability, over a time, this method showed a considerable variation in the cell viability which ranged from 0-90% even with the same enzyme batches. This was likely to be due to variation in Ca²⁺ contamination. In order to circumvent this problem, EGTA was included during the perfusion step. Addition of EGTA was generally found to improve initial viability and consistency. However, it was noted that in the presence of EGTA, hearts could not be satisfactorily digested due to inhibition of the activity of the dissociation enzymes. The mechanical dispersion of the inadequately digested heart still yielded viable cells but it was observed that these cells were shorter (hypercontracted) than the healthy cells and soon became spherical, possibly due to the damage caused by forced separation of the cells, and that the cells which were not immediately exposed to the buffer during mechanical dispersion became ischemic. Thus, a precise balance of beneficial and detrimental effects of Ca²⁺ was required. Based on these observations, in the final method, hearts were first perfused with Ca^{2+} -free buffer in the presence of EGTA, followed by enzyme perfusion in the presence of a small amount of added Ca^{2+} but in the absence of EGTA. The initial perfusion with EGTA ensured that that heart was exposed to sufficiently low Ca²⁺.

Omitting EGTA and adding a small amount of Ca^{2+} (<5µM) during the enzyme perfusion ensured adequate digestion of the heart and the gentle release of the myocytes without causing overdigestion. During enzyme perfusion, hyaluronidase was also used in combination with collagenase to facilitate the action of collagenase since heart collagen fibres are coated with a layer of glycoprotein. Addition of Ca^{2+} during enzyme perfusion, however, was not usually found to be required for adequate digestion of hearts, probably due to the presence of Ca^{2+} in the preparations of digestive enzymes. Appropriate amounts of Ca^{2+} were added when underdigestion of the heart was apparent. Consistent isolation of myocytes with reasonably high viability (60-80%) could be achieved with this method.

To assess the metabolic performance of isolated myocytes, glucose and palmitate oxidation by myocytes was determined. Linearity of the rates of glucose and palmitate oxidation for at least 1 hour indicated that the cells are metabolically active and there is no significant loss of viability during this period (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). The values for the rate of oxidation of glucose and palmitate were roughly in the range of values reported by other investigators. Montini *et al* reported glucose (5mM) and palmitate (0.4mM palmitate, 3% BSA) oxidation rates of approximately 1.4 and 0.7nmol/min/mg protein, respectively (Montini *et al* 1981). Burns and Reddy reported glucose (5mM) oxidation rate of approximately 0.7nmol/min/mg protein (Burns and Reddy 1977). The rates of glucose (5mM) and palmitate (0.5mM, 2% BSA) oxidation obtained in the present study were approximately 0.8 and 0.3nmol/min/mg protein, respectively.

3.2 The effect of adrenaline on cardiac AMPK activity

A previous study by Clark *et al* with perfused hearts found that adrenaline could antagonise activation of $\alpha 2$ AMPK by palmitate (Clark *et al* 2004). Because activation of the $\alpha 1$ isoform by palmitate was not affected by adrenaline (Clark *et al* 2004), it appeared likely that the inhibitory effect of adrenaline on $\alpha 2$ AMPK involved a direct modification of the $\alpha 2$ AMPK complex or proteins specifically associated with this isoform. In order to investigate this effect further, it was



Figure 3.1 Glucose oxidation by cardiac myocytes

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for indicated time in the presence of 5mM [U-¹⁴C] glucose. Glucose oxidation was estimated from ${}^{14}CO_2$ production. n=3



Figure 3.2 Exogenous palmitate oxidation by cardiac myocytes

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for indicated time in the presence of 5mM glucose and 0.5mM [9,11-³H] palmitate (2% BSA). Palmitate oxidation was estimated from ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ production. n=3

examined whether the effect could be reproduced in cardiac myocytes, an experimental system which is well-suited for dose/time-response analysis and for investigation of signalling pathways. As shown in Figure 3.3, incubation of myocytes with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate for 1 hour caused a significant 2.5-fold increase in $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity compared to incubation with 5mM glucose alone. The extent of activation of AMPK by 0.5mM palmitate seen in this experiment was comparable to that observed previously in perfused hearts. In the presence of glucose and palmitate, adrenaline (>0.5 μ M) decreased α 2 AMPK activity by approximately 50% (or inhibited the activation of α 2 AMPK by palmitate by approximately 70%) (Figure 3.3). The half maximal effect of this inhibitory effect (IC_{50}) was seen at approximately 0.1µM adrenaline. However, in contrast to the observation in perfused hearts that adrenaline did not affect AMPK activity in the absence of palmitate (Clark et al 2004), in cardiac myocytes, it was observed that adrenaline decreased AMPK activity to a similar extent (~40-50%) even in the absence of palmitate (Figures 3.4 and 3.16) or in myocytes which did not show a significant activation of AMPK by palmitate (Figure 3.4). Although 2- to 3-fold activation of AMPK by palmitate was consistently observed in the early stage of the present study when the experiment presented in Figure 3.3 was carried out, this marked activation of AMPK by palmitate could not be reproduced in the later experiments. The reason for this is unknown. Because the activation of AMPK by palmitate was found to be a rather slow process in the previous study with perfused hearts (the activation was apparent only after 1 hour of perfusion), it was examined whether extending the time of incubation from 1 hour to 2 hours could enhance the activation of AMPK by palmitate in the later myocyte preparations (Figure 3.4). Linearity of palmitate oxidation indicated myocytes were metabolising palmitate and that there was no marked loss of viability during this extended incubation period. However, no significant effect of palmitate on AMPK activity was observed even after 2 hours. Nonetheless, adrenaline still significantly decreased AMPK activity by ~50% in these cells in the presence of palmitate. These results suggest a direct inhibitory effect of adrenaline on cardiac AMPK activity, at least in isolated myocytes. The effect of adrenaline in cardiac myocytes was not dependent on the presence of glucose. Under conditions where palmitate had little or no effect on AMPK, 2µM adrenaline still decreased a2 AMPK activity of myocytes incubated with 0.5mM



Figure 3.3 The effect of palmitate on $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity and the dose-response curve of the inhibition of AMPK by adrenaline in cardiac myocytes

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose alone or with 5mM glucose + 0.5mM palmitate in the absence or presence of the indicated concentrations of adrenaline. $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated with 5mM glucose alone (without adrenaline). The letters above the data points indicate statistical significance compared to AMPK activity of cells incubated with 5mM glucose alone (without adrenaline). The letters below the data points indicate statistical significance compared to AMPK activity of cells incubated with 5mM glucose + 0.5mM palmitate in the absence of adrenaline. n=7-16



Figure 3.4 The presence of palmitate is not essential for the effect of adrenaline to decrease AMPK activity

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 2 hour with 5mM glucose alone (G) or 5mM glucose + 0.5mM palmitate (G+P) in the absence (open bar) or presence (filled bar) of 2μ M adrenaline. α 2AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated with 5mM glucose alone in the absence of adrenaline. n=3

palmitate alone by $41\pm4\%$ (P<0.005, n=4) after 1 hour. In the same myocytes preparations adrenaline decreased a2 AMPK activity of cells incubated with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate by $37\pm6\%$ (P<0.01, n=4). In the rest of the experiments presented here, myocytes were normally incubated in the presence of both 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate to ensure adequate fuelling of the cells. However, because these experiments were performed under conditions where palmitate had little or no effect on AMPK activity, these experiments effectively investigated the direct inhibitory effect¹ of adrenaline on AMPK activity in cardiac myocytes. At present, the possibility cannot be ruled out that this direct inhibitory effect is mechanistically distinct from the effect of adrenaline to block activation of AMPK by palmitate observed previously in perfused hearts and in the results presented in Figure 3.3. In contrast to the inhibitory effect of adrenaline reported previously in perfused hearts, which was restricted to a2 AMPK, the direct effect of adrenaline on AMPK in cardiac myocytes was seen for both a1 and a2 isoforms, although the effect was greater for a2 AMPK (Figure 3.5).

In order to re-investigate the possibility of a direct inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK activity in perfused hearts and to check if the loss of the effect of palmitate to activate AMPK was due to the myocyte isolation procedure, hearts were perfused for 1 hour with 5mM glucose or 5mM glucose + 0.5mM palmitate in the presence or absence of 2 μ M adrenaline (Figure 3.6). Palmitate did not activate α 2 AMPK in perfused hearts, indicating the lack of the effect of palmitate in myocytes was not due to cell damage caused during the isolation procedure. In contrast to the observation in myocytes, adrenaline did not affect α 2 AMPK activity in hearts perfused with glucose alone or glucose and palmitate, the observation consistent with the lack of a direct effect of adrenaline in perfused hearts reported previously by Clark *et al*. Therefore, the possibility was considered that the apparently direct inhibitory effect of adrenaline seen in myocytes in the present study was an experimental artefact. While screening for different conditions to activate AMPK in cardiac myocytes, it was found that incubation of cells with 0.5mM H₂O₂ for 1 hour increased α 1 AMPK activity to 227.5±40.4% relative to control (P<0.05) (n=4), but apparently decreased

¹ The expression 'direct inhibitory effect' is used here simply to distinguish an inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK activity under basal conditions from that seen when AMPK is activated by palmitate. It does not necessarily mean that the effect of adrenaline on AMPK under basal conditions is mechanistically direct.



Figure 3.5 The effect of adrenaline on a1 and a2 AMPK activity

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the absence (C) or presence of 2μ M adrenaline (filled bars). Following immunoprecipitation using anti- α 1 or α 2 AMPK antibody, AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200μ M AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of α 1 or α 2 AMPK activity of cells incubated in the absence of adrenaline. n=4



Figure 3.6 The effect of palmitate and adrenaline on $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity in perfused hearts

Hearts were perfused for 1 hour with 5mM glucose alone (G), 5mM glucose + 0.5mM palmitate (G+P), 5mM glucose + 2 μ M adrenaline (G+A), or 5mM glucose + 0.5mM palmitate + 2 μ M adrenaline (G+P+A). AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP. n=4-6

a2 AMPK activity to 27.0±7.0% (P<0.005) (n=6). It has been previously reported in skeletal muscle that H_2O_2 activates $\alpha 1$ AMPK but it does not affect $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity (Toyoda et al 2004). The apparent inhibition of a2 AMPK was due to a reduction in cell viability to approximately 26% (n=2) of the untreated cells and loss of AMPK protein which was decreased to 40.0±7.2% (P<0.005) (n=4). Unphysiologically high concentrations of adrenaline as used in this study (μ M) have been reported to damage the heart as evidenced by release of lactate dehydrogenase after 10 minutes of perfusion with adrenaline (Horak and Opie 1983). Prolonged adrenergic stimulation is also known to cause apoptosis in cardiac myocytes (Zhu et al 2003). However, the decrease in AMPK activity by adrenaline seen in the present study was unlikely to be due to such toxic effects of adrenaline because adrenaline treatment did not significantly affect the viability of myocytes (initial viability: $71\pm5\%$; viability after 1 hour incubation: $65\pm3\%$; viability after 1 hour incubation with $2\mu M$ adrenaline: 67±2%; n=6). Moreover, the decrease in AMPK activity by adrenaline was accompanied by a corresponding decrease in Thr172 phosphorylation in the AMPK α subunit (Figure 3.7) without affecting the α subunit protein amount (100±12.5% relative to untreated; n=4). Adrenaline also caused a significant decrease in Ser227 (Ser79 in ACC1) phosphorylation of ACC2 (the predominant cardiac isoform) (Figure 3.8), a well-established downstream target of AMPK, again without affecting the total ACC amount $(107.0\pm14.9\%)$ relative to untreated, n=4). Therefore, it appears that adrenaline has a genuine direct inhibitory effect on AMPK in cardiac myocytes.

Figure 3.9 shows a time-course of the effect of adrenaline to decrease $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity in cardiac myocytes. This and all subsequent experiments focussed on the $\alpha 2$ isoform because of the greater effect of adrenaline on this isoform (Figure 3.5) and because $\alpha 2$ AMPK is the predominant isoform in the heart (Cheung *et al* 2000). The effect of adrenaline was rapid with the half-maximal effect seen at approximately 4 minutes, and the effect was sustained after 1 hour (Figure 3.9) or 2 hours of incubation (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.7 The effect of adrenaline on AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation in cardiac myocytes.

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the absence (C) or presence of 2μ M adrenaline (A). The figure shows the results from three myocyte preparations. Band quantification is given in Figure 3.19.


(b)



Figure 3.8 The effect of adrenaline on ACC Ser79 (Ser227) phosphorylation in cardiac myocytes.

(a) Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the absence (C) or presence of 2μ M adrenaline (A). ACC phosphorylation was detected using an anti-phospho-Ser79 ACC1 antibody, which also reacts with the equivalent residue (Ser227) in ACC2 (predominant cardiac isoform). The figure shows the results from three myocyte preparations. (b) Quantification of band intensity, expressed as percentage of phospho-ACC/total ACC of cells incubated without adrenaline, is shown. n=4



Figure 3.9 Time-course of inhibition of AMPK by adrenaline

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for indicated time with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the absence or presence of $2\mu M$ adrenaline. $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of $200\mu M$ AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated in the absence of adrenaline. n=5

3.3 The effect of adrenaline is independent of changes in total cellular high energy phosphates

Adrenergic stimulation increases cardiac energy production to meet an increased demand for energy which accompanies an increased contractile activity. Because cardiac myocytes are quiescent, it is conceivable that adrenaline stimulation in the cardiac myocytes increases the energy production and cellular high energy phosphates without significantly increasing the energy utilisation and consequently decreases AMPK activity. This may account for the inhibition of AMPK by adrenaline in myocytes but not in perfused hearts. In order to test this possibility, the total cellular high energy phosphate contents were analysed by HPLC after incubating the cells in the presence or absence of $2\mu M$ adrenaline for 20 minutes. No significant difference in the total amount of AMP, ADP, ATP, or the AMP/ATP ratio was observed despite a significant inhibition of the AMPK activity by adrenaline (Table 3.1). The direct regulation of AMPK by Cr and CrP is questioned by a recent study (Taylor et al 2005). Nevertheless, the Cr/CrP ratio is a more sensitive indicator of cellular energy state than the AMP/ATP ratio (Neumann et al 2002). Adrenaline did not affect the cellular contents of Cr, CrP, or the Cr/CrP ratio. The AMP/ATP ratio was also not affected by adrenaline after 1 hour incubation despite a decrease in AMPK activity to 61.1±4.2% (n=8) (P<0.0005). The AMP/ATP ratios of control and adrenaline-treated cells after 1 hour were 0.045 ± 0.011 (n=8) and 0.040 ± 0.009 (n=8), respectively. There was no significant difference between the AMP/ATP ratios between 20 and 60 minutes. Therefore, it appears that the effect of adrenaline to inhibit AMPK in myocytes is not due to increased energy production, and there may be a novel pathway linking the adrenergic receptors to the AMPK system in cardiac myocytes.

3.4 The effect of adrenaline is mediated by both α_1 and β adrenoreceptors

The effect of $2\mu M$ adrenaline to inhibit AMPK was partially abolished in the presence of either $2\mu M$ propranolol (a selective β blocker) or $2\mu M$ phentolamine (a selective α_1 blocker), while the effect was essentially abolished when both blockers

	Control (20 min)	+adrenaline (20 min)
Cr (nmol/mg protein)	9.3 ± 1.3	$10.0 \pm 0.9^{\rm NS}$
CrP (nmol/mg protein)	13.6 ± 1.2	13.1 ± 1.8^{NS}
AMP (nmol/mg protein)	0.398 ± 0.114	$0.372 \pm 0.058^{\rm NS}$
ADP (nmol/mg protein)	3.55 ± 0.41	$3.31 \pm 0.49^{\text{NS}}$
ATP (nmol/mg protein)	10.3 ± 0.9	$10.3 \pm 1.0^{\rm NS}$
AMP+ADP+ATP (nmol/mg protein)	14.28 ± 1.25	14.03 ± 1.43^{NS}
Cr/CrP	0.69 ± 0.09	$0.79 \pm 0.07^{\rm NS}$
AMP/ATP	0.039 ± 0.011	$0.036 \pm 0.005^{\rm NS}$
AMPK activity (%)	100	72.5 ± 1.8^{e}

Table 3.1 The effect of adrenaline on adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 20 minutes with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the absence or presence of 2μ M adrenaline. Adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds were measured by HPLC following PCA extraction. The effect of adrenaline on AMPK activity in the same myocytes preparations was also determined in parallel. n=4

were present (Figure 3.10). The effect of adrenaline could be completely mimicked by the β agonist isoproterenol (IC₅₀~40nM) (Figure 3.11). The α_1 agonist phenylephrine did not significantly inhibit AMPK at 2μ M, but higher concentrations (10 or 100µM) of phenylephrine completely mimicked the effect of adrenaline (IC₅₀~4 μ M) (Figure 3.12). Both isoproterenol (2 μ M) and phenylephrine (100 μ M) also decreased AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation. Because a high concentration of phenylephrine (100 μ M) is known to cause cross-stimulation of β receptors (Valks et al 2002), cells were incubated with phenylephrine in combination with $2\mu M$ propranolol in these experiments. The lack of cross-stimulation of β receptors by phenylephrine was supported by a lack of detectable phosphorylation of PLB at Ser16 (the site phosphorylated exclusively by PKA (Wegener et al 1989)) in cells treated with 2, 10, or 100µM phenylephrine (Figure 3.13). As expected, phosphorylation of PLB Ser16 was increased by both adrenaline and isoproterenol (Kuschel et al 1999). As a precaution, isoproterenol was given to the cells in combination with $2\mu M$ phentolamine. Although the possibility of the crossstimulation of the α_1 receptor by isoproterenol cannot be completely ruled out in the present study, it is unlikely that the effect of isoproterenol on AMPK was mediated by the α_1 receptor because it was seen with low concentrations of the agonist $(0.5\mu M)$ despite the presence of $2\mu M$ phentolamine. These results indicate that the effect of adrenaline is mediated by both α_1 and β receptors. Several signalling components such as PI3K, Ca^{2+} signalling, and MAPKs are known to be activated by both adrenergic receptors, and it is possible that the effect of adrenaline involves one of these signalling components common to both receptors. However, these results do not rule out the possibility of the two distinct mechanisms to inhibit AMPK by α_1 and β receptors.

3.5 The effect of adrenaline is not mediated through the PI3K/PKB pathway

In perfused hearts, insulin has been shown to decrease basal AMPK activity as well as the activation of AMPK by ischemia by an incompletely understood mechanism (Beauloye *et al* 2001). The effect of insulin has been reported to be dependent on



Figure 3.10 The effect of α_1 and β adrenergic antagonists on the effect of adrenaline on AMPK

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the absence (control) or presence of 2μ M adrenaline and adrenergic antagonists (2μ M propranolol and 2μ M phentolamine) as indicated. α 2 AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of control cells. The letters directly above the bars indicate statistical significance compared to control. n=8



Figure 3.11 The effect of isoproterenol on AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation

(a) Cardiac myocytes were incubated with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate for 1 hour in the absence (control) or presence of the indicated concentrations of isoproterenol. Isoproterenol was given to the cells in combination with 2 μ M phentolamine. α 2 AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of control cells. n=4-10 (b) shows band intensity of phospho-Thr172 from cells treated with 2 μ M isoproterenol (ISO) corrected for total AMPK α amount and expressed as percentage of the value of control cells (C). n=3



Figure 3.12 The effect of phenylephrine on AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation

(a) Cardiac myocytes were incubated with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate for 1 hour in the absence (control) or presence of the indicated concentrations of phenylephrine. Phenylephrine was given to the cells in combination with 2 μ M propranolol. α 2 AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of control cells. n=6 (b) shows band intensity of phospho-Thr172 from cells treated with 100 μ M phenylephrine (PE) corrected for total AMPK α amount and expressed as percentage of the value of control cells (C). n=4

(a)



P-PLB S16



P-PLB S16

Figure 3.13 The effect of adrenergic agonists on PLB Ser16 phosphorylation

Phosphorylation of PLB Ser16 was examined after incubating cardiac myocytes with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate for 1 hour in the absence (C) or presence of 2μ M adrenaline (A), 2μ M isoproterenol + 2μ M phentolamine (ISO), or the indicated concentrations of PE + 2μ M propranolol (PE). The figures show the results from three myocyte preparations.

PI3K activity, but independent of changes in the AMP/ATP or Cr/CrP ratios (Beauloye et al 2001). Kovacic et al have shown that the effect of insulin to inhibit AMPK is mimicked by over-expressing constitutively active PKB, suggesting an involvement of PI3K-PKB pathway (Kovacic et al 2003). PI3K has been shown to be downstream of both α_1 and β adrenergic receptors in the heart (Section 1.5.5). Although the identity of the PI3K isoform activated by these receptors has not been conclusively elucidated, the activation of the class IB PI3K (PI3K γ) through the G_{$\beta\gamma$} dimer (Oudit et al 2004), as well as the possibility of the activation of the class IA PI3Ks (the isoforms activated by insulin) through increased tyrosine kinase activity have been suggested (Morisco et al 2000). Activation of PI3K is not always associated with activation of PKB (Till et al 2000). However, at least stimulation of the β receptor has been shown to cause activation of PKB in cardiac myocytes through PI3K (Zhu et al 2001). Therefore, it seemed possible that adrenaline inhibited AMPK through the PI3K-PKB pathway. The fact that the effect of insulin is seen in perfused hearts whereas that of adrenaline is not does not necessarily exclude this possibility because unlike insulin, adrenaline stimulates contractile activity in perfused hearts which could potentially activate AMPK by increasing AMP. Consistent with this, several studies have reported an increase in AMP during adrenergic stimulation in perfused or in vivo hearts (Goodwin et al 1998b; Ingwall 2002). The simultaneous effects of adrenaline to activate AMPK by increased energy expenditure while inhibiting AMPK through the PI3K-PKB pathway may be responsible for the apparent lack of significant changes in the AMPK activity by adrenaline in perfused hearts. The possibility of an involvement of PI3K in the effect of adrenaline was investigated using wortmannin, an inhibitor of both class IA and IB PI3Ks (Figure 3.14). While wortmannin $(3\mu M)$ abolished the small significant decrease in AMPK activity by insulin and slightly increased the basal activity, possibly due to removal of some tonic inhibition by PI3K, it did not affect the effect of adrenaline, indicating that PI3K is not involved in the effect of adrenaline. Moreover, in contrast to the observations by other investigators, no increase in the phosphorylation of PKB at Thr308 or Ser473 was detected after 1 hour of incubation with adrenaline (Figure 3.15), suggesting that the PI3K-PKB pathway is not relevant to the effect of adrenaline. As expected, insulin increased phosphorylation of PKB at both Thr308 and Ser473. However, these results do not rule out the involvement of a



Figure 3.14 The effect of wortmannin on the effect of adrenaline on AMPK

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate alone (control) or with insulin (10nM) or adrenaline (2 μ M), in the presence (filled bar) or absence (open bar) of 3 μ M wortmannin. α 2 AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated without insulin, adrenaline or wortmannin. The letters direct above the bars indicate statistical significance compared to control without adrenaline. n=3-5



Figure 3.15 The effect of adrenaline on PKB phosphorylation

Phosphorylation of PKB Thr308 and Ser473 was examined after incubating cardiac myocytes for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the absence (C) or presence of 2μ M adrenaline (A). The figures show the results from three myocyte preparations. As a positive control, PKB phosphorylation was also examined after incubating cells for 1 hour with 5mM glucose in the absence (G) or presence of 10nM insulin (I).

transient activation of PKB by adrenaline through a PI3K-independent pathway. Morisco *et al* reported that isoproterenol caused a PI3K-independent increase in Thr308 phosphorylation which returned to the basal level after 1 hour (Morisco *et al* 2005). However, because the effect of adrenaline on AMPK was sustained for up to 2 hours, a transient activation of PKB is unlikely to account for the effect of adrenaline. Consistent with the idea that adrenaline and insulin inhibit AMPK through distinct pathways, the effect of insulin was found to be additive to that of adrenaline (Figure 3.16). Insulin (10nM) caused an approximately 20% decrease in AMPK activity. The inhibitory effect was slightly higher (~30%) if palmitate was omitted from the incubation, possibly due to inhibition of insulin signalling by palmitate (Soltys *et al* 2002). In the presence of 2µM adrenaline, the concentration which gave the maximal effect of adrenaline (Figure 3.3), insulin still decreased AMPK activity by ~20% (in the presence of palmitate) or ~30% (in the absence of palmitate) (Figure 3.16).

3.6 The effect of adrenaline on AMPK phosphorylation other than Thr172

Recently, Horman *et al* have shown that the AMPK α subunit is phosphorylated at Ser485 (α 1) or Ser491 (α 2) by PKB *in vitro* or in response to insulin in perfused hearts (Horman *et al* 2006). The phosphorylation of Ser485/491 was shown to inhibit phosphorylation of Thr172 and this was suggested to be the mechanism by which insulin inhibits AMPK (Horman *et al* 2006). Ser485/491 is also phosphorylated by PKA *in vitro* (personal communication from Richard Heath and David Carling). This may explain the inhibitory effect of adrenaline seen in the present study, at least for the effect of the β receptor. Therefore, the effect of adrenaline on Ser485/491 phosphorylation was investigated using a commercially available antibody against this phosphorylation. This antibody was previously used successfully to detect an increase in Ser485/491 phosphorylation by PKB (Soltys *et al* 2006). It was found adrenaline did not significantly increase the phosphorylation of Ser485/491 in cardiac myocytes (Figure 3.17). In addition to Thr172 and Ser485/491, AMPK α and β subunits are known to be phosphorylated at multiple other sites (Section 1.6.4) and the effect of adrenaline may involve phosphorylation of a site other than Ser485/491.



Figure 3.16 The additivity of inhibitory effects of adrenaline and insulin on AMPK

a) Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the absence or presence of insulin (10nM), adrenaline (2 μ M), or insulin + adrenaline. α 2 AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated without insulin or adrenaline. n=5 (b) Cardiac myocytes were incubated under similar conditions to (a) except that palmitate was omitted from the incubation medium. n=4



(b)

(a)



Figure 3.17 The effect of adrenaline on AMPK Ser485/491 phosphorylation

(a) Phosphorylation of AMPK Ser485/491 was examined after incubating cardiac myocytes for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the presence (A) or absence of 2μ M adrenaline (C). The figure shows the results from four myocyte preparations. (b) shows band intensity of phospho-Ser485/491 corrected for total AMPK α amount and expressed as percentage of the value of cells incubated without adrenaline. n=8

This possibility was investigated in collaboration with Richard Heath and David Carling from MRC Clinical Sciences Centre, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College London. Cell lysates of myocytes treated with or without adrenaline were incubated with recombinant catalytically inactive AMPK ($\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1$) in the presence of radioactive ATP. The autoradiograph (Figure 3.18) revealed that the AMPK $\beta 1$ subunit was more heavily phosphorylated in the lysate of the adrenaline-treated cells compared to the non-treated cells, suggesting that some kinase downstream of the adrenergic receptor phosphorylates the AMPK $\beta 1$ subunit. Apart from Ser485/491, PKA phosphorylates the $\beta 1$ subunit at Ser24 *in vitro* (Richard Heath and David Carling, unpublished work). However, phosphorylation of $\beta 1$ Ser24 was found not to be increased by adrenaline (Figure 3.18).

3.7 Adrenaline selectively attenuates activation of AMPK by sorbitol and palmitate

As shown in Figure 3.3, under conditions where palmitate activated AMPK by 2.5fold, adrenaline still decreased AMPK activity by the same proportion (~50%) as seen under basal conditions (i.e. cells incubated without palmitate) (Figure 3.16). Palmitate has been reported to activate AMPK without a detectable change in the AMP/ATP ratio and is believed to activate AMPK by a pathway distinct from that used by AMP-raising conditions (Clark et al 2004, Watt et al 2006). Therefore, it was investigated whether the effect of adrenaline could be maintained under conditions where AMPK was activated by other AMPK-activating stimuli i.e. AICAR (a precursor of the AMP mimetic ZMP), oligomycin (an inhibitor of the F_1F_0 -ATPase), phenformin (an inhibitor of complex I of the respiratory chain), and sorbitol (induces hyperosmotic stress). Sorbitol-induced hyperosmolarity has been reported to activate AMPK by an unidentified mechanism that does not involve a change in the AMP/ATP ratio (Fryer et al 2002). In this study 100mM sorbitol was used instead of 500mM, which is commonly used to induce hyperosmotic stress (Fryer et al 2002), because this concentration was found to be sufficient to cause activation of AMPK and because incubation of the cells with 500mM sorbitol for 1 hour caused a significant loss of myocyte viability. Concentrations of sorbitol similar to 100mM have been previously shown to cause AMPK activation or other



Figure 3.18 The effect of adrenaline on AMPK β-subunit phosphorylation

(a) Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the presence (A) or absence (C) of 2 μ M adrenaline. Cell lysates were incubated with recombinant catalytically inactive AMPK $\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1$ complex and phosphorylation of AMPK was detected by autoradiography. Only phosphorylation of $\beta 1$ subunit was increased by incubation with cell lysates. (b) shows western blot analysis of Ser24 phosphorylation of AMPK β subunit with cell lysates from cells treated with or without adrenaline. The figures show the results from four (a) or three (b) myocyte preparations. The *in vitro* phosphorylation experiment and western blotting were performed by Richard Heath, MRC Clinical Sciences Centre, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College London.

hyperosmotic responses in skeletal muscle and endothelial cells (Fujii *et al* 2005, Ochi *et al* 2002). As shown in Figure 3.19, AICAR, oligomycin, sorbitol and phenformin all activated AMPK to a similar extent (3- to 4-fold). The inhibitory effects of adrenaline on AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation were either greatly diminished or became statistically insignificant in the presence of AICAR, oligomycin or phenformin. In contrast, in the presence of sorbitol, adrenaline still markedly decreased AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation by approximately 50%, the observation similar to that seen in the presence of palmitate. These results suggest that adrenaline may selectively attenuate activation of AMPK by palmitate and hyperosmolar stress. However, as mentioned above, the possibility cannot be ruled out that the effect of adrenaline to attenuate the activation of AMPK by these conditions is mechanistically distinct from the effect of adrenaline seen under basal conditions.

3.8 Adrenergic signalling components mediating the effect of adrenaline

In order to gain more insight into the signalling pathway mediating the inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK activity (under basal conditions), the possible involvement of several well-recognised adrenergic signalling components was examined. Incubation of the cells with forskolin or the cell permeable cAMP analogue dibutyryl cAMP did not significantly affect AMPK activity (Figures 3.20 and 3.21). Forskolin and dibutyryl cAMP activated PKA as evidenced by the increased PKA-driven phosphorylation of PLB Ser16. AMPK activity was also unaffected by 8-CPT-2'-O-Me-cAMP, a selective activator of Epac (Enserink *et al* 2002). These results exclude the involvement of cAMP signalling or PKA in the effect of adrenaline.

CAMKII has been shown to be activated by the β receptor in quiescent cardiac myoctes through a PKA-independent activation of the L-type Ca²⁺ channel, possibly by direct activation of the Ca²⁺ channel by G_s (Zhu *et al* 2003). Because CAMKII is also known to be activated by the α_1 receptor (Wang *et al* 2001), the involvement of



Figure 3.19 The effect of adrenaline on activation of AMPK by different conditions

 α 2 AMPK activity (a) and Thr172 phosphorylation (b) were measured after incubating cardiac myocytes for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate alone (control), or with 1mM AICAR, 5µM oligomycin, 100mM sorbitol, or 10mM phenformin, in the presence (filled bar) or absence (open bar) of 2µM adrenaline. AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200µM AMP. The band intensity of Thr172 phosphorylation was quantified and corrected for total AMPK α . AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation are expressed as percentage of the values of cells incubated without adrenaline and AMPK-activating agents. AMPK activity of control cells was 29.8±12.3pmol/min/mg protein. n=4



Figure 3.20 The effect of forskolin on AMPK activity

(a) $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200µM AMP after incubating cardiac myocytes for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate alone (control) or with 2µM adrenaline or 10µM forskolin. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated without adrenaline or forskolin. n=4 (b) Activity of PKA in control cells (C), adrenaline-treated cells (A), and forskolin-treated cells (F) were checked with phosphorylation of PLB Ser16. The figure shows the results from two myocyte preparations.



Figure 3.21 The effect of cAMP analogues on AMPK activity

(a) $\alpha 2$ AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200µM AMP after incubating cardiac myocytes for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate alone (control) or with 2µM adrenaline, 1mM dybutyryl cAMP, or 50µM 8-CPT-2'-O-Me-cAMP. The results are expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated without adrenaline or cAMP analogues. n=4 (b) Activity of PKA in control cells (C), adrenaline-treated cells (A), and cells treated with dybutyryl cAMP (dbcAMP) were checked with phosphorylation of PLB Ser16. The figure shows the results from two myocyte preparations.

this enzyme in the effect of adrenaline was investigated. The effect of adrenaline, isoproterenol, or phenylephrine on AMPK activity was unaffected by 10μ M KN93 (Figure 3.22). In order to check that this concentration of the inhibitor was sufficient to block CAMKII activation, the effect of the inhibitor on posphorylation of PLB Thr17 (the site exclusively phosphorylated by CAMKII (Wegener *et al* 1989)) by adrenergic agonists was investigated. As expected, both adrenaline and isoproterenol (Kuschel *et al* 1999), but not phenylephrine caused an increase in the PLB Thr17 phosphorylation. Although the lack of phosphorylation of PLB by phenylephrine has been observed previously (Lindemann *et al* 1986), it was observed that phenylephrine actually decreased PLB Thr17 phosphorylation in the present study. The increase in PLB Thr17 phosphorylation with adrenaline was completely inhibited by KN93 while that by isoproterenol was partially inhibited. The fact that the effect of adrenaline on AMPK activity was seen despite the blockade of CAMKII rules out the involvement of this enzyme.

A possible involvement of PKC was examined using a phorbol ester which activates the DAG-dependent isoforms of PKC (conventional and novel PKCs). Incubation of myocytes with 1 μ M PMA completely mimicked the effect of adrenaline (Figure 3.23), suggesting the possibility that PKC mediates the effect of adrenaline.



Figure 3.22 The effect of KN93 on the effect of adrenaline on AMPK

(a) Cardiac myocytes were pre-incubated with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate in the presence (filled bar) or absence (open bar) of 10μ M KN93 for 30 minutes followed by further 30 minutes incubation under control condition (no addition), or with 2μ M adrenaline, 2μ M isoproterenol + 2μ M phentolamine, or 100μ M phenylephrine + 2μ M propranolol. α 2 AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP and results were expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated without KN93 or adrenergic agonists. n=3-4 (b) The effects of adrenaline (A), isoproterenol (ISO), phenylephrine (PE), and KN93 on phosphorylation of PLB Thr17 are shown. n=3

(b)



Figure 3.23 The effect of PMA on AMPK activity

Cardiac myocytes were incubated for 1 hour with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate alone (control) or with 2 μ M adrenaline or 1 μ M PMA. α 2 AMPK activity was assayed in the presence of 200 μ M AMP and the results were expressed as percentage of AMPK activity of cells incubated without adrenaline or PMA. n=3

3.9 General Discussion

A previous study with perfused hearts found that adrenaline could decrease AMPK activity only when AMPK was activated by palmitate, suggesting an indirect effect of adrenaline on cardiac AMPK (Clark *et al* 2004). The lack of a direct effect of adrenaline on AMPK activity in perfused hearts was confirmed in the present study. However, in isolated cardiac myocytes, adrenaline unexpectedly decreased AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation even in the absence of palmitate. This effect is unlikely to be an experimental artefact caused by toxic effects of adrenaline, since the decrease in AMPK activity was not associated with a decrease in viability, total AMPK and ACC protein amount, or the total amount of adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds. As discussed below, there are several potential explanations for this direct inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK in myocytes and the lack of this effect in perfused hearts.

1. While adrenaline stimulates both energy production and contractile activity in perfused hearts, in quiescent myocytes, adrenaline is likely to increase energy production without significantly increasing energy expenditure. Thus, it is possible that adrenaline inactivates AMPK in quiescent myocytes by decreasing the AMP/ATP ratio. This effect may be more pronounced if myocytes are suffering from low cellular levels of ATP and CrP, possibly due to cell damage sustained during the isolation procedure or due to other conditions of the incubation (e.g. hypoxia), and if AMPK activity is already significantly activated under basal conditions. The values of ATP and CrP in myocytes obtained in this study (~10nmol/mg proteins) are rather low compared to ~20nmol/mg protein reported by other investigators (Geisbuhler et al 1984; Ladilov et al 2003). However, the AMP/ATP ratio obtained in myocytes in this study is comparable to values obtained by other investigators (Luiken et al 2003). In the present study, in order to obtain clearly visible peaks (especially for AMP) by HPLC, concentrated samples were prepared by extracting the cells with a minimal volume of 0.21M PCA. It was found difficult to obtain concentrated neutralised extracts in sufficient amount with higher concentrations of PCA because of increased precipitation. However, this concentration of PCA is lower than the concentrations commonly used to extract cells, and a previous study measuring the

high energy phosphates using the same method as used in this study reported incomplete extraction of ATP by 0.21M PCA (Sellevold et al 1986). It was also found in the present study that values of adenine nucleotides in the perfused hearts measured in the extracts prepared by 0.21M PCA were also approximately half of the values obtained previously using a different method, despite the comparable AMP/ATP and ATP/ADP ratios. Thus, the low amount of high energy phosphates seen in the myocytes in this study probably reflects an incomplete extraction of adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds rather than energy-deprivation of the myocytes. Whether the myocytes were energy-depleted or not, the observations that both AMP/ATP and Cr/CrP ratios were unaltered by adrenaline seems to exclude the possibility that adrenaline decreases AMPK activity by increasing ATP production. The incomplete extraction of the adenine nucleotides and creatine compounds is a systematic error and would be unlikely to affect this conclusion. However, the possibility that adrenaline caused a small or localised change in free AMP and/or ATP which could not be detected with the method used in the present study cannot be ruled out. In vitro, AMPK has been reported to be allosterically activated or inhibited by NAD⁺ or NADH, respectively (Rafaeloff-Phail et al 2004). Thus, the effect of adrenaline might also involve a change in NAD⁺/NADH, although the effect of NAD⁺/NADH on AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation is unknown.

2. Adrenaline increases contractile activity in perfused heart. It is possible that there is a direct inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK in cardiac myocytes (isolated or in the whole heart), but in perfused hearts, this effect may be suppressed by some signalling process which is induced by contraction. For example, one possible signalling process which might be antagonistic to the inhibitory effect of adrenaline is PI3K, which has been reported to be activated by electrically-induced contraction in cardiac myocytes (Till *et al* 2000). This contraction-activated PI3K is likely to be different from the PI3K isoform or the pool of PI3K which is involved in the inactivation of AMPK by insulin because its activation is not associated with activation of PKB (Till *et al* 2000). In endothelial cells, activation of AMPK by metformin appears to be mediated by peroxynitrite which activates the cSrc-PI3K-PDK1-PKC ζ pathway and increases association of LKB1 with AMPK, possibly by PKC ζ phosphorylation of LKB1 (Section 1.6.5.g). In the heart, metformin has also been reported to increase the association of AMPK with LKB1 (Zou *et al* 2004).

Moreover, it has been shown peroxynitrite activates AMPK in cardiac myocytes and the effect of metformin on AMPK in cardiac myocytes is abolished by inhibiting peroxynitrite (Zou *et al* 2004). Taken together, these results suggest the possibility that in cardiac myocytes, there are two pools/isoforms of PI3K which have opposite effects on AMPK. One of these is inhibitory, involves PKB, and is activated by insulin. The other has an activating effect, does not involve PKB, and is activated by peroxynitrite. It is possible that the isoform/pool of PI3K which activates AMPK is activated by contraction and this may counter the inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK.

3. It was observed that adrenaline could decrease AMPK activity to the same extent as seen under basal conditions when AMPK was activated by palmitate or sorbitol. In contrast, the inhibitory effect of adrenaline was either markedly diminished or became statistically insignificant under conditions where AMPK was activated by AICAR, oligomycin, or phenformin, the conditions which activate AMPK by the AMP-pathway. These results raise the possibility that the inhibitory effect of adrenaline seen under basal conditions in myocytes is due to blockade of tonic activation of AMPK through the pathway which is activated by palmitate or hyperosmotic stress. Both palmitate and sorbitol-induced hyperosmolarity have been reported to activate AMPK by a pathway distinct from the AMP-raising conditions (Fryer et al 2002; Daniel and Carling 2002b; Clark et al 2004; Watt et al 2006). It is not known whether these two conditions activate AMPK by the same mechanism, although the present observation that adrenaline selectively attenuated activation of AMPK by these conditions support this possibility. The tonic activation of AMPK through the pathway which is activated by palmitate/hyperosmolarity would be expected to be dwarfed under conditions where AMPK is activated through other pathways (e.g. the AMP-pathway), explaining the observation that the inhibitory effect of adrenaline was blunted in the presence of AICAR, oligomycin, or phenformin. Although oligomycin and phenformin have been shown to increase cellular AMP (Luiken et al 2003; Hawley et al 2005), the possibility that these agents activated AMPK without increasing AMP cannot be ruled out, given the reports that hypoxia in perfused hearts and metformin (a compound related to phenformin) activate AMPK by AMP-independent mechanisms (Altarejos et al 2005; Frederich et al 2005; Hawley et al 2002; Fryer et al 2002; Zou et al 2003 and

2004). However, it is still possible that the AMP-independent activation of AMPK by oligomycin and phenformin is mechanistically distinct from activation of AMPK by palmitate or sorbitol and is not blocked by adrenaline. It was observed that the AMP/ATP ratio in perfused hearts was significantly higher (P<0.05, unpaired test) than that in myocytes (the AMP/ATP ratios of perfused hearts and myocytes fuelled with 5mM glucose and 0.5mM palmitate for 1 hour were 0.087 ± 0.002 (n=4) and 0.045 ± 0.010 (n=8), respectively). This observation has been made by other investigators (Geisbuhler *et al* 1984) and it is probably due to the lack of contractile activity in myocytes. Supporting this, Luiken *et al* have shown that electrically-induced contraction in quiescent cardiac myocytes caused an approximately 60% increase in AMP (Luiken *et al* 2003). The lack of the significant inhibitory effect of adrenaline in perfused heart under basal conditions may be explained by the higher AMP/ATP ratio and the basal activation of AMPK through the AMP pathway which masks the effect of adrenaline on the tonic activation of AMPK though the palmitate/sorbitol pathway.

4. Lastly, the inhibitory effect of adrenaline on basal AMPK activity in myocytes may be due to blockade of activation of AMPK by some unknown condition during the incubation that activated AMPK through the same pathway as sorbitol/palmitate or through other pathways which are also inhibited by adrenaline.

Whatever the actual reason for the lack of a direct inhibitory effect of adrenaline in perfused hearts, the present data at least suggest the possibility of an adrenergic signalling pathway that directly regulates AMPK in cardiac myocytes.

The effect of adrenaline was found to be mediated by both α_1 and β adrenoreceptors. In contrast to this finding, An *et al* have reported no significant effect of 10µM isoproterenol on AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation in cardiac myocytes (An *et al* 2005). The reason for this discrepancy is not clear. The involvement of both receptor types in an effect of adrenaline is not unprecedented. Several signalling or downstream effects of adrenaline, such as Ca²⁺ signalling, MAPK activation, and glucose transport, have been reported to be stimulated by both receptors (Sections 1.5.3, 1.5.9, and 1.4.2). Although glucose has been reported to inactivate AMPK by an unknown mechanism that does not involve a change in the AMP/ATP ratio in skeletal muscle (Itani *et al* 2003; Halse *et al* 2003), the inhibitory effect of adrenaline observed in the present study is unlikely to be secondary to adrenergic stimulation of glucose uptake/metabolism because the effect of adrenaline on AMPK was seen in the absence of glucose. Cardiac myocytes express several subtypes of α_1 and β receptors including α_{1A} , α_{1B} , α_{1D} , β_1 , β_2 and β_3 receptors (Section 1.2). While the β_1 receptor is exclusively coupled to the G_s-cAMP pathway, the β_2 and possibly β_3 receptors are additionally coupled to G_i signalling (Section 1.3). Although the three α_1 receptor subtypes are all coupled to G_q, stimulation of different α_1 receptor subtypes has been reported to cause distinct downstream effects, possibly due to coupling to additional G proteins and compartmentalisation of the receptors (Section1.4.3). Further study is required to determine the adrenergic receptor subtypes and G proteins involved in the effect of adrenaline.

Insulin has been reported to inhibit cardiac AMPK via the PI3K-PKB pathway (Beauloye et al 2001; Kovacic et al 2003). Because PI3K has also been reported to be activated by cardiac adrenergic receptors, PI3K-PKB became a likely candidate for the pathway responsible for the inhibitory effect of adrenaline. However, the observations that PKB was not activated by adrenaline and the effect of adrenaline was unaffected by PI3K inhibition excluded this possibility. The inhibitory effect of insulin has recently been reported to be due to PKB phosphorylation of Ser485/491 of AMPK α subunit, which prevents phosphorylation of Thr172 by LKB1 and possibly by other AMPKKs (Horman et al 2006; Soltys et al 2006). Recently, this site has been reported to be also phosphorylated by PKA in vitro (Hurley et al 2006). However, Ser485/491 phosphorylation was not increased by adrenaline in cardiac myocytes, indicating this phosphorylation is not responsible for the effect of adrenaline. The effect of adrenaline also does not involve cAMP signalling, PKA, or CAMKII. The observation that the effect of adrenaline was mimicked by PMA may suggest the involvement of PKC. PKC is a well-established component of α_1 adrenergic signalling. Activation of PKC in response to stimulation of the β receptor has also been reported in adult rat cardiac myocytes (Shizukuda and Buttrick 2001), although the mechanism by which the β receptor activates PKC is unknown. Thus, PKC may be involved in both α_1 - and β -mediated effects of adrenaline on AMPK. Adult rat cardiac myocytes appear to express at least PKCE and PKCZ, and possibly PKCα, PKCβ, and PKCδ (Malhotra et al 2001b; Bogoyevitch et al 1993; Puceat et al

1994). However, stimulation of cardiac α_1 or β receptors has been reported to selectively activate PKC ϵ and possibly PKC δ (novel PKCs) without affecting conventional and atypical PKCs (Puceat *et al* 1999; Clerk *et al* 1994; Wang *et al* 2003; Deng *et al* 1998; Shizukuda and Buttrick *et al* 2001). In contrast, in cardiac myocytes, PMA (a DAG analogue) has been shown to activate both conventional (PKC α) and novel PKCs (PKC ϵ and PKC δ) (Puceat *et al* 1994). Phorbol esters are also known to activate other enzymes such as PKDs, which are also DAG dependent, PI3K and PLD (van Lint 1995; Farese 2002). Therefore, although the finding that PMA decreased AMPK activity in cardiac myocytes is an interesting observation and warrants further research, involvement of PKC in α_1 and β mediated effect of adrenaline needs to be examined using selective PKC inhibitors.

At present, how adrenaline signalling brings about a decrease in Thr172 phosphorylation is unknown. In principle, the effect of adrenaline could involve inhibition of AMPKKs or stimulation of dephosphorylation by protein phosphatases. The heart expresses LKB1, CAMKK β (but not α) and possibly other, as yet unidentified AMPKKs (Sakamoto et al 2006; Allard et al 2006; Baron et al 2005; Altarejos et al 2005). Further study is necessary to determine if adrenaline affects the activities of any of these AMPKKs. Alternatively, adrenaline could affect Thr172 phosphorylation by a direct covalent modification of AMPKKs or AMPK, which prevents Thr172 phosphorylation by a mechanism other than reduction in AMPKK catalytic activity. For example, adrenaline could decrease Thr172 phosphorylation by preventing the association of AMPK with AMPKKs, by making AMPK a better substrate for a protein phosphatase, or by increasing affinity of AMPK for ATP. In this regard, it is of note that adrenaline increased phosphorylation of the AMPK $\beta 1$ subunit. Further study is required to identify the residue(s) phosphorylated and the role of this phosphorylation in the inactivation of AMPK by adrenaline. A number of phosphorylation sites have been identified on the β 1 subunit including Ser24, Ser25, Ser96, Ser101, Ser108, and Ser182 (Mitchelhill et al 1997; Woods et al 2003; Chen et al 1999). It was found adrenaline did not increase phosphorylation of Ser24. Preliminary experiments by Richard Heath also suggested that phosphorylation of Ser108 and Ser182 were not increased by adrenaline. Thus, adrenaline might increase phosphorylation at Ser25, Ser96, Ser101, or an other yet unidentified site.

The β 1 subunit contains 21 serine residues and 15 threonine residues (Chen *et al* 1999) which could be potentially phosphorylated.

Although one potential clue to understanding the mechanism of the effect of adrenaline is the observation that the increase in AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation induced by sorbitol or palmitate was markedly inhibited by adrenaline, at present, very little is known about how these conditions increase Thr172 phosphorylation. It has been reported in cultured cells that although LKB1 is required for phosphorylation of Thr172 by hyperosmolarity, catalytic activity of LKB1 is unaffected (Woods et al 2003, Shaw et al 2003). Thus, like AMP, hyperosmolarity also appears to increase Thr172 phosphorylation by making AMPK a better substrate for LKB1. The facilitation of Thr172 phosphorylation by AMP is thought to be due to a conformational change of the AMPK complex which exposes Thr172 (Cheung et al 2000). It is possible that activation of AMPK by hyperosmolarity involves a similar conformational change of AMPK or, as suggested for activation of AMPK by metformin (Zou et al 2004), it involves increased association of LKB1 with AMPK. The mechanism by which fatty acids activate AMPK also does not appear to involve stimulation of LKB1 catalytic activity (Watt et al 2006), and might also involve making Thr172 a better substrate and/or activation of other AMPKKs.

It appears there is considerable tissue-specific difference in adrenergic signalling and AMPK regulation. In contrast to the present finding that adrenaline inhibits AMPK in cardiac myocytes, adrenergic agents have been reported to increase AMPK activity and/or Thr172 phosphorylation in skeletal muscle cells and adipocytes (Section 1.6.5.p). It has been shown that the activation of AMPK in adipocytes is mediated by the β receptor and is mimicked by cAMP-raising treatments (Yin *et al* 2003; Daval *et al* 2005; Hutchinson *et al* 2005). The mechanism by which cAMP signalling activates AMPK in adipocytes is unknown. However, in liver, glucagon has been shown to increase AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation and this has been suggested to be due to PKA phosphorylation of LKB1 at Ser428 (Kimball *et al* 2004). Phosphorylation of this site has been implicated in the increased association of LKB1 with AMPK (Xie *et al* 2006). Thus, β receptor stimulation in adipocytes may also involve PKA phosphorylation of LKB1. However, in contrast to 136

adipocytes, stimulation of the β receptor does not activate AMPK in skeletal muscle, indicating cAMP/PKA does not regulate AMPK in skeletal muscle (Minokoshi et al 2002). Moreover, a very recent study has reported that cAMP-raising conditions decrease AMPK activity and Thr172 phosphorylation in INS-1, MEF, and COS cells (Hurley et al 2006). This effect has been reported to be due to inhibition of the catalytic activity of CAMKK α and β and to PKA phosphorylation of AMPK Ser485/491 (Hurley et al 2006). CAMKKβ is also expressed in the heart (Allard et al 2006). However, cAMP-raising agents did not affect AMPK activity in cardiac myocytes. Ser485/491 phosphorylation was also found not to be increased by adrenaline despite activation of PKA as evidenced by increased phosphorylation of PLB Ser16. The activation of AMPK in skeletal muscle by noradrenaline has been reported to be mediated by the α_1 receptor (Hutchinson and Bengtsson 2006). α_1 receptor-mediated Ca^{2+} signalling has been implicated in the activation of AMPK in this tissue because the effect was mimicked by a Ca^{2+} ionophore (Hutchinson and Bengtsson 2006). Activation of AMPK by Ca²⁺-raising treatments, including stimulation of G_a coupled receptors has been observed in several other cell types and it is likely to be due to activation of CAMKKs (Section 1.6.5.h). However, it appears that raising Ca^{2+} does not activate AMPK in cardiac myocytes. Although Ca^{2+} was not measured in the present study, adrenaline increased activity of CAMKII, indicating activation of Ca^{2+} signalling. In the present study, phorbol ester was found to inhibit AMPK activity. However, phorbol ester has been reported to have no effect on AMPK in skeletal muscle (Hutchinson and Bengtsson 2006), while it has been shown to activate AMPK in endothelial cells (Xie et al 2006). The effect of phorbol ester in endothelial cells was probably due to activation of PKCζ, possibly via activation of PI3K and PDK1 (Farese 2002), as it was abolished by an inhibitor for PKCζ. As mentioned above, there is the possibility that PKCζ also activates AMPK in cardiac myocytes. Although the present observation that PMA inhibited AMPK in cardiac myocytes apparently contradicts this possibility, phorbol ester has been reported to have no effect on the activation of PKC in cardiac myocytes (Puceat et al 1994). The reason for these tissue-specific effects of adrenergic signalling on AMPK is unknown, but it may be partly due to difference in expression pattern of AKAPs, PKC anchoring proteins, or different compartmentalisation of Ca²⁺ signalling. It could also be due to differences in expression of AMPKKs and other AMPK-associated proteins. The tissue specificity of the hormonal regulation of 137

AMPK is not unique to adrenergic agents. Both leptin and ghrelin have been shown to have different effects on AMPK in different tissues (Sections 1.6.5.i and j).

It is not clear whether adrenaline decreases cardiac AMPK activity in vivo. Although adrenaline appears to have a direct inhibitory effect on AMPK in cardiac myocytes, the observations in perfused hearts made in the present study and in the previous study by Clark *et al* suggest that the activation of AMPK by palmitate is essential for the effect of adrenaline to inactivate AMPK in perfused hearts. However, because the heart is normally exposed to long chain fatty acids in vivo, it is possible that adrenaline decreases cardiac AMPK activity in vivo. However, at present, there is a considerable controversy in the literature over the effect of long chain fatty acids to activate AMPK. Apart from the previous study by Clark et al, the activation of AMPK by long chain fatty acids has been reported in cultured neonatal cardiac myocytes and in skeletal muscle cells (Hickson-Bick et al 2000; Fediuc et al 2006; Watt et al 2006). However, other investigators have failed to see an activation of AMPK by long chain fatty acids in perfused hearts or in rat skeletal muscle (Crozier et al 2005; Folmes et al 2006; Olsen and Hansen 2002). Crozier et al have even reported a decrease in AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation in hearts perfused with palmitate compared to hearts perfused with glucose alone (Crozier et al 2005). An in vivo study showed that dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids decreased the extent of a decrease in rat hepatic AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation and activity seen during fasting/refeeding (Suchankova et al 2005), implying activating effect of fatty acids. In contrast, a study by Dobrzyn et al in mice showed that dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids did not cause any change in AMPK Thr172 phosphorylation in liver, skeletal muscle, and heart (Dobrzyn et al 2005). The lack of the effect of fatty acids to activate AMPK may explain the observation by King et al that infusion of dobutamine did not decrease cardiac AMPK activity in vivo (King et al 2005). In the present study, although a significant 2- to 3- fold activation of AMPK by palmitate was observed in cardiac myocytes in the early stage of the study, this marked effect was subsequently lost for unknown reasons. Palmitate also did not activate AMPK in perfused hearts indicating the loss of the effect is not related to myocyte isolation. It is still possible that hearts perfused with glucose alone were energetically compromised, and the AMPK-activating effect of palmitate was blunted by a simultaneous effect of palmitate to increase ATP production and so inhibit AMPK.

However, this is unlikely because HPLC analysis of the total adenine nucleotides showed that the AMP/ATP ratio in the hearts perfused with glucose alone $(0.067\pm0.02, n=4)$ was not significantly different from that in the hearts perfused with palmitate $(0.087\pm0.02, n=4)$.

The observation that adrenaline inhibited activation of AMPK by sorbitol in myocytes suggests that adrenaline may inhibit cardiac AMPK *in vivo* during hyperosmotic situations. However, it is not known whether this inhibitory effect of adrenaline on hyperosmolarity-induced activation of AMPK holds in the heart, and whether relatively small physiological fluctuations in blood osmolarity affect cardiac AMPK activity significantly.

Studies in cardiac myocytes and skeletal muscle have suggested that activation of AMPK attenuates protein translation through activation of eEF2 kinase and through inhibition of the mTOR-p70 S6 kinase pathway (Chan and Dyck 2005). Moreover, activation of AMPK by AICAR or adiponectin has been shown to inhibit α_1 adrenergic receptor-induced hypertrophic response in cardiac myocytes (Chan et al 2004; Shibata et al 2004). Therefore, the inhibition of AMPK by adrenaline could potentially play a role in the development of hypertrophy by prolonged adrenergic stimulation. It appears that AMPK has an anti-apoptotic role in the heart (Terai et al 2005; An et al 2006). Thus, the effect of adrenaline to inhibit AMPK might also be involved in adrenergic stimulation of apoptosis. Both AMPK and adrenergic stimulation regulate some of the key enzymes/processes involved in glucose and fatty acid catabolism, namely glucose uptake, PFK2, and ACC2. Cardiac ACC2 has been shown to be phosphorylated and inactivated by PKA and AMPK in vitro (Boone et al 1999). Although phosphorylation of ACC has been shown to occur in cardiac myocytes in response to isoproterenol (Boone et al 1999), it has been reported that adrenaline does not change ACC activity in perfused hearts (Goodwin and Taegtmeyer 1999). This observation may be explained by the inhibition of AMPK activity by adrenaline. In hearts exposed to fatty acids (e.g. in the above study by Goodwin and Taegtmeyer and *in vivo* hearts), it is possible that there is high basal phosphorylation of ACC2 by AMPK due to activation of AMPK by fatty acids. Adrenergic stimulation increases PKA-driven phosphorylation of ACC2, but at the same time removes the inhibitory effect of ACC2 by AMPK by inactivating AMPK.

This might result in no net change in ACC2 activity. The inhibition of AMPK by adrenaline is contradictory to the effect of the hormone to stimulate glucose catabolism in the heart. Similar paradoxical effects are also seen for insulin, which has been reported to inactivate cardiac AMPK but is also known to stimulate glucose uptake and glycolysis (Folmes et al 2006). It may be possible that the activating effect of adrenaline on glucose catabolism (e.g. through PKA and Ca²⁺-dependent mechanisms) dominates over the inhibitory effect due to removal of the activating effect of AMPK. Alternatively, there may be mechanisms to ensure that glucose catabolism is increased by adrenaline despite inhibition of AMPK. For example, the pool of AMPK that regulates glucose uptake and glycolysis may not be inhibited by adrenaline due to compartmentalisation of adrenergic signalling. The effect of adrenaline to inhibit AMPK may actually be a mechanism to fine-tune fuel catabolism according to the energy demand of the heart. During adrenergic stimulation, contractile activity is stimulated, increasing the demand for energy. Normally, this increase in demand for energy is adequately met by adrenergic stimulation of fuel catabolism (e.g. through PKA and Ca^{2+} -dependent mechanisms), so adrenaline turns off AMPK to prevent over-stimulation of catabolism. However, the energy demand arising from more intense contractile activity is not adequately met by adrenergic stimulation of catabolism, and under these conditions the AMP/ATP ratio begins to rise. This increase in the AMP/ATP ratio turns on AMPK. The present result shows that the inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK is markedly blunted when AMPK is activated by the AMP-pathway. Thus, under these conditions, AMPK and adrenergic stimulation synergistically stimulate catabolism to meet the extra demand for energy.

3.10 Conclusion

The original aim of the present study was to investigate the adrenergic signalling pathway responsible for the effect of adrenaline to inhibit palmitate-induced AMPK activation. The present results suggest that, in addition to activation of AMPK by palmitate, adrenaline may also inhibit activation of AMPK by sorbitol-induced hyperosmolarity. In contrast to the observation in perfused hearts, adrenaline also showed an apparently direct inhibitory effect on AMPK. Because the effect of palmitate to activate AMPK was lost during the present study, this direct effect of adrenaline on AMPK was investigated. The present data, particularly the observations that (1) the effect of adrenaline was independent of a detectable change in the AMP/ATP ratio, (2) the effect was mimicked by PMA, (3) adrenaline increased phosphorylation of the AMPK β 1 subunit suggest the possibility of a novel signalling/mechanism which regulates AMPK. The results from the present study also highlight the tissue specificity of adrenergic signalling and AMPK regulation.
3.11 Suggestions for further study

1. Investigation of whether a change in $NAD^+/NADH$ is responsible for the inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK.

2. Investigation of the effect of adrenaline with electrically stimulated cardiac myocytes to determine if contraction is responsible for the lack of the effect of adrenaline in perfused hearts.

3. Characterisation of the inhibitory effect of adrenaline on AMPK in the presence of sorbitol to clarify if the inhibitory effect seen when AMPK is activated by sorbitol is mechanistically identical to the effect of adrenaline under basal conditions.

3. Investigation of the effect of hyperosmolarity on AMPK activation in perfused hearts and the effect of adrenaline on hyperosmolarity-induced AMPK activation.

4. Investigation of the effect of adrenaline on the AMP-independent activation of AMPK by hypoxia and metformin.

5. Investigation of the adrenoreceptor subtypes mediating the effect of adrenaline using selective agonists and antagonists.

6. Investigation of G proteins involved in the effect of adrenaline using CTX, PTX, and a G_q inhibitor.

7. Determination of the effect of selective PKC inhibitors on α_1 and β mediated effect.

8. AMPKK activity assay using recombinant AMPK with total cell lysates or CAMKK β and LKB1 immunoprecipitated from cardiac myocytes treated with or without adrenaline.

9. Investigation of the effect of adrenaline on association of AMPK with AMPKKs.

10. Investigation of the effect of adrenaline on phosphorylation of the AMPK β 2 subunit.

11. Identification of the site on β 1 subunit phosphorylated by adrenaline and investigation of the role of this site in the effect of adrenaline by site directed mutagenesis.

Bibiliography

Adams, J., Chen, Z.-P., Van Denderen, B.J.W., Morton, C.J., Parker, M.W., Witters, L.A., Stapleton, D. and Kemp, B.E. (2004) Intrasteric control of AMPK via the γ 1 subunit AMP allosteric regulatory site. *Protein. Sci.* **13**, 155-165.

Adams, J.W., Sakata, Y., Davis, M.G., Sah, V.P., Wang, Y., Liggett, S.B., Chien, K.R., Brown, J.H. and Dorn, G.W., II (1998) Enhanced $G_{\alpha q}$ signaling: A common pathway mediates cardiac hypertrophy and apoptotic heart failure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **95**, 10140-10145.

Ait-Mamar, B., Cailleret, M., Rucker-Martin, C., Bouabdallah, A., Candiani, G., Adamy, C., Duvaldestin, P., Pecker, F., Defer, N. and Pavoine, C. (2005) The cytosolic phospholipase A_2 pathway, a safeguard of β_2 -adrenergic cardiac effects in rat. J. Biol. Chem. **280**, 18881-18890.

Akhter, S.A., Milano, C.A., Shotwell, K.F., Cho, M.-C., Rockman, H.A., Lefkowitz, R.J. and Koch, W.J. (1997) Transgenic mice with cardiac overexpression of α_{1B} -adrenergic receptors. *In vivo* α_1 -adrenergic receptor-mediated regulation of β -adrenergic signalling. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**, 21253-21259.

Alessi, D.R., Deak, M., Casemayor, A., Caudwell, F.B., Morrice, N., Norman, D.G., Gaffney, P., Reese, C.B., McDougall, C.N., Harbison, D., Ashworth, A. and Bownes, M. (1997) 3-Phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1 (PDK1): structural and functional homology with the Drosophilla DSTPK61 kinase. *Curr. Biol.* **7**, 776-89.

Alessi, D.R., Kozlowski, M.T., Weng, Q.-P., Morrice, N. and Avruch, J. (1998) 3-Phosphoinositidedependent protein kinase 1 (PDK1) phosphorylates and activates the p70 S6 kinase *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Curr. Biol.* **8**, 69-81.

Allard, M.F., Parsons, H.L., Saeedi, R., Wambolt, R.B. and Brownsey, R. (2006) AMPK and metabolic adaptation by the heart to pressure overload. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* In press.

Alloatti, G., Montrucchio, G., Lembo, G. and Hirsch, E. (2004) Phosphoinositide 3-kinase γ : kinase-dependent and -independent activities in cardiovascular function and disease. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **32**, 383-6.

Altarejos, J.Y., Taniguchi, M., Clanachan, A.S. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (2005) Myocardial ischemia differentially regulates LKB1 and an alternate 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 183-190.

An, D., Kewalramani, G., Chan, J.K.Y., Qi, D., Ghosh, S., Pulinilkunnil, T., Abrahani, A., Innis, S.M. and Rodrigues, B. (2006) Metformin influences cardiomyocyte cell death by pathways that are dependent and independent of caspase-3. *Diabetologia* **49**, 2174-2184.

An, D., Kewalramani, G., Qi, D., Pulinilkunnil, T., Ghosh, S., Abrahani, A., Wambolt, R., Allard, M., Innis, S.M. and Rodrigues, B. (2005) β -agonist stimulation produces changes in cardiac AMPK and coronary lumen LPL only during increased workload. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **288**, E1120-1127.

Anderson, K.A., Means, R.L., Huang, Q.-H., Kemp, B.E., Goldstein, E.G., Selbert, M.A., Edelman, A.M., Fremeau, R.T. and Means, A.R. (1998) Components of a calmodulin-dependent protein kinase cascade. Molecular cloning, functional characterization and cellular localization of $Ca^{2+}/almodulin-dependent$ protein kinase β . J. Biol. Chem. **273**, 31880-31889.

Anderson, K.E., Coadwell, J., Stephens, L.R. and Hawkins, P.T. (1998) Translocation of PDK-1 to the plasma membrane is important in allowing PDK-1 to activate protein kinase B. *Curr. Biol.* **8**, 684-691.

Anderson, M.E. (2005) Calmodulin kinase signaling in heart: an intriguing candidate target for therapy of myocardial dysfunction and arrhythmias. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **106**, 39-55.

Andersson, U., Filipsson, K., Abbott, C.R., Woods, A., Smith, K., Bloom, S.R., Carling, D. and Small, C.J. (2004) AMP-activated protein kinase plays a role in the control of food intake. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 12005-12008.

Arad, M., Moskowitz, I.P., Patel, V.V., Ahmad, F., Perez-Atayde, A.R., Sawyer, D.B., Walter, M., Li, G.H., Burgon, P.G., Maguire, C.T., Stapleton, D., Schmitt, J.P., Guo, X.X., Pizard, A., Kupershmidt, S., Roden, D.M., Berul, C.I., Seidman, C.E. and Seidman, J.G. (2003) Transgenic mice overexpressing mutant PRKAG2 define the cause of Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome in glycogen storage cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* **107**, 2850-2856.

Aschenbach, W.G., Hirshman, M.F., Fujii, N., Sakamoto, K., Howlett, K.F. and Goodyear, L.J. (2002) Effect of AICAR treatment on glycogen metabolism in skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* **51**, 567-573.

Atkinson, L.L., Fischer, M.A. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (2002) Leptin activates cardiac fatty acid oxidation independent of changes in the AMP-activated protein kinase-acetyl-CoA carboxylase-malonyl-CoA axis. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 29424-29430.

Autelitano, D.J. and Woodcock, E.A. (1998) Selective activation of α_{1A} -adrenergic receptors in neonatal cardiac myocytes is sufficient to cause hypertrophy and differential regulation of α_1 -adrenergic receptor subtype mRNAs. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. **30**, 1515-1523.

Awan, M.M. and Saggerson, E.D. (1993) Malonyl-CoA metabolism in cardiac myocytes and its relevance to the control of fatty acid oxidation. *Biochem. J.* **295**, 61-66.

Baek, K., Das, T., Gray, C., Antar, S., Murugesan, G. and Im, M. (1993) Evidence that the G_h protein is a signal mediator from α_1 - adrenoceptor to a phospholipase C. Identification of α_1 - adrenoceptor-coupled G_h family and purification of G_{h7} from bovine heart. J. Biol. Chem. **268**, 27390-27397.

Banerjee, R.R., Rangwala, S.M., Shapiro, J.S., Rich, A.S., Rhoades, B., Qi, Y., Wang, J., Rajala, M.W., Pocai, A., Scherer, P.E., Steppan, C.M., Ahima, R.S., Obici, S., Rossetti, L. and Lazar, M.A. (2004) Regulation of fasted blood glucose by resistin. *Science* **303**, 1195-1198.

Barazzoni, R., Bosutti, A., Stebel, M., Cattin, M.R., Roder, E., Visintin, L., Cattin, L., Biolo, G., Zanetti, M. and Guarnieri, G. (2005) Ghrelin regulates mitochondrial-lipid metabolism gene expression and tissue fat distribution in liver and skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **288**, E228-235.

Baron, S.J., Li, J., Russell, R.R., III, Neumann, D., Miller, E.J., Tuerk, R., Wallimann, T., Hurley, R.L., Witters, L.A. and Young, L.H. (2005) Dual mechanisms regulating AMPK kinase action in the ischemic heart. *Circ. Res.* **96**, 337-345.

Bartel, S., Krause, E.-G., Wallukat, G. and Karczewski, P. (2003) New insights into β_2 -adrenoceptor signaling in the adult rat heart. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **57**, 694-703.

Bauman, A.L., Soughayer, J., Nguyen, B.T., Willoughby, D., Carnegie, G.K., Wong, W., Hoshi, N., Langeberg, L.K., Cooper, D.M.F., Dessauer, C.W. and Scott, J.D. (2006) Dynamic regulation of cAMP synthesis through anchored PKA-adenylyl cyclase V/VI complexes. *Mol. Cell.* **23**, 925-931.

Bayewitch, M.L., Avidor-reiss, T., Levy, R., Pfeuffer, T., Nevo, I., Simonds, W.F. and Vogel, Z. (1998) Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase isoforms V and VI by various $G_{\beta\gamma}$ subunits. *FASEB J.* **12**, 1019-1025.

Beauloye, C., Marsin, A.-S., Bertrand, L., Krause, U., Hardie, D.G., Vanoverschelde, J.-L. and Hue, L. (2001) Insulin antagonizes AMP-activated protein kinase activation by ischemia or anoxia in rat hearts, without affecting total adenine nucleotides. *FEBS Lett.* **505**, 348-352.

Beauloye, C., Marsin, A.-S., Bertrand, L., Vanoverschelde, J.-L., Rider, M.H. and Hue, L. (2002) The stimulation of heart glycolysis by increased workload does not require AMP-activated protein kinase but a wortmannin-sensitive mechanism. *FEBS Lett.* **531**, 324-328.

Benovic, J., Pike, L., Cerione, R., Staniszewski, C., Yoshimasa, T., Codina, J., Caron, M. and Lefkowitz, R. (1985) Phosphorylation of the mammalian β -adrenergic receptor by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. Regulation of the rate of receptor phosphorylation and dephosphorylation

by agonist occupancy and effects on coupling of the receptor to the stimulatory guanine nucleotide regulatory protein. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 7094-7101.

Beri, R.K., Marley, A.E., See, C.G., Sopwith, W.F., Aguan, K., Carling, D., Scott, J. and Carey, F. (1994) Molecular cloning, expression and chromosomal localisation of human AMP-activated protein kinase. *FEBS Lett.* **356**, 117-121.

Bers, D.M. (2002) Cardiac excitation-contraction coupling. Nature 415, 198-205.

Berstein, G., Blank, J.L., Jhon, D.-Y., Exton, J.H., Rhee, S.G. and Ross, E.M. (1992) Phospholipase C- β 1 is a GTPase-activating protein for G_{q(11}, its physiologic regulator. *Cell* **70**, 411-418.

Beyer, A., Kitzerow, A., Crute, B., Kemp, B., Witters, L. and Heilmeyer, L.M.J. (2000) Muscle phosphorylase kinase is not a substrate of AMP-activated protein kinase. *Biol. Chem.* **381**, 457-61.

Bishopric, N.H., Andreka, P., Slepak, T. and Webster, K.A. (2001) Molecular mechanisms of apoptosis in the cardiac myocyte. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 1, 141-150.

Bogoyevitch, M.A., Andersson, M.B., Gillespie-Brown, J., Clerk, A., Glennon, P.E., Fuller, S.J. and Sugden, P.H. (1996) Adrenergic receptor stimulation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade and cardiac hypertrophy. *Biochem. J.* **314**, 115-121.

Bogoyevitch, M.A., Parker, P.J. and Sugden, P.H. (1993) Characterization of protein kinase C isotype expression in adult rat heart. Protein kinase C-epsilon is a major isotype present, and it is activated by phorbol esters, epinephrine, and endothelin. *Circ. Res.* **72**, 757-67.

Bohm, M., Eschenhagen, T., Gierschik, P., Larisch, K., Lensche, H., Mende, U., Schmitz, W., Schnabel, P., Scholz, H., Steinfath, M. and Erdmann, E. (1994) Radioimmunochemical Quantification of $G_{i\alpha}$ in right and left vehicles from patients with ischaemic and dilated cardiomyopathy and predominant left ventricular failure. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* **26**, 133-149.

Bolster, D.R., Crozier, S.J., Kimball, S.R. and Jefferson, L.S. (2002) AMP-activated protein kinase suppresses protein synthesis in rat skeletal muscle through down-regulated mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 23977-23980.

Bond, R.A., Leff, P., Johnson, T.D., Milano, C.A., Rockman, H.A., McMinn, T.R., Apparsundaram, S., Hyek, M.F., Kenakin, T.P., Allen, L.F. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (1995) Physiological effects of inverse agonists in transgenic mice with myocardial overexpression of the β_2 -adrenoceptor. *Nature* 374, 272-276.

Boone, A.N., Rodrigues, B. and Brownsey, R.W. (1999) Multiple-site phosphorylation of the 280 kDa isoform of acetyl-CoA carboxylase in rat cardiac myocytes: evidence that cAMP-dependent preotin kinase mediates effects of β -adrenergic stimulation. *Biochem. J.* **341**, 347-354.

Boudeau, J., Sapkota, G. and Alessi, D.R. (2003) LKB1, a protein kinase regulating cell proliferation and polarity. *FEBS Lett.* **546**, 159-165.

Brodde, O.-E., Bruck, H., Leineweber, K. and Seyfarth, T. (2001) Presence, distribution and physiological function of adrenergic and muscarinic receptor subtypes in the human heart. *Basic. Res. Cardiol.* **96**, 528-538.

Browne, G.J., Finn, S.G. and Proud, C.G. (2004) Stimulation of the AMP-activated protein kinase leads to activation of eukaryotic elongation factor 2 kinase and to its phosphorylation at a novel site, serine 398. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 12220-12231.

Browne, G.J. and Proud, C.G. (2004) A novel mTOR-regulated phosphorylation site in elongation factor 2 kinase modulates the activity of the kinase and its binding to calmodulin. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 2986-2997.

Burns, A. and Reddy, W. (1977) Hexose monophosphate shunt in isolated cardiac myocytes from normal rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 232, E570-573.

Bushfield, M., Pyne, N.J. and Houslay, M.D. (1990) Changes in the phosphorylation state of the inhibitory guanine-nucleotide-binding protein G_{i-2} in hepatocytes from lean (Fa/Fa) and obese (fa/fa) Zucker rats. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **192**, 537-42.

Carling, D., Aguan, K., Woods, A., Verhoeven, A., Beri, R., Brennan, C., Sidebottom, C., Davison, M. and Scott, J. (1994) Mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase is homologous to yeast and plant protein kinases involved in the regulation of carbon metabolism. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 11442-11448.

Carling, D., Clarke, P.R., Zammit, V.A. and Hardie, D.G. (1989) Purification and characterization of the AMP-activated protein kinase. Copurification of acetyl-CoA carboxylase kinase and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase kinase activities. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **186**, 129-136.

Carling, D. and Hardie, D.G. (1989) The substrate and sequence specificity of the AMP-activated protein kinase. Phosphorylation of glycogen synthase and phosphorylase kinase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1012**, 81-6.

Carling, D., Zammit, V.A. and Hardie, D.G. (1987) A common bicyclic protein kinase cascade inactivates the regulatory enzymes of fatty acid and cholesterol biosynthesis. *FEBS Lett.* **223**, 217-222.

Carlisle Michel, J.J., Dodge, K.L., Wong, W., Mayer, N.C., Langeberg, L.K. and Scott, J.D. (2004) PKA-phosphorylation of PDE4D3 facilitates recruitment of the mAKAP signalling complex. *Biochem. J.* 381, 587-92.

Chabowski, A., Momken, I., Coort, S.L.M., Calles-Escandon, J., Tandon, N.N., Glatz, J.F.C., Luiken, J.J.F.P. and Bonen, A. (2006) Prolonged AMPK activation increases the expression of fatty acid transporters in cardiac myocytes and perfused hearts. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* **288**, 201-212.

Chan, A.Y. and Dyck, J.R. (2005) Activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) inhibits protein synthesis: a potential strategy to prevent the development of cardiac hypertrophy. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **83**, 24-8.

Chan, A.Y.M., Soltys, C.-L.M., Young, M.E., Proud, C.G. and Dyck, J.R.B. (2004) Activation of AMP-activated protein kinase inhibits protein synthesis associated with hypertrophy in the cardiac myocyte. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 32771-32779.

Chang, D.J., Chang, T.K., Yamanishi, S.S., Salazar, F.H.R., Kosaka, A.H., Khare, R., Bhakta, S., Jasper, J.R., Shieh, I.-S. and Lesnick, J.D. (1998) Molecular cloning, genomic characterization and expression of novel human α_{1A} -adrenoceptor isoforms. *FEBS Lett.* **422**, 279-283.

Chen, H., Montagnani, M., Funahashi, T., Shimomura, I. and Quon, M.J. (2003) Adiponectin stimulates production of nitric oxide in vascular endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 45021-45026.

Chen, Y., Harry, A., Li, J., Smit, M.J., Bai, X., Magnusson, R., Pieroni, J.P., Weng, G. and Iyengar, R. (1997) Adenylyl cyclase 6 is selectively regulated by protein kinase A phosphorylation in a region involved in G_{as} stimulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **94**, 14100-14104.

Chen, Z.-P., Heierhorst, J., Mann, R.J., Mitchelhill, K.I., Michell, B.J., Witters, L.A., Lynch, G.S., Kemp, B.E. and Stapleton, D. (1999) Expression of the AMP-activated protein kinase $\beta 1$ and $\beta 2$ subunits in skeletal muscle. *FEBS Lett.* **460**, 343-348.

Chen, Z.-P., Stephens, T.J., Murthy, S., Canny, B.J., Hargreaves, M., Witters, L.A., Kemp, B.E. and McConell, G.K. (2003) Effect of exercise intensity on skeletal muscle AMPK signaling in humans. *Diabetes* **52**, 2205-2212.

Cheng, S.W.Y., Fryer, L.G.D., Carling, D. and Shepherd, P.R. (2004) Thr2446 is a novel mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) phosphorylation site regulated by nutrient status. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 15719-15722.

Chesley, A., Lundberg, M.S., Asai, T., Xiao, R.-P., Ohtani, S., Lakatta, E.G. and Crow, M.T. (2000) The β_2 -adrenergic receptor delivers an antiapoptotic signal to cardiac myocytes through G_i-dependent coupling to phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase. *Circ. Res.* 87, 1172-1179.

Cheung, P.C.F., Salt, I.P., Davies, S.P., Hardie, D.G. and Carling, D. (2000) Characterization of AMP-activated protein kinase γ -subunit isoforms and their role in AMP binding. *Biochem. J.* 346, 659-669.

Claing, A., Chen, W., Miller, W.E., Vitale, N., Moss, J., Premont, R.T. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (2001) β -Arrestin-mediated ADP-ribosylation factor 6 activation and β_2 -adrenergic receptor endocytosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 42509-42513.

Clark, H., Carling, D. and Saggerson, D. (2004) Covalent activation of heart AMP-activated protein kinase in response to physiological concentrations of long-chain fatty acids. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 271, 2215-2224.

Clark, M. and Patten, G. (1984) Adrenergic regulation of glucose metabolism in rat heart. A calciumdependent mechanism mediated by both α - and β -adrenergic receptors. J. Biol. Chem. **259**, 15204-15211.

Clerk, A., Bogoyevitch, M., Anderson, M. and Sugden, P. (1994) Differential activation of protein kinase C isoforms by endothelin-1 and phenylephrine and subsequent stimulation of p42 and p44 mitogen- activated protein kinases in ventricular myocytes cultured from neonatal rat hearts. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 32848-32857.

Clerk, A., Michael, A. and Sugden, P.H. (1998) Stimulation of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in neonatal rat ventricular myocytes by the G protein-coupled receptor agonists, endothelin-1 and phenylephrine: a role in cardiac myocyte hypertrophy? J. Cell Biol. 142, 523-535.

Collins-Nakai, R.L., Noseworthy, D. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (1994) Epinephrine increases ATP production in hearts by preferentially increasing glucose metabolism. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **267**, H1862-1871.

Colomer, J.M., Mao, L., Rockman, H.A. and Means, A.R. (2003) Pressure overload selectively upregulates Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II *in vivo*. *Mol Endocrinol* **17**, 183-192.

Communal, C., Colucci, W.S. and Singh, K. (2000) p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway protects adult rat ventricular myocytes against β -Adrenergic receptor-stimulated apoptosis. Evidence for G_i-dependent activation. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 19395-19400.

Communal, C., Singh, K., Pimentel, D.R. and Colucci, W.S. (1998) Norepinephrine stimulates apoptosis in adult rat ventricular myocytes by activation of the β -adrenergic pathway. *Circulation* **98**, 1329-1334.

Cong, M., Perry, S.J., Lin, F.-T., Fraser, I.D., Hu, L.A., Chen, W., Pitcher, J.A., Scott, J.D. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (2001) Regulation of membrane targeting of the G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 by protein kinase A and its anchoring protein AKAP79. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 15192-15199.

Cooper, D.M.F., Yoshimura, M., Zhang, Y., Chiono, M. and Mahey, R. (1994) Capacitative Ca²⁺ entry regulates Ca²⁺-sensitive adenylyl cyclases. *Biochem. J.* **297**, 437-440.

Corton, J.M., Gillespie, J.G., Hawley, S.A. and Hardie, D.G. (1995) 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleoside. A specific method for activating AMP-activated protein kinase in intact cells? *Eur. J. Biochem.* **229**, 558-565.

Coven, D.L., Hu, X., Cong, L., Bergeron, R., Shulman, G.I., Hardie, D.G. and Young, L.H. (2003) Physiological role of AMP-activated protein kinase in the heart: graded activation during exercise. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **285**, E629-636.

Crackower, M.A., Oudit, G.Y., Kozieradzki, I., Sarao, R., Sun, H., Sasaki, T., Hirsch, E., Suzuki, A., Shioi, T. and Irie-Sasaki, J. (2002) Regulation of myocardial contractility and cell size by distinct PI3K-PTEN signaling pathways. *Cell* **110**, 737-749.

Crass III, M.F., Shipp, J.C. and M, P.G. (1975) Effects of catecholamines on myocardial endogenous substrates and contractility. *Am. J. Physiol.* 228, 618-626.

Crozier, S.J., Vary, T.C., Kimball, S.R. and Jefferson, L.S. (2005) Cellular energy status modulates translational control mechanisms in ischemic-reperfused rat hearts. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **289**, H1242-1250.

Crute, B.E., Seefeld, K., Gamble, J., Kemp, B.E. and Witters, L.A. (1998) Functional domains of the al Catalytic Subunit of the AMP-activated Protein Kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 35347-35354.

Csukai, M., Chen, C.-H., De Matteis, M.A. and Mochly-Rosen, D. (1997) The coatomer protein β '-COP, a selective binding protein (RACK) for protein kinase Cepsilon. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**, 29200-29206.

da Silva, C.G., Jarzyna, R., Specht, A. and Kaczmarek, E. (2006) Extracellular nucleotides and adenosine independently activate AMP-activated protein kinase in endothelial cells: involvement of P2 receptors and adenosine transporters. *Circ. Res.* **98**, e39-47.

da Silva Xavier, G., Leclerc, I., Salt, I.P., Doiron, B., Hardie, D.G., Kahn, A. and Rutter, G.A. (2000) Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in the regulation by glucose of islet β cell gene expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **97**, 4023-4028.

da Silva Xavier, G., Leclerc, I., Varadi, A., Tsuboi, T., Moule, S.K. and Rutter, G.A. (2003) Role for AMP-activated protein kinase in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and preproinsulin gene expression. *Biochem. J.* **371**, 761-74.

Daaka, Y., Luttrell, L.M. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (1997) Switching of the coupling of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor to different G proteins by protein kinase A. *Nature* **390**, 88-91.

Dale, S., Wilson, W.A., Edelman, A.M. and Hardie, D.G. (1995) Similar substrate recognition motifs for mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase, higher plant HMG-CoA reductase kinase-A, yeast SNF1, and mammalian calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I. *FEBS Lett.* **361**, 191-195.

D'Angelo, D.D., Sakata, Y., Lorenz, J.N., Boivin, G.P., Walsh, R.A., Liggett, S.B. and Dorn, G.W., II (1997) Transgenic $G_{\alpha q}$ overexpression induces cardiac contractile failure in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **94**, 8121-8126.

Daniel, T. and Carling, D. (2002a) Functional analysis of mutations in the γ 2 subunit of AMPactivated protein kinase associated with cardiac hypertrophy and Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 51017-51024.

Daniel, T. and Carling, D. (2002b) Expression and regulation of the AMP-activated protein kinase-SNF1 (sucrose non-fermenting 1) kinase complexes in yeast and mammalian cells: studies using chimeric catalytic subunits. *Biochem. J.* **365**, 629-638.

Das, T., Baek, K., Gray, C. and Im, M. (1993) Evidence that the G_h protein is a signal mediator from α_1 - adrenoceptor to a phospholipase C. Purification and characterization of a G_h -coupled 69-kDa phospholipase C and reconstitution of α_1 -adrenoceptor, G_h family, and phospholipase C. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 27398-27405.

Daval, M., Diot-Dupuy, F., Bazin, R., Hainault, I., Viollet, B., Vaulont, S., Hajduch, E., Ferre, P. and Foufelle, F. (2005) Anti-lipolytic action of AMP-activated protein kinase in rodent adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 25250-25257.

Davies, J.K., Wells, D.J., Liu, K., Whitrow, H.R., Daniel, T.D., Grignani, R., Lygate, C.A., Schneider, J.E., Noel, G., Watkins, H. and Carling, D. (2006) Characterization of the role of γ2 R531G mutation in AMP-activated protein kinase in cardiac hypertrophy and Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **290**, H1942-1951.

Davies, S.P., Carling, D. and Hardie, D.G. (1989) Tissue distribution of the AMP-activated protein kinase, and lack of activation by cyclic-AMP-dependent protein kinase, studied using a specific and sensitive peptide assay. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **186**, 123-128.

Davies, S.P., Hawley, S.A., Woods, A., Carling, D., Haystead, T.A. and Hardie, D.G. (1994) Purification of the AMP-activated protein kinase on ATP- γ -sepharose and analysis of its subunit structure. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **223**, 351-7.

Davies, S.P., Helps, N.R., Cohen, P.T.W. and Hardie, D.G. (1995) 5'-AMP inhibits dephosphorylation, as well as promoting phosphorylation, of the AMP-activated protein kinase. Studies using bacterially expressed human protein phosphatase- $2C\alpha$ and native bovine protein phosphatase-2Ac. FEBS Lett. 377, 421-425.

de Rooij, J., Zwartkruis, F.J.T., Verheijen, M.H.G., Cool, R.H., Nijman, S.M.B., Wittinghofer, A. and Bos, J.L. (1998) Epac is a Rap1 guanine-nucleotide-exchange factor directly activated by cyclic AMP. Nature **396**, 474-477.

Debetto, P., Cargnelli, G., Antolini, M., Bova, S., Trevisi, L., Varotto, R. and Luciani, S. (1999) α_1 -adrenoceptor-mediated formation of glycerophosphoinositol 4-phosphate in rat heart: possible role in the positive inotropic response. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **58**, 1437-1446.

Deng, X.-F., Sculptoreanu, A., Mulay, S., Peri, K.G., Li, J.-F., Zheng, W.-H., Chemtob, S. and Varma, D.R. (1998) Crosstalk between α -1A and α -1B adrenoceptors in neonatal rat myocardium: implications in cardiac hypertrophy. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **286**, 489-496.

Denton, R.M., McCormack, J.G., Rutter, G.A., Burnett, P., Edgell, N.J., Moule, S.K. and Diggle, T.A. (1996) The hormonal regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex. *Adv. Enzyme. Regul.* **36**, 183-198.

Denton, R.M., Richards, D.A. and Chin, J.G. (1978) Calcium ions and the regulation of NAD⁺-linked isocitrate dehydrogenase from the mitochondria of rat heart and other tissues. *Biochem. J.* **176**, 899-906.

Depre, C., Ponchaut, S., Deprez, J., Maisin, L. and Hue, L. (1998) Cyclic AMP suppresses the inhibition of glycolysis by alternative oxidizable substrates in the heart. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 390-397.

Devic, E., Xiang, Y., Gould, D. and Kobilka, B. (2001) β -adrenergic receptor subtype-specific signaling in cardiac myocytes from β_1 and β_2 adrenoceptor knockout mice. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **60**, 577-583.

Diviani, D., Lattion, A.-L. and Cotecchia, S. (1997) Characterization of the phosphorylation sites involved in G protein-coupled receptor kinase- and protein kinase C-mediated desensitization of the α_{1B} -adrenergic receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 28712-28719.

Diviani, D., Lattion, A.-L., Larbi, N., Kunapuli, P., Pronin, A., Benovic, J.L. and Cotecchia, S. (1996) Effect of different G protein-coupled receptor kinases on phosphorylation and desensitization of the α_{1B} -adrenergic receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 5049-5058.

Diviani, D., Soderling, J. and Scott, J.D. (2001) AKAP-Lbc anchors protein kinase A and nucleates $G_{\alpha 12}$ -selective Rho-mediated stress fiber formation. J. Biol. Chem. **276**, 44247-44257.

Dobrzyn, A., Dobrzyn, P., Miyazaki, M. and Ntambi, J.M. (2005) Polyunsaturated fatty acids do not activate AMP-activated protein kinase in mouse tissues. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 332, 892-896.

Dodge, K.L., Khouangsathiene, S., Kapiloff, M.S., Mouton, R., Hill, E.V., Houslay, M.D., Langeberg, L.K. and Scott, J.D. (2001) mAKAP assembles a protein kinase A/PDE4 phosphodiesterase cAMP signalling module. *EMBO J.* **20**, 1921-30.

Dodge-Kafka, K.L., Langeberg, L. and Scott, J.D. (2006) Compartmentation of cyclic nucleotide signaling in the heart: the role of A-Kinase anchoring proteins. *Circ. Res.* **98**, 993-1001.

Dodge-Kafka, K.L., Soughayer, J., Pare, G.C., Carlisle Michel, J.J., Langeberg, L.K., Kapiloff, M.S. and Scott, J.D. (2005) The protein kinase A anchoring protein mAKAP coordinates two integrated cAMP effector pathways. *Nature* **437**, 574-578.

Doenst, T. and Taegtmeyer, H. (1999) α -Adrenergic stimulation mediates glucose uptake through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in rat heart. *Circ. Res.* **84**, 467-474.

Dong, L.Q. and Liu, F. (2005) PDK2: the missing piece in the receptor tyrosine kinase signaling pathway puzzle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **289**, E187-196.

Dorn II, G.W., and Force, T. (2005) Protein kinase cascades in the regulation of cardiac hypertrophy. *J. Clin. Invest.* 115, 527-537.

Dorn II, G.W. and Brown, J.H. (1999) G_q signaling in cardiac adaptation and maladaptation. *Trends.* Cardiovas. Med. 9, 26-34.

Dutil, E.M., Toker, A. and Newton, A.C. (1998) Regulation of conventional protein kinase C isozymes by phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK-1). *Curr. Biol.* **8**, 1366-1375.

Dyck, J.R.B., Gao, G., Widmer, J., Stapleton, D., Fernandez, C.S., Kemp, B.E. and Witters, L.A. (1996) Regulation of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase activity by the noncatalytic β and γ subunits. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 17798-17803.

Dyck, J.R.B., Kudo, N., Barr, A.J., Davies, S.P., Hardie, D.G. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (1999) Phosphorylation control of cardiac acetyl-CoA carboxylase by cAMP-dependent protein kinase and 5'-AMP activated protein kinase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **262**, 184-190.

Dyck, J.R.B. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (2006) AMPK alterations in cardiac physiology and pathology: enemy or ally? *J. Physiol.* **574**, 95-112.

Eckhart, A.D., Duncan, S.J., Penn, R.B., Benovic, J.L., Lefkowitz, R.J. and Koch, W.J. (2000) Hybrid transgenic mice reveal *in vivo* specificity of G protein-coupled receptor kinases in the heart. *Circ. Res.* **86**, 43-50.

Edman, C.F. and Schulman, H. (1994) Identification and characterization of deltaB-CaM kinase and deltaC-CaM kinase from rat heart, two new multifunctional Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase isoforms. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1221**, 89-101.

El-Mir, M.-Y., Nogueira, V., Fontaine, E., Averet, N., Rigoulet, M. and Leverve, X. (2000) Dimethylbiguanide inhibits cell respiration *via* an indirect effect targeted on the respiratory chain complex I. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 223-228.

Eschenhagen, T. (1993) G proteins and the heart. Cell. Biol. Int. 17, 723-750.

Espinasse, I., Iourgenko, V., Defer, N., Samson, F., Hanoune, J. and Mercadier, J.J. (1995) Type V, but not type VI, adenylyl cyclase mRNA accumulates in the rat heart during ontogenic development. Correlation with increased global adenylyl cyclase activity. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* **27**, 1789-95.

Esposito, G., Rapacciuolo, A., Naga Prasad, S.V., Takaoka, H., Thomas, S.A., Koch, W.J. and Rockman, H.A. (2002) Genetic alterations that inhibit *in vivo* pressure-overload hypertrophy prevent cardiac dysfunction despite increased wall stress. *Circulation* **105**, 85-92.

Fan, G.-F., Shumay, E., Wang, H.-Y. and Malbon, C.C. (2001) The Scaffold protein Gravin (cAMPdependent protein kinase-anchoring protein 250) binds the β_2 -adrenergic receptor via the receptor cytoplasmic Arg-329 to Leu-413 domain and provides a mobile scaffold during desensitization. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 24005-24014.

Farese, R.V. (2002) Function and dysfunction of aPKC isoforms for glucose transport in insulinsensitive and insulin-resistant states. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 283, E1-11.

Fediuc, S., Gaidhu, M.P. and Ceddia, R.B. (2006) Regulation of AMP-activated protein kinase and acetyl-CoA carboxylase phosphorylation by palmitate in skeletal muscle cells. *J. Lipid Res.* 47, 412-420.

Filippa, N., Sable, C.L., Filloux, C., Hemmings, B. and Van Obberghen, E. (1999) Mechanism of protein kinase B activation by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **19**, 4989-5000.

Fischer, Y., Kamp, J., Thomas, J., Popping, S., Rose, H., Carpene, C. and Kammermeier, H. (1996a) Signals mediating stimulation of cardiomyocyte glucose transport by the α -adrenergic agonist phenylephrine. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol.* **270**, C1211-1220.

Fischer, Y., Thomas, J., Holman, G.D., Rose, H. and Kammermeier, H. (1996b) Contractionindependent effects of catecholamines on glucose transport in isolated rat cardiomyocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol.* **270**, C1204-1210.

Folmes, C.D.L., Clanachan, A.S. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (2006) Fatty acids attenuate insulin regulation of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase and insulin cardioprotection after ischemia. *Circ. Res.* **99**, 61-68.

Fonseca, M.I., Button, D.C. and Brown, R.D. (1995) Agonist regulation of α_{1B} -adrenergic receptor subcellular distribution and function. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 8902-8909.

Francis, S.H. and Corbin, J.D. (1994) Structure and function of cyclic nucleotide-dependent protein kinases. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 56, 237-272.

Fraser, I.D., Tavalin, S.J., Lester, L.B., Langeberg, L.K., Westphal, A., Dean, R.A., Marrion, N.V. and Scott, J.D. (1998) A novel lipid-anchored A-kinase Anchoring Protein facilitates cAMP-responsive membrane events. *EMBO J.* **17**, 2261-72.

Frederich, M., Zhang, L. and Balschi, J.A. (2005) Hypoxia and AMP independently regulate AMPactivated protein kinase activity in heart. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **288**, H2412-2421.

Fryer, L.G.D., Parbu-Patel, A. and Carling, D. (2002) The anti-diabetic drugs rosiglitazone and metformin stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase through distinct signaling pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 25226-25232.

Fujii, N., Hirshman, M.F., Kane, E.M., Ho, R.C., Peter, L.E., Seifert, M.M. and Goodyear, L.J. (2005) AMP-activated protein kinase α^2 activity is not essential for contraction- and hyperosmolarity-induced glucose transport in skeletal muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 39033-39041.

Gallego, M., Setien, R., Puebla, L., Boyano-Adanez, M.d.C., Arilla, E. and Casis, O. (2005) α_1 -adrenoceptors stimulate a $G_{\alpha s}$ protein and reduce the transient outward K⁺ current *via* a cAMP/PKA-mediated pathway in the rat heart. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol.* **288**, C577-585.

Gambassi, G., Spurgeon, H.A., Lakatta, E.G., Blank, P.S. and Capogrossi, M.C. (1992) Different effects of α - and β -adrenergic stimulation on cytosolic pH and myofilament responsiveness to Ca²⁺ in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* **71**, 870-882.

Gambassi, G., Spurgeon, H.A., Ziman, B.D., Lakatta, E.G. and Capogrossi, M.C. (1998) Opposing effects of α_1 -adrenergic receptor subtypes on Ca²⁺ and pH homeostasis in rat cardiac myocytes. *Am. J Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **274**, H1152-1162.

Gamble, J. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (1997) Insulin inhibition of 5' adenosine monophosphate--activated protein kinase in the heart results in activation of acetyl coenzyme A carboxylase and inhibition of fatty acid oxidation. *Metabolism* **46**, 1270-1274.

Gao, G., Fernandez, C.S., Stapleton, D., Auster, A.S., Widmer, J., Dyck, J.R.B., Kemp, B.E. and Witters, L.A. (1996) Non-catalytic β - and γ -subunit isoforms of the 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 8675-8681.

Gao, X., Sadana, R., Dessauer, C.W. and Patel, T.B. (2006) Conditional stimulation of type V and VI adenylyl cyclases by G protein $\beta\gamma$ subunits. *J. Biol. Chem.* In Press.

Garcia-Sainz, J.A., Vazquez-Prado, J. and del Carmen Medina, L. (2000) α_1 -adrenoceptors: function and phosphorylation. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **389**, 1-12.

Gaughan, J.P., Hefner, C.A. and Houser, S.R. (1998) Electrophysiological properties of neonatal rat ventricular myocytes with α_1 -adrenergic-induced hypertrophy. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **275**, H577-590.

Gauthier, C., Leblais, V., Kobzik, L., Trochu, J.-N., Khandoudi, N., Bril, A., Balligand, J.-L. and Le Marec, H. (1998) The negative inotropic effect of β_3 -adrenoceptor stimulation is mediated by activation of a nitric oxide synthase pathway in human ventricle. J. Clin. Invest. **102**, 1377-1384.

Gauthier, C., Tavernier, G., Charpentier, F., Langin, D. and Le Marec, H. (1996) Functional β_3 -adrenoceptor in the human heart. J. Clin. Invest. 98, 556-562.

Geisbuhler, T., Altschuld, R.A., Trewyn, R.W., Ansel, A.Z., Lamka, K. and Brierley, G.P. (1984) Adenine nucleotide metabolism and compartmentalization in isolated adult rat heart cells. *Circ. Res.* **54**, 536-546.

Ghanouni, P., Gryczynski, Z., Steenhuis, J.J., Lee, T.W., Farrens, D.L., Lakowicz, J.R. and Kobilka, B.K. (2001) Functionally different agonists induce distinct conformations in the G protein coupling domain of the β_2 adrenergic receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 24433-24436.

Gimeno-Alcaniz, J.V. and Sanz, P. (2003) Glucose and type 2A protein phosphatase regulate the interaction between catalytic and regulatory subunits of AMP-activated protein kinase. J. Mol. Biol. **333**, 201-209.

Gold, M., Attar, H.J., Spitzer, J.J. and Scott, J.C. (1965) Effect of norepinephrine on myocardial free fatty acid uptake and oxidation. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* **118**, 876-879.

Goodwin, G.W., Ahmad, F., Doenst, T. and Taegtmeyer, H. (1998a) Energy provision from glycogen, glucose, and fatty acids on adrenergic stimulation of isolated working rat hearts. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **274**, H1239-1247.

Goodwin, G.W. and Taegtmeyer, H. (1999) Regulation of fatty acid oxidation of the heart by MCD and ACC during contractile stimulation. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 277, E772-777.

Goodwin, G.W., Taylor, C.S. and Taegtmeyer, H. (1998b) Regulation of energy metabolism of the heart during acute increase in heart work. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 29530-29539.

Graham, R.M., Perez, D.M., Hwa, J. and Piascik, M.T. (1996) α_1 -adrenergic receptor subtypes : molecular structure, function, and signaling. *Circ. Res.* **78**, 737-749.

Guimond, J., Mamarbachi, A.M., Allen, B.G., Rindt, H. and Hebert, T.E. (2005) Role of specific protein kinase C isoforms in modulation of β_1 - and β_2 -adrenergic receptors. *Cell. Signal.* 17, 49-58.

Habinowski, S.A., Hirshman, M., Sakamoto, K., Kemp, B.E., Gould, S.J., Goodyear, L.J. and Witters, L.A. (2001) Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase is not a substrate of AMP-activated protein kinase in rat fast-twitch skeletal muscle or an islet cell iine. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **396**, 71-79.

Hall, R.A. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (2002) Regulation of G protein-coupled receptor signaling by scaffold proteins. *Circ. Res.* **91**, 672-680.

Halse, R., Fryer, L.G.D., McCormack, J.G., Carling, D. and Yeaman, S.J. (2003) Regulation of glycogen synthase by glucose and glycogen: a possible role for AMP-activated protein kinase *Diabetes* **52**, 9-15.

Hamilton, S., Codina, J., Hawkes, M., Yatani, A., Sawada, T., Strickland, F., Froehner, S., Spiegel, A., Toro, L. and Stefani, E. (1991) Evidence for direct interaction of $G_{s\alpha}$ with the Ca²⁺ channel of skeletal muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**, 19528-19535.

Hamilton, S.R., O'Donnell, J., John B., Hammet, A., Stapleton, D., Habinowski, S.A., Means, A.R., Kemp, B.E. and Witters, L.A. (2002) AMP-activated protein kinase kinase: detection with recombinant AMPK α 1 subunit. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 293, 892-898.

Hamilton, S.R., Stapleton, D., O'Donnell, J., John B., Kung, J.T., Dalal, S.R., Kemp, B.E. and Witters, L.A. (2001) An activating mutation in the γ 1 subunit of the AMP-activated protein kinase. *FEBS Lett.* **500**, 163-168.

Han, S., Khuri, F.R. and Roman, J. (2006) Fibronectin stimulates non-small cell lung carcinoma cell growth through activation of Akt/mammalian target of rapamycin/S6 kinase and inactivation of LKB1/AMP-activated protein kinase signal pathways. *Cancer. Res.* **66**, 315-323.

Hardie, D.G., Hawley, S.A. and Scott, J.W. (2006) AMP-activated protein kinase - development of the energy sensor concept. J. Physiol. 574, 7-15.

Hart, M.J., Jiang, X., Kozasa, T., Roscoe, W., Singer, W.D., Gilman, A.G., Sternweis, P.C. and Bollag, G. (1998) Direct stimulation of the guanine nucleotide exchange activity of p115 RhoGEF by G_{a13} . Science **280**, 2112-2114.

Hawley, S., Boudeau, J., Reid, J., Mustard, K., Udd, L., Makela, T., Alessi, D. and Hardie, D.G. (2003) Complexes between the LKB1 tumor suppressor, STRAD α/β and MO25 α/β are upstream kinases in the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. J. Biol. **2**, 28.

Hawley, S.A., Davison, M., Woods, A., Davies, S.P., Beri, R.K., Carling, D. and Hardie, D.G. (1996) Characterization of the AMP-activated protein kinase kinase from rat liver and identification of Threonine 172 as the major site at which it phosphorylates AMP-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 27879-27887.

Hawley, S.A., Gadalla, A.E., Olsen, G.S. and Hardie, D.G. (2002) The antidiabetic drug metformin activates the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade *via* an adenine nucleotide-independent mechanism *Diabetes* **51**, 2420-2425.

Hawley, S.A., Pan, D.A., Mustard, K.J., Ross, L., Bain, J., Edelman, A.M., Frenguelli, B.G. and Hardie, D.G. (2005) Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase- β is an alternative upstream kinase for AMP-activated protein kinase. *Cell Metab.* **2**, 9-19.

Hawley, S.A., Selbert, M.A., Goldstein, E.G., Edelman, A.M., Carling, D. and Hardie, D.G. (1995) 5'-AMP Activates the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade, and $Ca^{2+/}$ calmodulin activates the calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I cascade, *via* three independent mechanisms. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 27186-27191.

Haworth, R.S., Cuello, F., Herron, T.J., Franzen, G., Kentish, J.C., Gautel, M. and Avkiran, M. (2004) Protein kinase D is a novel mediator of cardiac troponin I phosphorylation and regulates myofilament function. *Circ. Res.* **95**, 1091-1099.

Hayes, J.S. and Mayer, S.E. (1981) Regulation of guinea pig heart phosphorylase kinase by cAMP, protein kinase, and calcium. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **240**, E340-349.

Hebert, T.E. and Bouvier, M. (1998) Structural and functional aspects of G protein-coupled receptor oligomerization. *Biochem. Cell. Biol.* **76**, 1-11.

Hickson-Bick, D.L.M., Buja, M.L. and McMillin, J.B. (2000) Palmitate-mediated alterations in the fatty acid metabolism of rat neonatal cardiac myocytes. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 32, 511-519.

Hirasawa, A., Shibata, K., Horie, K., Takei, Y., Obika, K., Tanaka, T., Muramoto, N., Takagaki, K., Yano, J. and Tsujimoto, G. (1995) Cloning, functional expression and tissue distribution of human α_{1C} -adrenoceptor splice variants. *FEBS Lett.* **363**, 256-260.

Hoffman, B.B. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (1996) Goodman and Gilman's The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics 9th edn (eds Hardman, J. G., Gilman, A. G. & Limbird, L. E.) (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1996). 199-248.

Hong, S.-P., Leiper, F.C., Woods, A., Carling, D. and Carlson, M. (2003) Activation of yeast Snf1 and mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase by upstream kinases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 100, 8839-8843.

Horak, A.R. and Opie, L.H. (1983) Energy metabolism of the heart in catecholamine-induced myocardial injury. Concentration-dependent effects of epinephrine on enzyme release, mechanical function, and "oxygen wastage". *Adv. Myocardiol.* **4**, 23-43.

Horman, S., Beauloye, C., Vertommen, D., Vanoverschelde, J.-L., Hue, L. and Rider, M.H. (2003) Myocardial ischemia and increased heart work modulate the phosphorylation state of eukaryotic elongation factor-2. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 41970-41976.

Horman, S., Vertommen, D., Heath, R., Neumann, D., Mouton, V., Woods, A., Schlattner, U., Wallimann, T., Carling, D., Hue, L. and Rider, M.H. (2006) Insulin antagonizes ischemia-induced Thr172 phosphorylation of AMP-activated protein kinase α -subunits in heart via hierarchical phosphorylation of Ser485/491. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 5335-5340.

Houslay, M.D. and Milligan, G. (1997) Tailoring cAMP-signalling responses through isoform multiplicity. *Trends. Biochem. Sci.* 22, 217-224.

Hudson, E.R., Pan, D.A., James, J., Lucocq, J.M., Hawley, S.A., Green, K.A., Baba, O., Terashima, T. and Hardie, D.G. (2003) A novel domain in AMP-activated protein kinase causes glycogen storage bodies similar to those seen in hereditary cardiac arrhythmias. *Curr. Biol.* **13**, 861-866.

Humphries, K.M., Juliano, C. and Taylor, S.S. (2002) Regulation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase activity by glutathionylation. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 43505-43511.

Hurley, R.L., Anderson, K.A., Franzone, J.M., Kemp, B.E., Means, A.R. and Witters, L.A. (2005) The $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase kinases are AMP-activated protein kinase kinases. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 29060-29066.

Hurley, R.L., Barre, L.K., Wood, S.D., Anderson, K.A., Kemp, B.E., Means, A.R. and Witters, L.A. (2006) Regulation of AMP-activated protein kinase by multi-site phosphorylation in response to agents that elevate cellular cAMP. *J. Biol. Chem.* In press,

Hutber, C.A., Hardie, D.G. and Winder, W.W. (1997) Electrical stimulation inactivates muscle acetyl-CoA carboxylase and increases AMP-activated protein kinase. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **272**, E262-266.

Hutchinson, D.S. and Bengtsson, T. (2006) AMP-activated protein kinase activation by adrenoceptors in L6 skeletal muscle cells: mediation by α_1 -adrenoceptors causing glucose uptake. *Diabetes* **55**, 682-690.

Hutchinson, D.S., Chernogubova, E., Dallner, O.S., Cannon, B. and Bengtsson, T. (2005) β -Adrenoceptors, but not α -adrenoceptors, stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase in brown adipocytes independently of uncoupling protein-1. *Diabetologia* **48**, 2386-2395.

Huypens, P., Moens, K., Heimberg, H., Ling, Z., Pipeleers, D. and Van de Casteele, M. (2005a) Adiponectin-mediated stimulation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) in pancreatic β cells. *Life Sci.* 77, 1273-1282.

Huypens, P., Quartier, E., Pipeleers, D. and Van de Casteele, M. (2005b) Metformin reduces adiponectin protein expression and release in 3T3-L1 adipocytes involving activation of AMP activated protein kinase. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **518**, 90-95.

Imoto, Y., Yatani, A., Reeves, J.P., Codina, J., Birnbaumer, L. and Brown, A.M. (1988) α -subunit of G_s directly activates cardiac calcium channels in lipid bilayers. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **255**, H722-728.

Inglese, J., Freedman, N., Koch, W. and Lefkowitz, R. (1993) Structure and mechanism of the G protein-coupled receptor kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 23735-23738.

Ingwall, J.S. (2002) Is creatine kinase a target for AMP-activated protein kinase in the heart? J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 34, 1111-1120.

Inoki, K., Zhu, T. and Guan, K.-L. (2003) TSC2 mediates cellular energy response to control cell growth and survival. *Cell* **115**, 577-590.

Inokuma, K., Ogura-Okamatsu, Y., Toda, C., Kimura, K., Yamashita, H. and Saito, M. (2005) Uncoupling protein 1 is necessary for norepinephrine-induced glucose utilization in brown adipose tissue. *Diabetes* 54, 1385-1391.

Iseli, T.J., Walter, M., van Denderen, B.J.W., Katsis, F., Witters, L.A., Kemp, B.E., Michell, B.J. and Stapleton, D. (2005) AMP-activated protein kinase β subunit tethers α and γ subunits *via* its C-terminal sequence (186-270). *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 13395-13400.

Itani, S.I., Saha, A.K., Kurowski, T.G., Coffin, H.R., Tornheim, K. and Ruderman, N.B. (2003) Glucose autoregulates its uptake in skeletal muscle: involvement of AMP-activated protein kinase. *Diabetes* **52**, 1635-1640.

Iwai-Kanai, E., Hasegawa, K., Araki, M., Kakita, T., Morimoto, T. and Sasayama, S. (1999) α - and β adrenergic pathways differentially regulate cell type–specific apoptosis in rat cardiac myocytes. *Circulation* **100**, 305-311.

Iwami, G., Kawabe, J.-i., Ebina, T., Cannon, P.J., Homey, C.J. and Ishikawa, Y. (1995) Regulation of adenylyl cyclase by protein kinase A. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 12481-12484.

Jiang, R. and Carlson, M. (1997) The Snf1 protein kinase and its activating subunit, Snf4, interact with distinct domains of the Sip1/Sip2/Gal83 component in the kinase complex. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17, 2099-2106.

Jo, S.-H., Leblais, V., Wang, P.H., Crow, M.T. and Xiao, R.-P. (2002) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase functionally compartmentalizes the concurrent G_s signaling during β_2 -adrenergic stimulation. *Circ. Res.* **91**, 46-53.

Jones, D. and Reed, R. (1987) Molecular cloning of five GTP-binding protein cDNA species from rat olfactory neuroepithelium. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 14241-14249.

Jorgensen, S.B., Nielsen, J.N., Birk, J.B., Olsen, G.S., Viollet, B., Andreelli, F., Schjerling, P., Vaulont, S., Hardie, D.G., Hansen, B.F., Richter, E.A. and Wojtaszewski, J.F.P. (2004) The α 2-5'AMP-activated protein kinase is a site 2 glycogen synthase kinase in skeletal muscle and is responsive to glucose loading. *Diabetes* **53**, 3074-3081.

Kamp, T.J. and Hell, J.W. (2000) Regulation of cardiac L-type calcium channels by protein kinase A and protein kinase C. Circ. Res. 87, 1095-1102.

Kapiloff, M.S., Jackson, N. and Airhart, N. (2001) mAKAP and the ryanodine receptor are part of a multi-component signaling complex on the cardiomyocyte nuclear envelope. J. Cell. Sci. 114, 3167-3176.

Kashiwase, K., Higuchi, Y., Hirotani, S., Yamaguchi, O., Hikoso, S., Takeda, T., Watanabe, T., Taniike, M., Nakai, A. and Tsujimoto, I. (2005) CaMKII activates ASK1 and NF- κ B to induce cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **327**, 136-142.

Katsushika, S., Chen, L., Kawabe, J., Nilakantan, R., Halnon, N., Homcy, C. and Ishikawa, Y. (1992) Cloning and characterization of a sixth adenylyl cyclase isoform: types V and VI constitute a subgroup within the mammalian adenylyl cyclase family. *Proc. natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **89**, 8774-8778.

Kaumann, A.J., Sanders, L., Lynham, J.A., Bartel, S., Kuschel, M., Karczewski, P. and Krause, E.G. (1996) β_2 -adrenoreceptor activation by zinterol causes protein phosphorylation, contractile effects and relaxant effects through a cAMP pathway in human atrium. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* **163-164**, 113-23.

Kawabe, J., Iwami, G., Ebina, T., Ohno, S., Katada, T., Ueda, Y., Homcy, C. and Ishikawa, Y. (1994) Differential activation of adenylyl cyclase by protein kinase C isoenzymes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 16554-16558.

Kelly, M., Keller, C., Avilucea, P.R., Keller, P., Luo, Z., Xiang, X., Giralt, M., Hidalgo, J., Saha, A.K., Pedersen, B.K. and Ruderman, N.B. (2004) AMPK activity is diminished in tissues of IL-6 knockout mice: the effect of exercise. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **320**, 449-454.

Kemp, B.E. (2004) Bateman domains and adenosine derivatives form a binding contract. J. Clin. Invest. 113, 182-184.

Kerner, J. and Hoppel, C. (2000) Fatty acid import into mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1486, 1-17.

Kessar, P. and Crompton, M. (1981) The α -adrenergic-mediated activation of Ca²⁺ influx into cardiac mitochondria. A possible mechanism for the regulation of intramitochondrial free Ca²⁺. *Biochem. J.* **200**, 379-388.

Kimball, S.R., Siegfried, B.A. and Jefferson, L.S. (2004) Glucagon represses signaling through the mammalian target of rapamycin in rat liver by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 54103-54109.

Kimura, N., Tokunaga, C., Dalal, S., Richardson, C., Yoshino, K., Hara, K., Kemp, B.E., Witters, L.A., Mimura, O. and Yonezawa, K. (2003) A possible linkage between AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling pathway. *Genes. Cells* **8**, 65-79.

King, K.L., Okere, I.C., Sharma, N., Dyck, J.R.B., Reszko, A.E., McElfresh, T.A., Kerner, J., Chandler, M.P., Lopaschuk, G.D. and Stanley, W.C. (2005) Regulation of cardiac malonyl-CoA content and fatty acid oxidation during increased cardiac power. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **289**, H1033-1037.

Kishi, K., Yuasa, T., Minami, A., Yamada, M., Hagi, A., Hayashi, H., Kemp, B.E., Witters, L.A. and Ebina, Y. (2000) AMP-activated protein kinase is activated by the stimulations of G_q -coupled receptors. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **276**, 16-22.

Kitayama, H., Sugimoto, Y., Matsuzaki, T., Ikawa, Y. and Noda, M. (1989) A ras-related gene with transformation suppressor activity. *Cell* 56, 77-84.

Kochs, G., Hummel, R., Meyer, D., Hug, H., Marme, D. and Sarre, T.F. (1993) Activation and substrate specificity of the human protein kinase C α and zeta isoenzymes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **216**, 597-606.

Koide, H., Ogita, K., Kikkawa, U. and Nishizuka, Y. (1992) Isolation and characterization of the epsilon subspecies of protein kinase C from rat brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. **89**, 1149-1153.

Kola, B., Hubina, E., Tucci, S.A., Kirkham, T.C., Garcia, E.A., Mitchell, S.E., Williams, L.M., Hawley, S.A., Hardie, D.G., Grossman, A.B. and Korbonits, M. (2005) Cannabinoids and ghrelin have both central and peripheral metabolic and cardiac effects *via* AMP-activated protein kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 25196-25201.

Kopperud, R., Krakstad, C., Selheim, F. and Doskeland, S.O. (2003) cAMP effector mechanisms. Novel twists for an `old' signaling system. *FEBS Lett.* **546**, 121-126.

Kovacic, S., Soltys, C.-L.M., Barr, A.J., Shiojima, I., Walsh, K. and Dyck, J.R.B. (2003) Akt activity negatively regulates phosphorylation of AMP-activated protein kinase in the heart. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 39422-39427.

Kozasa, T. (2001) Regulation of G protein-mediated signal transduction by RGS proteins. *Life Sci.* 68, 2309-17.

Krishna Singh, L.X., Remondino, A., Sawyer, D.B., and Colucci, W.S. (2001) Adrenergic regulation of cardiac myocyte apoptosis. J. Cell. Physiol. 189, 257-265.

Kudo, N., Barr, A.J., Barr, R.L., Desai, S. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (1995) High rates of fatty acid oxidation during reperfusion of ischemic hearts are associated with a decrease in malonyl-CoA levels due to an increase in 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 17513-17520.

Kudo, N., Gillespie, J.G., Kung, L., Witters, L.A., Schulz, R., Clanachan, A.S. and Lopaschuk, G.D. (1996) Characterization of 5'AMP-activated protein kinase activity in the heart and its role in inhibiting acetyl-CoA carboxlase during reperfusion following ischemia. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1301**, 67-75.

Kurose, H. (2003) $G_{\alpha 12}$ and $G_{\alpha 13}$ as key regulatory mediator in signal transduction. *Life Sci.* 74, 155-161.

Kuschel, M., Karczewski, P., Hempel, P., Schlegel, W.-P., Krause, E.-G. and Bartel, S. (1999) Ser16 prevails over Thr17 phospholamban phosphorylation in the β -adrenergic regulation of cardiac relaxation. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **276**, H1625-1633.

Lader, A.S., Xiao, Y.-F., Ishikawa, Y., Cui, Y., Vatner, D.E., Vatner, S.F., Homcy, C.J. and Cantiello, H.F. (1998) Cardiac $G_{s\alpha}$ overexpression enhances L-type calcium channels through an adenylyl cyclase independent pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **95**, 9669-9674.

Ladilov, Y., Efe, O., Schafer, C., Rother, B., Kasseckert, S., Abdallah, Y., Meuter, K., Dieter Schluter, K. and Piper, H.M. (2003) Reoxygenation-induced rigor-type contracture. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* **35**, 1481-1490.

Lai, H.-L., Yang, T.-H., Messing, R.O., Ching, Y.-H., Lin, S.-C. and Chern, Y. (1997) Protein kinase C inhibits adenylyl cyclase type VI activity during desensitization of the A2a-Adenosine Receptormediated cAMP Response. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 4970-4977.

Laporte, S.A., Oakley, R.H., Holt, J.A., Barak, L.S. and Caron, M.G. (2000) The interaction of β -arrestin with the AP-2 adaptor is required for the clustering of β_2 -adrenergic receptor into clathrincoated pits. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 23120-23126. Laporte, S.A., Oakley, R.H., Zhang, J., Holt, J.A., Ferguson, S.S.G., Caron, M.G. and Barak, L.S. (1999) The β_2 -adrenergic receptor/ β arrestin complex recruits the clathrin adaptor AP-2 during endocytosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **96**, 3712-3717.

Lattion, A., Diviani, D. and Cotecchia, S. (1994) Truncation of the receptor carboxyl terminus impairs agonist-dependent phosphorylation and desensitization of the α_{1B} -adrenergic receptor. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 22887-22893.

Le Good, J.A., Ziegler, W.H., Parekh, D.B., Alessi, D.R., Cohen, P. and Parker, P.J. (1998) Protein kinase C isotypes controlled by phosphoinositide 3-kinase through the protein kinase PDK1. *Science* **281**, 2042-2045.

Leblais, V., Jo, S.-H., Chakir, K., Maltsev, V., Zheng, M., Crow, M.T., Wang, W., Lakatta, E.G. and Xiao, R.-P. (2004) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase offsets cAMP-mediated positive inotropic effect *via* inhibiting Ca²⁺ influx in cardiomyocytes. *Circ. Res.* **95**, 1183-1190.

Lemke, L.E., Bloem, L.J., Fouts, R., Esterman, M., Sandusky, G. and Vlahos, C.J. (2001) Decreased p38 MAPK activity in end-stage failing human myocardium: p38 MAPKa is the predominant isoform expressed in human heart. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* **33**, 1527-1540.

Li, J., Coven, D.L., Miller, E.J., Hu, X., Young, M.E., Carling, D., Sinusas, A.J. and Young, L.H. (2006) Activation of AMPK α - and γ -isoform complexes in the intact ischemic rat heart. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **291**, H1927-1934.

Li, J., Miller, E.J., Ninomiya-Tsuji, J., Russell, R.R., III and Young, L.H. (2005) AMP-activated protein kinase activates p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase by increasing recruitment of p38 MAPK to TAB1 in the ischemic heart. *Circ. Res.* **97**, 872-879.

Liggett, S.B., Tepe, N.M., Lorenz, J.N., Canning, A.M., Jantz, T.D., Mitarai, S., Yatani, A. and Dorn II, G.W. (2000) Early and delayed consequences of β_2 -adrenergic receptor overexpression in mouse hearts : critical role for expression level. *Circulation* **101**, 1707-1714.

Lindemann, J. (1986) α -adrenergic stimulation of sarcolemmal protein phosphorylation and slow responses in intact myocardium. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 4860-4867.

Liu, Q.Y., Karpinski, E. and Pang, P. (1994) The L-type calcium channel current is increased by α -1 adrenoreceptor activation in neonatal rat ventricular cells. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **271**, 935-43.

Lopez-Ilasaca, M., Crespo, P., Pellici, P.G., Gutkind, J.S. and Wetzker, R. (1997) Linkage of G protein-poupled receptors to the MAPK signaling pathway through PI 3-kinase γ . Science 275, 394-397.

Luiken, J.J.F.P., Coort, S.L.M., Koonen, D.P.Y., Bonen, A. and Glatz, J.F.C. (2004) Signalling components involved in contraction-inducible substrate uptake into cardiac myocytes. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 63, 251-258.

Luiken, J.J.F.P., Coort, S.L.M., Willems, J., Coumans, W.A., Bonen, A., van der Vusse, G.J. and Glatz, J.F.C. (2003) Contraction-induced fatty acid translocase/CD36 translocation in rat cardiac myocytes is mediated through AMP-activated protein kinase signaling. *Diabetes* **52**, 1627-1634.

Magne, S., Couchie, D., Pecker, F. and Pavoine, C. (2001) β_2 -adrenergic receptor agonists increase intracellular free Ca²⁺ concentration cycling in ventricular cardiomyocytes through p38 and p42/44 MAPK-mediated cytosolic phospholipase A₂ activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 39539-39548.

Mahlapuu, M., Johansson, C., Lindgren, K., Hjalm, G., Barnes, B.R., Krook, A., Zierath, J.R., Andersson, L. and Marklund, S. (2004) Expression profiling of the γ subunit isoforms of AMP-activated protein kinase suggests a major role for $\gamma 3$ in white skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **286**, E194-200.

Maier, L.S., Zhang, T., Chen, L., DeSantiago, J., Brown, J.H. and Bers, D.M. (2003) Transgenic CaMKII δ C overexpression uniquely alters cardiac myocyte Ca²⁺ handling: reduced SR Ca²⁺ load and activated SR Ca²⁺ release. *Circ. Res.* **92**, 904-911.

Malhotra, A., Kang, B.P.S., Cheung, S., Opawumi, D. and Meggs, L.G. (2001a) Angiotensin II promotes glucose-induced activation of cardiac protein kinase C isozymes and phosphorylation of troponin I. *Diabetes* **50**, 1918-1926.

Malhotra, A., Kang, B.P.S., Opawumi, D., Belizaire, W. and Meggs, L.G. (2001b) Molecular biology of protein kinase C signaling in cardiac myocytes. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 225, 97-107.

Mao, X., Bravo, I.G., Cheng, H. and Alonso, A. (2004) Multiple independent kinase cascades are targeted by hyperosmotic stress but only one activates stress kinase p38. *Exp. Cell. Res.* **292**, 304-311.

Markou, T., Hadzopoulou-Cladaras, M. and Lazou, A. (2004) Phenylephrine induces activation of CREB in adult rat cardiac myocytes through MSK1 and PKA signaling pathways. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 37, 1001-1011.

Markou, T. and Lazou, A. (2002) Phosphorylation and activation of mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase-1 in adult rat cardiac myocytes by G-protein-coupled receptor agonists requires bith extracellular-signal-regulated kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Biochem. J.* **365**, 757-763.

Marsin, A.-S., Bertrand, L., Rider, M.H., Deprez, J., Beauloye, C., Vincent, M.F., Van den Berghe, G., Carling, D. and Hue, L. (2000) Phosphorylation and activation of heart PFK-2 by AMPK has a role in the stimulation of glycolysis during ischaemia. *Curr. Biol.* **10**, 1247-1255.

Maruyama, Y., Nishida, M., Sugimoto, Y., Tanabe, S., Turner, J.H., Kozasa, T., Wada, T., Nagao, T. and Kurose, H. (2002) $G_{\alpha 12/13}$ mediates α_1 -adrenergic receptor-induced cardiac hypertrophy. *Circ. Res.* **91**, 961-969.

Marx, S.O., Kurokawa, J., Reiken, S., Motoike, H., D'Armiento, J., Marks, A.R. and Kass, R.S. (2002) Requirement of a macromolecular signaling complex for β adrenergic receptor modulation of the KCNQ1-KCNE1 potassium channel. *Science* **295**, 496-499.

Marx, S.O., Reiken, S., Hisamatsu, Y., Jayaraman, T., Burkhoff, D., Rosemblit, N. and Marks, A.R. (2000) PKA Phosphorylation dissociates FKBP12.6 from the calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor): defective regulation in failing hearts. *Cell* **101**, 365-376.

Mayer, P., Mohlig, M., Idlibe, D. and Pfeiffer, A. (1995) Novel and uncommon isoforms of the calcium sensing enzyme calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II in heart tissue. *Basic. Res. Cardiol.* **90**, 372-9.

McCormack, J.G. and Denton, R.M. (1979) The fffects of calcium ions and adenine nucleotides on the activity of pig heart 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex. *Biochem. J.* 180, 533-544.

McCormack, J.G. and England, P.J. (1983) Ruthenium red inhibits the activation of pyruvate dehydrpgenase caused by positive inotropic agents in the perfused rat heart. *Biochem. J.* 214, 581-585.

McDonald, P.H., Cote, N.L., Lin, F.-T., Premont, R.T., Pitcher, J.A. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (1999) Identification of NSF as a β -arrestin1-binding protein. Implications for β_2 -adrenergic receptor regulation. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 10677-10680.

McLeod, L.E. and Proud, C.G. (2002) ATP depletion increases phosphorylation of elongation factor eEF2 in adult cardiomyocytes independently of inhibition of mTOR signalling. *FEBS Lett.* **531**, 448-452.

Mei, F.C., Qiao, J., Tsygankova, O.M., Meinkoth, J.L., Quilliam, L.A. and Cheng, X. (2002) Differential signaling of cyclic AMP. Opposing effects of Exchange Protein Directly Activated by

cyclic AMP and cAMP-dependent protein kinase on protein kinase B activation. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 11497-11504.

Michel, M.C., Li, Y. and Heusch, G. (2001) Mitogen-activated protein kinases in the heart. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol. 363, 245-266.

Michelotti, G.A., Price, D.T. and Schwinn, D.A. (2000) α_1 -Adrenergic receptor regulation: basic science and clinical implications. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **88**, 281-309.

Mier, K., Kemken, D., Katus, H.A., Richardt, G. and Kurz, T. (2002) Adrenergic activation of cardiac phospholipase D: role of α_1 -adrenoceptor subtypes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **54**, 133-139.

Milano, C., Dolber, P., Rockman, H., Bond, R., Venable, M., Allen, L. and Lefkowitz, R. (1994b) Myocardial expression of a constitutively active α_{1B} -adrenergic receptor in transgenic mice induces cardiac hypertrophy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **91**, 10109-10113.

Milano, C.A., Allen, L.F., Rockman, H.A., Dolber, P.C., McMinn, T.R., Chien, K.R., Johnson, T.D., Bond, R.A. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (1994) Enhanced myocardial function in transgenic mice overexpressing the β_2 -adrenergic receptor. *Science* **264**, 582-6.

Minokoshi, Y., Alquier, T., Furukawa, N., Kim, Y.-B., Lee, A., Xue, B., Mu, J., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Birnbaum, M.J., Stuck, B.J. and Kahn, B.B. (2004) AMP-kinase regulates food intake by responding to hormonal and nutrient signals in the hypothalamus. *Nature* **428**, 569-574.

Minokoshi, Y., Kim, Y.-B., Peroni, O.D., Fryer, L.G.D., Muller, C., Carling, D. and Kahn, B.B. (2002) Leptin stimulates fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nature* **415**, 339-343.

Mitchelhill, K.I., Michell, B.J., House, C.M., Stapleton, D., Dyck, J., Gamble, J., Ullrich, C., Witters, L.A. and Kemp, B.E. (1997) Posttranslational modifications of the 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase β 1 subunit. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 24475-24479.

Mitra, R. and Morad, M. (1985) A uniform enzymatic method for dissociation of myocytes from hearts and stomachs of vertebrates. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **249**, H1056-1060.

Miyawaki, H. and Ashraf, M. (1997) Isoproterenol mimics calcium preconditioning-induced protection against ischemia. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **272**, H927-936.

Mochly-Rosen, D. and Gordon, A.S. (1998) Anchoring proteins for protein kinase C: a means for isozyme selectivity. *FASEB J.* 12, 35-42.

Moffett, S., Adam, L., Bonin, H., Loisel, T.P., Bouvier, M. and Mouillac, B. (1996) Palmitoylated Cysteine 341 modulates phosphorylation of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor by the cAMP-dependent protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 21490-21497.

Montini, J., Bagby, G.J., Burns, A.H. and Spitzer, J.J. (1981) Exogenous substrate utilization in Ca^{2+} -tolerant myocytes from adult rat hearts. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **240**, H659-663.

Mora, A., Komander, D., van Aalten, D.M. and Alessi, D.R. (2004) PDK1, the master regulator of AGC kinase signal transduction. *Semin. Cell. Dev. Biol.* 15, 161-70.

Morel, E., Marcantoni, A., Gastineau, M., Birkedal, R., Rochais, F., Garnier, A., Lompre, A.-M., Vandecasteele, G. and Lezoualch, F. (2005) cAMP-binding protein Epac induces cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. *Circ. Res.* **97**, 1296-1304.

Morisco, C., Condorelli, G., Trimarco, V., Bellis, A., Marrone, C., Condorelli, G., Sadoshima, J. and Trimarco, B. (2005) Akt mediates the cross-talk between β -adrenergic and insulin receptors in neonatal cardiomyocytes. *Circ. Res.* **96**, 180-188.

Morisco, C., Seta, K., Hardt, S.E., Lee, Y., Vatner, S.F. and Sadoshima, J. (2001a) Glycogen synthase kinase 3β regulates GATA4 in cardiac myocytes. J. Biol. Chem. **276**, 28586-28597.

Morisco, C., Zebrowski, D., Condorelli, G., Tsichlis, P., Vatner, S.F. and Sadoshima, J. (2000) The Akt-glycogen synthase Kinase 3β pathway regulates transcription of atrial natriuretic factor induced by β -adrenergic receptor stimulation in cardiac myocytes. J. Biol. Chem. **275**, 14466-14475.

Morisco, C., Zebrowski, D.C., Vatner, D.E., Vatner, S.F. and Sadoshima, J. (2001b) ß-adrenergic cardiac hypertrophy is mediated primarily by the ß1-Subtype in the rat heart. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 33, 561-573.

Morris, A.J. and Malbon, C.C. (1999) Physiological regulation of G protein-linked signaling. *Physiol. Rev.* **79**, 1373-1430.

Moule, S.K. and Denton, R.M. (1998) The activation of p38 MAPK by the β -adrenergic agonist isoproterenol in rat epididymal fat cells. *FEBS Lett.* **439**, 287-290.

Mowbray, J. and Ottaway, J.H. (1973) The flux of pyruvate in perfused rat heart. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 36, 362-368.

Muramatsu, I., Kigoshi, S. and Oshita, M. (1990) Two distinct α_1 -adrenoreceptor subtypes involved in noradrenaline contraction of the rabbit thoracic aorta. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **101**, 662-6.

Muse, E.D., Obici, S., Bhanot, S., Monia, B.P., McKay, R.A., Rajala, M.W., Scherer, P.E. and Rossetti, L. (2004) Role of resistin in diet-induced hepatic insulin resistance. *J. Clin. Invest.* **114**, 232-239.

Musi, N., Hirshman, M.F., Arad, M., Xing, Y., Fujii, N., Pomerleau, J., Ahmad, F., Berul, C.I., Seidman, J.G., Tian, R. and Goodyear, L.J. (2005) Functional role of AMP-activated protein kinase in the heart during exercise. *FEBS Lett.* **579**, 2045-2050.

Musi, N., Hirshman, M.F., Nygren, J., Svanfeldt, M., Bavenholm, P., Rooyackers, O., Zhou, G., Williamson, J.M., Ljunqvist, O., Efendic, S., Moller, D.E., Thorell, A. and Goodyear, L.J. (2002) Metformin increases AMP-activated protein kinase activity in skeletal muscle of subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* **51**, 2074-2081.

Naga Prasad, S.V., Esposito, G., Mao, L., Koch, W.J. and Rockman, H.A. (2000) $G_{\beta\gamma}$ -dependent phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation in hearts with *in vivo* pressure overload hypertrophy. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 4693-4698.

Naga Prasad, S.V., Perrino, C. and Rockman, H.A. (2003) Role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase in cardiac function and heart failure. *Trends. Cardiovas. Med.* **13**, 206-212.

Nagata, D., Takeda, R., Sata, M., Satonaka, H., Suzuki, E., Nagano, T. and Hirata, Y. (2004) AMPactivated protein kinase inhibits angiotensin II-stimulated vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Circulation* **110**, 444-451.

Nakanishi, H., Brewer, K. and Exton, J. (1993) Activation of the zeta isozyme of protein kinase C by phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 13-16.

Neumann, D., Schlattner, U. and Wallimann, T. (2002) A molecular approach to the concerted action of kinases involved in energy homeostasis. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **31**, 169-174.

Nishino, Y., Miura, T., Miki, T., Sakamoto, J., Nakamura, Y., Ikeda, Y., Kobayashi, H. and Shimamoto, K. (2004) Ischemic preconditioning activates AMPK in a PKC-dependent manner and induces GLUT4 up-regulation in the late phase of cardioprotection. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **61**, 610-619.

Nishizuka, Y. (1984) The role of protein kinase C in cell surface signal transduction and tumour promotion. *Nature* **308**, 693-8.

Nishizuka, Y. (1995) Protein kinase C and lipid signaling for sustained cellular responses. *FASEB J*. 9, 484-496.

Ochi, H., Masuda, J. and Gimbrone, M.A. (2002) Hyperosmotic stimuli inhibit VCAM-1 expression in cultured endothelial cells *via* effects on interferon regulatory factor-1 expression and activity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **32**, 1821-1831.

O'Dowd, B., Hnatowich, M., Caron, M., Lefkowitz, R. and Bouvier, M. (1989) Palmitoylation of the human β_2 -adrenergic receptor. Mutation of Cys341 in the carboxyl tail leads to an uncoupled nonpalmitoylated form of the receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 7564-7569.

Ogita, K., Miyamoto, S., Yamaguchi, K., Koide, H., Fujisawa, N., Kikkawa, U., Sahara, S., Fukami, Y. and Nishizuka, Y. (1992) Isolation and characterization of delta-subspecies of protein kinase C from Rrat brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **89**, 1592-1596.

Olsen, G.S. and Hansen, B.F. (2002) AMP kinase activation ameliorates insulin resistance induced by free fatty acids in rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **283**, E965-970.

O-Uchi, J., Komukai, K., Kusakari, Y., Obata, T., Hongo, K., Sasaki, H. and Kurihara, S. (2005) α_1 -adrenoceptor stimulation potentiates L-type Ca²⁺ current through Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent PK II (CaMKII) activation in rat ventricular myocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **102**, 9400-9405.

Oudit, G.Y., Sun, H., Kerfant, B.-G., Crackower, M.A., Penninger, J.M. and Backx, P.H. (2004) The role of phosphoinositide-3 kinase and PTEN in cardiovascular physiology and disease. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 37, 449-471.

Owen, M.R., Doran, E. and Halestrap, A.P. (2000) Evidence that metformin exerts its anti-diabetic effects through inhibition of complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. *Biochem. J.* **348**, 607-14.

Palanivel, R. and Sweeney, G. (2005) Regulation of fatty acid uptake and metabolism in L6 skeletal muscle cells by resistin. *FEBS Lett.* **579**, 5049-5054.

Park, D., Jhon, D., Lee, C., Lee, K. and Rhee, S. (1993) Activation of phospholipase C isozymes by G protein βy subunits. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 4573-4576.

Park, S.H., Gammon, S.R., Knippers, J.D., Paulsen, S.R., Rubink, D.S. and Winder, W.W. (2002) Phosphorylation-activity relationships of AMPK and acetyl-CoA carboxylase in muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **92**, 2475-2482.

Patten, G., Filsell, O. and Clark, M. (1982) Epinephrine regulation of phosphofructokinase in perfused rat heart. A calcium ion-dependent mechanism mediated *via* α -receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* **257**, 9480-9486.

Pavoine, C., Behforouz, N., Gauthier, C., Le Gouvello, S., Roudot-Thoraval, F., Martin, C.R., Pawlak, A., Feral, C., Defer, N., Houel, R., Magne, S., Amadou, A., Loisance, D., Duvaldestin, P. and Pecker, F. (2003) β_2 -adrenergic signaling in human heart: shift from the cyclic AMP to the arachidonic acid pathway. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 64, 1117-1125.

Pavoine, C. and Defer, N. (2005) The cardiac β_2 -adrenergic signalling a new role for the cPLA₂. *Cell. Signal.* **17**, 141-152.

Pavoine, C., Magne, S., Sauvadet, A. and Pecker, F. (1999) Evidence for a β_2 -adrenergic/arachidonic acid pathway in ventricular cardiomyocytes. Regulation by the β_1 -adrenergic/cAMP pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 628-637.

Peleg, G., Ghanouni, P., Kobilka, B.K. and Zare, R.N. (2001) Single-molecule spectroscopy of the β_2 adrenergic receptor: observation of conformational substates in a membrane protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **98**, 8469-8474.

Pelletier, A., Joly, E., Prentki, M. and Coderre, L. (2005) Adenosine 5'-monophosphate-activated protein kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase participate in the stimulation of glucose uptake by dinitrophenol in Adult cardiomyocytes. *Endocrinology* **146**, 2285-2294.

Perez, D., Hwa, J., Gaivin, R., Mathur, M., Brown, F. and Graham, R. (1996) Constitutive activation of a single effector pathway: evidence for multiple activation states of a G protein-coupled receptor. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **49**, 112-122.

Piascik, M.T. and Perez, D.M. (2001) α_1 -arenergic receptors: new insights and directions. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 298, 403-10.

Pineiro, R., Iglesias, M.J., Gallego, R., Raghay, K., Eiras, S., Rubio, J., Dieguez, C., Gualillo, O., Gonzalez-Juanatey, J.R. and Lago, F. (2005) Adiponectin is synthesized and secreted by human and murine cardiomyocytes. *FEBS Lett.* **579**, 5163-5169.

Pitcher, J.A., Touhara, K., Payne, E.S. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (1995) Pleckstrin homology domainmediated membrane association and activation of the β -Adrenergic receptor kinase requires coordinate interaction with $G_{\beta\gamma}$ subunits and lipid. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 11707-11710.

Polekhina, G., Gupta, A., Michell, B.J., van Denderen, B., Murthy, S., Feil, S.C., Jennings, I.G., Campbell, D.J., Witters, L.A. and Parker, M.W. (2003) AMPK β subunit targets metabolic stress sensing to glycogen. *Curr. Biol.* **13**, 867-871.

Ponticos, M., Lu, Q.L., Morgan, J.E., Hardie, D.G., Partridge, T.A. and Carling, D. (1998) Dual regulation of the AMP-activated protein kinase provides a novel mechanism for the control of creatine kinase in skeletal muscle. *EMBO J.* **17**, 1688-1699.

Price, D., Chari, R., Berkowitz, D., Meyers, W. and Schwinn, D. (1994a) Expression of α_1 -adrenergic receptor subtype mRNA in rat tissues and human SK-N-MC neuronal cells: implications for α_1 -adrenergic receptor subtype classification. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **46**, 221-226.

Price, D., Lefkowitz, R., Caron, M., Berkowitz, D. and Schwinn, D. (1994b) Localization of mRNA for three distinct α_1 -adrenergic receptor subtypes in human tissues: implications for human α -adrenergic physiology. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **45**, 171-175.

Proud, C.G. (2004) Ras, PI3-kinase and mTOR signaling in cardiac hypertrophy. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **63**, 403-413.

Puceat, M., Hilal-Dandan, R., Strulovici, B., Brunton, L. and Brown, J. (1994) Differential regulation of protein kinase C isoforms in isolated neonatal and adult rat cardiomyocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 16938-16944.

Rafaeloff-Phail, R., Ding, L., Conner, L., Yeh, W.-K., McClure, D., Guo, H., Emerson, K. and Brooks, H. (2004) Biochemical regulation of mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase activity by NAD⁺ and NADH. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 52934-52939.

Rameh, L.E. and Cantley, L.C. (1999) The role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase lipid products in cell function. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 8347-8350.

Rattigan, S., Edwards, S.J., Hettiarachchi, M. and Clark, M.G. (1986) The effects of α - and β -adrenergic agent, Ca²⁺ and insulin on 2-deoxyglucose uptake and phosphorylation in perfused rat heart. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **889**, 225-235.

Rau, T., Nose, M., Remmers, U., Weil, J., Weissmuller, A., Davia, K., Harding, S., Peppel, K., Koch, W.J. and Eschenhagen, T. (2003) Overexpression of wild-type $G_{\alpha i-2}$ suppresses β -adrenergic signaling in cardiac myocytes. *FASEB J.* 17, 523-5.

Rockman, H.A., Choi, D.-J., Rahman, N.U., Akhter, S.A., Lefkowitz, R.J. and Koch, W.J. (1996) Receptor-specific *in vivo* desensitization by the G protein-coupled receptor kinase-5 in transgenic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **93**, 9954-9959.

Rockman, H.A., Koch, W.J. and Lefkowitz, R.J. (2002) Seven-transmembrane-spanning receptors and heart function. *Nature* **415**, 206-212.

Ron, D., Luo, J. and Mochly-Rosen, D. (1995) C2 region-derived peptides inhibit translocation and function of β protein kinase C *in vivo. J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 24180-24187.

Ruehr, M.L., Russell, M.A. and Bond, M. (2004) A-kinase anchoring protein targeting of protein kinase A in the heart. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 37, 653-665.

Rundqvist, B., Elam, M., Bergmann-Sverrisdottir, Y., Eisenhofer, G. and Friberg, P. (1997) Increased cardiac adrenergic drive precedes generalized sympathetic activation in human heart failure. *Circulation* **95**, 169-175.

Russell III, R.R., Li, J., Coven, D.L., Pypaert, M., Zechner, C., Palmeri, M., Giordano, F.J., Mu, J., Birnbaum, M.J. and Young, L.H. (2004) AMP-activated protein kinase mediates ischemic glucose uptake and prevents postischemic cardiac dysfunction, apoptosis, and injury. *J. Clin. Invest.* **114**, 495-503.

Rybin, V.O., Xu, X., Lisanti, M.P. and Steinberg, S.F. (2000) Differential targeting of β -adrenergic receptor subtypes and adenylyl cyclase to cardiomyocyte caveolae. A mechanism to functionally regulate to cAMP signalling pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 41447-41457.

Saddik, M. and Lopaschuk, G. (1991) Myocardial triglyceride turnover and contribution to energy substrate utilization in isolated working rat hearts. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 8162-8170.

Saha, A.K., Schwarsin, A.J., Roduit, R., Masse, F., Kaushik, V., Tornheim, K., Prentki, M. and Ruderman, N.B. (2000) Activation of malonyl-CoA decarboxylase in rat skeletal muscle by contraction and the AMP-activated protein kinase activator 5-Aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1- β -D-ribofuranoside. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 24279-24283.

Saini, H.K., Tripathi, O.N., Zhang, S., Elimban, V. and Dhalla, N.S. (2006) Involvement of Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger in catecholamine-induced increase in intracellular calcium in cardiomyocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **290**, H373-380.

Saito, S., Hiroi, Y., Zou, Y., Aikawa, R., Toko, H., Shibasaki, F., Yazaki, Y., Nagai, R. and Komuro, I. (2000) β -adrenergic pathway induces apoptosis through calcineurin activation in cardiac myocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 34528-34533.

Sakamoto, K., Goransson, O., Hardie, D.G. and Alessi, D.R. (2004) Activity of LKB1 and AMPKrelated kinases in skeletal muscle: effects of contraction, phenformin, and AICAR. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **287**, E310-317.

Sakamoto, K., McCarthy, A., Smith, D., Green, K.A., Hardie, D.G., Ashworth, A. and Alessi, D.R. (2005) Deficiency of LKB1 in skeletal muscle prevents AMPK activation and glucose upake during contraction. *EMBO J.* **24**, 1810-1820.

Sakamoto, K., Zarrinpashneh, E., Budas, G.R., Pouleur, A.-C., Dutta, A., Prescott, A.R., Vanoverschelde, J.-L., Ashworth, A., Jovanovic, A., Alessi, D.R. and Bertrand, L. (2006) Deficiency of LKB1 in heart prevents ischemia-mediated activation of AMPK α 2 but not AMPK α 1. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **290**, E780-788.

Salt, I., Celler, J.W., Hawley, S.A., Prescott, A., Woods, A. and Carling, D. (1998) AMP-activated protein kinase: greater AMP dependence, and preferential nuclear localization, of complexes containing the $\alpha 2$ isoform. *Biochem. J.* **334**, 177-187.

Sapkota, G.P., Boudeau, J., Deak, M., Kieloch, A., Morrice, N. and Alessi, D.R. (2002) Identification and characterization of four novel phosphorylation sites (Ser31, Ser325, Thr336 and Thr366) on LKB1/STK11, the protein kinase mutated in Peutz-Jeghers cancer syndrome. *Biochem. J.* **362**, 481-90.

Sapkota, G.P., Kieloch, A., Lizcano, J.M., Lain, S., Arthur, J.S.C., Williams, M.R., Morrice, N., Deak, M. and Alessi, D.R. (2001) Phosphorylation of the protein kinase mutated in Peutz-Jeghers cancer syndrome, LKB1/STK11, at Ser431 by p90RSK and cAMP-dependent protein kinase, but not its farnesylation at Cys433, is essential for LKB1 to suppress cell growth. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 19469-19482.

Sasaki, Y., Asaoka, Y. and Nishizuka, Y. (1993) Potentiation of diacylglycerol-induced activation of protein kinase C by lysophospholipids : subspecies difference. *FEBS Lett.* **320**, 47-51.

Schaffler, Arndt, Scholmerich and Palitzsch (2000) Amelioration of hyperglycemic and hyperosmotic induced vascular dysfunction by *in vivo* inhibition of protein kinase C and p38 MAP kinase pathway in the rat mesenteric microcirculation. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* **30**, 586-593.

Scheuer, J. (1999) Catecholamines in cardiac hypertrophy. Am. J. Cardiol. 83, 70H-74H.

Schillace, R.V., Voltz, J.W., Sim, A.T.R., Shenolikar, S. and Scott, J.D. (2001) Multiple interactions within the AKAP220 signaling complex contribute to protein phosphatase 1 regulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 12128-12134.

Schnabel, P., Gas, H., Nohr, T., Camps, M. and Bohm, M. (1996) Identification and characterization of G protein-regulated phospholipase C in human myocardium. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 28, 2419-2427.

Schnabel, P., Mies, F., Nohr, T., Geisler, M. and Bohm, M. (2000) Differential regulation of phospholipase C- β isozymes in cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 275, 1-6.

Schubert, B., VanDongen, A.M., Kirsch, G.E. and Brown, A.M. (1989) β-adrenergic inhibition of cardiac sodium channels by dual G-protein pathways. *Science* **245**, 516-9.

Scott, J.D. (1991) Cyclic nucleotide-dependent protein kinases. Pharmacol. Ther. 50, 123-145.

Scott, J.W., Norman, D.G., Hawley, S.A., Kontogiannis, L. and Hardie, D.G. (2002) Protein kinase substrate recognition studied using the recombinant catalytic domain of AMP-activated protein kinase and a model substrate. *J. Mol. Biol.* **317**, 309-323.

Sellevold, O.F.M., Jynge, P. and Aarstad, K. (1986) High performance liquid chromatography: a rapid isocratic method for determination of creatine compounds and adenine nucleotides in myocardial tissue. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 18, 517-527.

Sette, C. and Conti, M. (1996) Phosphorylation and activation of a cAMP-specific phosphodiesterase by the cAMP-dependent protein kinase. Involvement of Serine 54 in the enzyme activation. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 16526-16534.

Shaw, R.J., Kosmatka, M., Bardeesy, N., Hurley, R.L., Witters, L.A., DePinho, R.A. and Cantley, L.C. (2004) The tumor suppressor LKB1 kinase directly activates AMP-activated kinase and regulates apoptosis in response to energy stress. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **101**, 3329-3335.

Shaw, R.J., Lamia, K.A., Vasquez, D., Koo, S.-H., Bardeesy, N., DePinho, R.A., Montminy, M. and Cantley, L.C. (2005) The kinase LKB1 mediates glucose homeostasis in liver and therapeutic effects of metformin. *Science* **310**, 1642-1646.

Shi, C.-S., Lee, S.B., Sinnarajah, S., Dessauer, C.W., Rhee, S.G. and Kehrl, J.H. (2001) Regulator of G-protein signaling 3 (RGS3) inhibits $G_{\beta_1\gamma_2}$ -induced inositol phosphate production, mitogen-activated protein kinase activation, and Akt activation. J. Biol. Chem. **276**, 24293-24300.

Shibata, R., Ouchi, N., Ito, M., Kihara, S., Shiojima, I., Pimentel, D.R., Kumada, M., Sato, K., Schiekofer, S., Ohashi, K., Funahashi, T., Colucci, W.S. and Walsh, K. (2004) Adiponectin-mediated modulation of hypertrophic signals in the heart. *Nat. Med.* **10**, 1384-1389.

Shinomura, T., Asaoka, Y., Oka, M., Yoshida, K. and Nishizuka, Y. (1991) Synergistic action of diacylglycerol and unsaturated fatty acid for protein kinase C activation: its possible implications. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **88**, 5149-5153.

Shioi, T., Kang, P.M., Douglas, P.S., Hampe, J., Ybelle, C.M., Lawitts, J., Cantley, L.C. and Izumo, S. (2000) The conserved phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway determines heart size in mice. *EMBO J.* **19**, 2537-48.

Shizukuda, Y. and Buttrick, P.M. (2001) Protein kinase C epsilon modulates apoptosis induced by β -adrenergic stimulation in adult rat ventricular myocytes *via* extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) activity. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* **33**, 1791-1803.

Sidhu, J.S., Rajawat, Y.S., Rami, T.G., Gollob, M.H., Wang, Z., Yuan, R., Marian, A.J., DeMayo, F.J., Weilbacher, D., Taffet, G.E., Davies, J.K., Carling, D., Khoury, D.S. and Roberts, R. (2005) Transgenic mouse model of ventricular preexcitation and atrioventricular reentrant tachycardia induced by an AMP-activated protein kinase loss-of-function mutation responsible for Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome. *Circulation* 111, 21-29.

Small, C.A., Garton, A.J. and Yeaman, S.J. (1989) The presence and role of hormone-sensitive lipase in heart muscle. *Biochem. J.* 258, 67-72.

Smrcka, A. and Sternweis, P. (1993) Regulation of purified subtypes of phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C β by G protein α and $\beta\gamma$ subunits. J. Biol. Chem. **268**, 9667-9674.

Soltys, C.-L.M., Buchholz, L., Gandhi, M., Clanachan, A.S., Walsh, K. and Dyck, J.R.B. (2002) Phosphorylation of cardiac protein kinase B is regulated by palmitate. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **283**, H1056-1064.

Soltys, C.-L.M., Kovacic, S. and Dyck, J.R.B. (2006) Activation of cardiac AMP-activated protein kinase by LKB1 expression or chemical hypoxia is blunted by increased Akt activity. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **290**, H2472-2479.

Stahmann, N., Woods, A., Carling, D. and Heller, R. (2006) Thrombin activates AMP-activated protein kinase in endothelial cells *via* a pathway involving $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase kinase β . *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **26**, 5933-5945.

Stapleton, D., Gao, G., Michell, B., Widmer, J., Mitchelhill, K., Teh, T., House, C., Witters, L. and Kemp, B. (1994) Mammalian 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase non-catalytic subunits are homologs of proteins that interact with yeast Snf1 protein kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 29343-29346.

Stapleton, D., Mitchelhill, K.I., Gao, G., Widmer, J., Michell, B.J., Teh, T., House, C.M., Fernandez, C.S., Cox, T., Witters, L.A. and Kemp, B.E. (1996) Mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase subfamily. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 611-614.

Stapleton, D., Woollatt, E., Mitchelhill, K.I., Nicholl, J.K., Fernandez, C.S., Michell, B.J., Witters, L.A., Power, D.A., Sutherland, G.R. and Kemp, B.E. (1997) AMP-activated protein kinase isoenzyme family: subunit structure and chromosomal location. *FEBS Lett.* **409**, 452-456.

Stein, B., Bartel, S., Kirchhefer, U., Kokott, S., Krause, E.G., Neumann, J., Schmitz, W. and Scholz, H. (1996) Relation between contractile function and regulatory cardiac proteins in hypertrophied hearts. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **270**, H2021-2028.

Stein, B., Yang, M.X., Young, D.B., Janknecht, R., Hunter, T., Murray, B.W. and Barbosa, M.S. (1997) p38-2, a novel mitogen-activated protein kinase with distinct properties. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**, 19509-19517.

Stein, S.C., Woods, A., Jones, N.A., Davison, M.D. and Carling, D. (2000) The regulation of AMPactivated protein kinase by phosphorylation. *Biochem. J.* **345**, 437-443. Steinberg, S.F. (2002) α_1 -adrenergic receptor subtype function in cardiomyocytes: lessons from genetic models in mice. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 34, 1141-1145.

Steinberg, S.F., Drugge, E.D., Bilezikian, J.P. and Robinson, R.B. (1985) Aquisition by innervated cardiac myocytes of a pertussis toxin-specific regulatory protein linked to the α_1 -receptor. Science 230, 186-8.

Stephens, L.R., Eguinoa, A., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Lui, M., Cooke, F., Coadwell, J., Smrcka, A.S., Thelen, M., Cadwallader, K., Tempst, P. and Hawkins, P.T. (1997) The Gβγ sensitivity of a PI3K is dependent upon a tightly associated adaptor, p101. *Cell* **89**, 105-114.

Stokoe, D., Stephens, L.R., Copeland, T., Gaffney, P.R.J., Reese, C.B., Painter, G.F., Holmes, A.B., McCormick, F. and Hawkins, P.T. (1997) Dual role of phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate in the activation of protein kinase B. *Science* **277**, 567-570.

Strassheim, D. and Malbon, C. (1994) Phosphorylation of $G_{i\alpha 2}$ attenuates inhibitory adenylyl cyclase in neuroblastoma/glioma hybrid (NG-108-15) cells. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 14307-14313.

Strosberg, A.D. (1993) Structure, function, and regulation of adrenergic receptors. *Protein Sci.* 2, 1198-1209.

Suchankova, G., Tekle, M., Saha, A.K., Ruderman, N.B., Clarke, S.D. and Gettys, T.W. (2005) Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids enhance hepatic AMP-activated protein kinase activity in rats. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **326**, 851-858.

Sucharov, C.C., Mariner, P.D., Nunley, K.R., Long, C., Leinwand, L. and Bristow, M.R. (2006) A β_1 -adrenergic receptor CaM kinase II-dependent pathway mediates cardiac myocyte fetal gene induction. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* **291**, H1299-1308.

Sugden, P.H. and Clerk, A. (1997) Regulation of the ERK subgroup of MAP kinase cascades through G protein-coupled receptors. *Cell. Signal.* 9, 337-351.

Sugden, P.H. and Clerk, A. (1998a) Cellular mechanisms of cardiac hypertrophy. J. Mol. Med. 76, 725-746.

Sugden, P.H. and Clerk, A. (1998b) "Stress-responsive" mitogen-activated protein kinases (c-Jun N-terminal kinases and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases) in the myocardium. *Circ. Res.* 83, 345-352.

Sugden, P.H. and Clerk, A. (2000) Activation of the small GTP-binding protein Ras in the heart by hypertrophic agonists. *Trends. Cardiovas. Med.* **10**, 1-8.

Sullivan J. E., Carey F., Carling D. and Beri R. K. (1994) Characterization of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase in human liver using specific peptide substrates and the effects of 5'-AMP analogues on enzyme activity. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 200, 1551-1556.

Sutherland, C.M., Hawley, S.A., McCartney, R.R., Leech, A., Stark, M.J.R., Schmidt, M.C. and Hardie, D.G. (2003) Elm1p is nne of three upstream kinases for the Saccharomyces cerevisiae SNF1 complex. *Curr. Biol.* **13**, 1299-1305.

Suzuki, A., Kusakai, G.-i., Kishimoto, A., Shimojo, Y., Ogura, T., Lavin, M.F. and Esumi, H. (2004) IGF-1 phosphorylates AMPK-α subunit in ATM-dependent and LKB1-independent manner. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **324**, 986-992.

Takeishi, Y., Chu, G., Kirkpatrick, D.M., Li, Z., Wakasaki, H., Kranias, E.G., King, G.L. and Walsh, R.A. (1998) *In vivo* phosphorylation of cardiac troponin I by protein kinase C β 2 decreases cardiomyocyte calcium responsiveness and contractility in transgenic mouse hearts. *J. Clin. Invest.* **102**, 72-78.

Tamas, P., Hawley, S.A., Clarke, R.G., Mustard, K.J., Green, K., Hardie, D.G. and Cantrell, D.A. (2006) Regulation of the energy sensor AMP-activated protein kinase by antigen receptor and Ca^{2+} in T lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **203**, 1665-1670.

Tanoue, A., Koshimizu, T.-a., Shibata, K., Nasa, Y., Takeo, S. and Tsujimoto, G. (2003) Insights into α_1 adrenoceptor function in health and disease from transgenic animal studies. *Trends. Endocrinol. Metab.* 14, 107-113.

Tanoue, A., Nasa, Y., Koshimizu, T., Shinoura, H., Oshikawa, S., Kawai, T., Sunada, S., Takeo, S. and Tsujimoto, G. (2002) The α_{1D} -adrenergic receptor directly regulates arterial blood pressure via vasoconstriction. J. Clin. Invest. 109, 765-775.

Taussig, R. and Gilman, A.G. (1995) Mammalian membrane-bound adenylyl cyclases. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 1-4.

Taussig, R., Tang, W., Hepler, J. and Gilman, A. (1994) Distinct patterns of bidirectional regulation of mammalian adenylyl cyclases. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 6093-6100.

Taylor, E.B., Ellingson, W.J., Lamb, J.D., Chesser, D.G., Compton, C.L. and Winder, W.W. (2006) Evidence against regulation of AMP-activated protein kinase and LKB1/STRAD/MO25 activity by creatine phosphate. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **290**, E661-669.

Taylor, E.B., Ellingson, W.J., Lamb, J.D., Chesser, D.G. and Winder, W.W. (2005) Long-chain acyl-CoA esters inhibit phosphorylation of AMP-activated protein kinase at threonine-172 by LKB1/STRAD/MO25. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **288**, E1055-1061.

Terai, K., Hiramoto, Y., Masaki, M., Sugiyama, S., Kuroda, T., Hori, M., Kawase, I. and Hirota, H. (2005) AMP-activated protein kinase protects cardiomyocytes against hypoxic injury through attenuation of endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **25**, 9554-9575.

Thorburn A. (1994) Ras activity is required for phenylephrine-induced activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase in cardiac muscle cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **205**, 1417-1422.

Thornton, C., Snowden, M.A. and Carling, D. (1998) Identification of a novel AMP-activated protein kinase β subunit isoform that Is highly expressed in skeletal muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* **273**, 12443-12450.

Thors, B., Halldorsson, H. and Thorgeirsson, G. (2004) Thrombin and histamine stimulate endothelial nitric-oxide synthase phosphorylation at Ser1177 via an AMPK mediated pathway independent of PI3K-Akt. FEBS Lett. 573, 175-180.

Till, M., Ouwens, D.M., Kessler, A. and Eckel, J. (2000) Molecular mechanisms of contraction-regulated cardiac glucose transport. *Biochem. J.* 346, 841-847.

Toker, A., Meyer, M., Reddy, K., Falck, J., Aneja, R., Aneja, S., Parra, A., Burns, D., Ballas, L. and Cantley, L. (1994) Activation of protein kinase C family members by the novel polyphosphoinositides PtdIns-3,4-P2 and PtdIns-3,4,5-P3. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 32358-32367.

Toyoda, T., Hayashi, T., Miyamoto, L., Yonemitsu, S., Nakano, M., Tanaka, S., Ebihara, K., Masuzaki, H., Hosoda, K., Inoue, G., Otaka, A., Sato, K., Fushiki, T. and Nakao, K. (2004) Possible involvement of the αl isoform of 5'AMP-activated protein kinase in oxidative stress-stimulated glucose transport in skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **287**, E166-173.

Toyoda, T., Tanaka, S., Ebihara, K., Masuzaki, H., Hosoda, K., Sato, K., Fushiki, T., Nakao, K. and Hayashi, T. (2006) Low-intensity contraction activates the α 1-isoform of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase in rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **290**, E583-590.

Tu, Y., Wang, J. and Ross, E.M. (1997) Inhibition of brain G_z GAP and other RGS proteins by palmitoylation of G protein α subunits. *Science* 278, 1132-1135.

Tytgat, J. (1994) How to isolate cardiac myocytes. Cardiovasc. Res. 28, 280-283.

Umemori, H., Inoue, T., Kume, S., Sekiyama, N., Nagao, M., Itoh, H., Nakanishi, S., Mikoshiba, K. and Yamamoto, T. (1997) Activation of the G Protein $G_{q'11}$ through tyrosine phosphorylation of the α subunit. *Science* **276**, 1878-1881.

Valks, D.M., Cook, S.A., Pham, F.H., Morrison, P.R., Clerk, A. and Sugden, P.H. (2002) Phenylephrine promotes phosphorylation of Bad in cardiac myocytes through the extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2 and protein kinase A. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 34, 749-763.

van der Heyden, M.A.G., Wijnhoven, T.J.M. and Opthof, T. (2005) Molecular aspects of adrenergic modulation of cardiac L-type Ca²⁺ channels. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **65**, 28-39.

van der Kaay, J., Beck, M., Gray, A. and Downes, C.P. (1999) Distinct phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase lipid products accumulate upon oxidative and osmotic stress and lead to different cellular responses. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274**, 35963-35968.

Van Lint, J., Sinnett-Smith, J. and Rozengurt, E. (1995) Expression and characterization of PKD, a phorbol ester and diacylglycerol-stimulated serine protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 1455-1461.

Vavvas, D., Apazidis, A., Saha, A.K., Gamble, J., Patel, A., Kemp, B.E., Witters, L.A. and Ruderman, N.B. (1997) Contraction-induced dhanges in acetyl-CoA carboxylase and 5'-AMP-activated kinase in skeletal muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**, 13255-13261.

Vega, R.B., Harrison, B.C., Meadows, E., Roberts, C.R., Papst, P.J., Olson, E.N. and McKinsey, T.A. (2004) Protein kinases C and D mediate agonist-dependent cardiac hypertrophy through nuclear export of histone deacetylase 5. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **24**, 8374-8385.

Wadley, G.D., Lee-Young, R.S., Canny, B.J., Wasuntarawat, C., Chen, Z.P., Hargreaves, M., Kemp, B.E. and McConell, G.K. (2006) Effect of exercise intensity and hypoxia on skeletal muscle AMPK signaling and substrate metabolism in humans. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **290**, E694-702.

Wang, H., Yang, B., Zhang, Y., Han, H., Wang, J., Shi, H. and Wang, Z. (2001a) Different subtypes of α_1 -adrenoceptor modulate different K⁺ currents *via* different signaling pathways in canine ventricular myocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 40811-40816.

Wang, L., Gout, I. and Proud, C.G. (2001b) Cross-talk between the ERK and p70 S6 kinase (S6K) signaling pathways. MEK-dependent activation of S6K2 in cardiomyocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 32670-32677.

Wang, L. and Proud, C.G. (2002) Regulation of the phosphorylation of elongation factor 2 by MEKdependent signalling in adult rat cardiomyocytes. *FEBS Lett.* **531**, 285-289.

Wang, L., Rolfe, M. and Proud, C.G. (2003) Ca^{2+} -independent protein kinase C activity is required for α_1 -adrenergic-receptor-mediated regulation of ribosomal protein S6 kinases in adult cardiomyocytes. *Biochem. J.* **373**, 603-611.

Wang, Q.J. (2006) PKD at the crossroads of DAG and PKC signaling. *Trends. Pharmacol. Sci.* 27, 317-323.

Wang, W., Zhu, W., Wang, S., Yang, D., Crow, M.T., Xiao, R.-P. and Cheng, H. (2004) Sustained β_1 -adrenergic stimulation modulates cardiac contractility by Ca²⁺/calmodulin kinase signaling pathway. *Circ. Res.* **95**, 798-806.

Warden, S.M., Richardson, C., O'Donnell Jr, J., Stapleton, D., Kemp, B.E. and Witters, L.A. (2001) Post-translational modifications of the β -1 subunit of AMP-activated protein kinase affect enzyme activity and cellular localization. *Biochem. J.* **354**, 275-283.

Watt, M.J., Steinberg, G.R., Chen, Z.-P., Kemp, B.E. and Febbraio, M.A. (2006) Fatty acids stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase and enhance fatty acid oxidation in L6 myotubes. *J. Physiol.* **574**, 139-147.

Weekes, J., Ball, K.L., Caudwell, F.B. and Hardie, D.G. (1993) Specificity determinants for the AMPactivated protein kinase and its plant homologue analysed using synthetic peptides. *FEBS Lett.* **334**, 335-339.

Wegener, A., Simmerman, H., Lindemann, J. and Jones, L. (1989) Phospholamban phosphorylation in intact ventricles. Phosphorylation of serine 16 and threonine 17 in response to β -adrenergic stimulation. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 11468-11474.

Weismuller, T., Klein, J. and Loffelholz, K. (2004) Effects of norepinephrine and cardiotrophin-1 on phospholipase D activity and incorporation of myristic acid into phosphatidylcholine in rat heart. J. *Pharmacol. Sci.* **95**, 335-340.

Werth, D.K., Hathaway, D.R. and Watanabe, A.M. (1982) Regulation of phosphorylase kinase in rat ventricular myocardium. Role of calmodulin. *Circ. Res.* **51**, 448-56.

Wieland, T. and Mittmann, C. (2003) Regulators of G-protein signalling: multifunctional proteins with impact on signalling in the cardiovascular system. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **97**, 95-115.

Williamson, J.R. (1964) Metabolic fffects of fpinephrine in the isolated, perfused rat heart. Dissociation of the glycolytic from the metabolic stimulatory effect. J. Biol. Chem. 239, 2721-2729.

Wittenberg, B.A., White, R.L., Ginzberg, R.D. and Spray, D.C. (1986) Effect of calcium on the dissociation of the mature rat heart into individual and paired myocytes: electrical properties of cell pairs. *Circ. Res.* 59, 143-150.

Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Jorgensen, S.B., Hellsten, Y., Hardie, D.G. and Richter, E.A. (2002) Glycogendependent effects of 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide (AICA)-riboside on AMP-activated protein kinase and glycogen synthase activities in rat skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* **51**, 284-292.

Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Nielsen, P., Hansen, B.F., Richter, E.A. and Kiens, B. (2000) Isoform-specific and exercise intensity-dependent activation of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase in human skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* **528**, 221-226.

Wolff, D.W., Dang, H.K., Liu, M.F., Jeffries, W.B. and Scofield, M.A. (1998) Distribution of α_1 -adrenergic receptor mRNA species in rat heart. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. **32**, 117-22.

Woods, A., Cheung, P.C.F., Smith, F.C., Davison, M.D., Scott, J., Beri, R.K. and Carling, D. (1996) Characterization of AMP-activated protein kinase β and γ subunits. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 10282-10290.

Woods, A., Dickerson, K., Heath, R., Hong, S.-P., Momcilovic, M., Johnstone, S.R., Carlson, M. and Carling, D. (2005) $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase-\beta$ acts upstream of AMP-activated protein kinase in mammalian cells. *Cell Metab.* **2**, 21-33.

Woods, A., Johnstone, S.R., Dickerson, K., Leiper, F.C., Fryer, L.G.D., Neumann, D., Schlattner, U., Wallimann, T., Carlson, M. and Carling, D. (2003) LKB1 is the upstream kinase in the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. *Curr. Biol.* **13**, 2004-2008.

Woods, A., Munday, M., Scott, J., Yang, X., Carlson, M. and Carling, D. (1994) Yeast SNF1 is functionally related to mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase and regulates acetyl-CoA carboxylase *in vivo. J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 19509-19515.

Woods, A., Vertommen, D., Neumann, D., Turk, R., Bayliss, J., Schlattner, U., Wallimann, T., Carling, D. and Rider, M.H. (2003) Identification of phosphorylation sites in AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) for upstream AMPK kinases and study of their roles by site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 28434-28442.

Wu, D., Jiang, H. and Simon, M.I. (1995) Different α_1 -adrenergic receptor sequences required for activating different G_a subunits of G_g class of G proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 9828-9832.

Wu, D., Katz, A., Lee, C. and Simon, M. (1992) Activation of phospholipase C by α_1 -adrenergic receptors is mediated by the α subunits of G_a family. J. Biol. Chem. **267**, 25798-25802.

Wymann, M.P., Zvelebil, M. and Laffargue, M. (2003) Phosphoinositide 3-kinase signalling - which way to target? *Trends. Pharmacol. Sci.* 24, 366-376.

Xiang, Y. and Kobilka, B.K. (2003) Myocyte adrenoceptor signaling pathways. *Science* **300**, 1530-1532.

Xiao, R., Ji, X. and Lakatta, E. (1995) Functional coupling of the β_2 -adrenoceptor to a pertussis toxinsensitive G protein in cardiac myocytes. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 47, 322-329.

Xiao, R.-P. (2001) β -adrenergic signaling in the heart: dual coupling of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor to G_s and G_i Proteins. *Sci. STKE* **2001(104)**, RE15.

Xiao, R.-P., Avdonin, P., Zhou, Y.-Y., Cheng, H., Akhter, S.A., Eschenhagen, T., Lefkowitz, R.J., Koch, W.J. and Lakatta, E.G. (1999) Coupling of β_2 -adrenoceptor to G_i proteins and its physiological relevance in murine cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* **84**, 43-52.

Xie, Z., Dong, Y., Zhang, M., Cui, M.-Z., Cohen, R.A., Riek, U., Neumann, D., Schlattner, U. and Zou, M.-H. (2006) Activation of protein kinase C-zeta by peroxynitrite regulates LKB1-dependent AMP-activated protein kinase in cultured endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 6366-6375.

Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Minokoshi, Y., Ito, Y., Waki, H., Uchida, S., Yamashita, S., Noda, M., Kita, S., Ueki, K., Eto, K., Akanuma, Y., Froguel, P., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Carling, D., Kimura, S., Nagai, R., Kahn, B.B. and Kadowaki, T. (2002) Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nat. Med.* **8**, 1288-1295.

Yamazaki, T., Komuro, I., Zou, Y., Kudoh, S., Shiojima, I., Hiroi, Y., Mizuno, T., Aikawa, R., Takano, H. and Yazaki, Y. (1997) Norepinephrine induces the raf-1 kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade through both α_1 - and β -adrenoceptors. *Circulation* **95**, 1260-1268.

Yang, M., Reese, J., Cotecchia, S. and Michel, M.C. (1998) Murine α_1 -adrenoceptor subtypes. Radioligand binding studies. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **286**, 841-847.

Yang, M., Verfurth, F., Buscher, R. and Michel, M.C. (1997) Is α_{1D} -adrenoreptor protein detactable in rat tissues? *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* **355**, 438-446.

Yang, X., Jiang, R. and Carlson, M. (1994) A family of proteins containing a conserved domain that mediates interaction with the yeast SNF1 protein kinase complex. *EMBO J.* 13, 5878-86.

Yarden, Y., Rodriguez, H., Wong, S.K.-F., Brandt, D.R., May, D.C., Burnier, J., Harkins, R.N., Chen, E.Y., Ramachandran, J., Ullrich, A. and Ross, E.M. (1986) The avian β-adrenergic receptor: primary structure and membrane topology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **83**, 6795-6799.

Yin, W., Mu, J. and Birnbaum, M.J. (2003) Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in cyclic AMP-dependent lipolysis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 43074-43080.

Yoshida, K., Asaoka, Y. and Nishizuka, Y. (1992) Platelet activation by simultaneous actions of diacylglycerol and unsaturated fatty acids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **89**, 6443-6446.

Young, M.E., Radda, G.K. and Leighton, B. (1996) Activation of glycogen phosphorylase and glycogenolysis in rat skeletal muscle by AICAR -- an activator of AMP-activated protein kinase. *FEBS Lett.* **382**, 43-47.

Yu, H., Fujii, N., Hirshman, M.F., Pomerleau, J.M. and Goodyear, L.J. (2004) Cloning and characterization of mouse 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase γ 3 subunit. *Am. J Physiol. Cell. Physiol.* **286**, C283-292.

Zarrinpashneh, E., Carjaval, K., Beauloye, C., Ginion, A., Mateo, P., Pouleur, A.-C., Horman, S., Vaulont, S., Hoerter, J., Viollet, B., Hue, L., Vanoverschelde, J.-L. and Bertrand, L. (2006) Role of the α2-isoform of AMP-activated protein kinase in the metabolic response of the heart to no-flow ischemia. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* 291, H2875-2883.

Zhang, T., Johnson, E.N., Gu, Y., Morissette, M.R., Sah, V.P., Gigena, M.S., Belke, D.D., Dillmann, W.H., Rogers, T.B., Schulman, H., Ross, J., Jr. and Brown, J.H. (2002) The cardiac-specific nuclear delta B isoform of $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase II induces hypertrophy and dilated cardiomyopathy associated with increased protein phosphatase 2A activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 1261-1267.

Zheng, B., Ma, Y.-C., Ostrom, R.S., Lavoie, C., Gill, G.N., Insel, P.A., Huang, X.-Y. and Farquhar, M.G. (2001) RGS-PX1, a GAP for $G_{\alpha s}$ and sorting Nexin in vesicular trafficking. *Science* **294**, 1939-1942.

Zheng, M., Hou, R., Han, Q. and Xiao, R.-P. (2004) Different regulation of ERK1/2 activation by β-adrenergic receptor subtypes in adult mouse cardiomyocytes. *Heart. Lung. Circ.* **13**, 179-183.

Zheng, M., Zhang, S.-J., Zhu, W.-Z., Ziman, B., Kobilka, B.K. and Xiao, R.-P. (2000) β_2 -adrenergic receptor-induced p38 MAPK activation is mediated by protein kinase A rather than by G_i or G_{$\beta\gamma$} in adult mouse cardiomyocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 40635-40640.

Zhong, H. and Minneman, K.P. (1999) Differential activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in PC12 cells by closely related α_1 -adrenergic receptor subtypes. J. Neurochem. 72, 2388-2396.

Zhou, G., Myers, R., Li, Y., Chen, Y., Shen, X., Fenyk-Melody, J., Wu, M., Ventre, J., Doebber, T., Fujii, N., Musi, N., Hirshman, M.F., Goodyear, L.J. and Moller, D.E. (2001) Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. *J. Clin. Invest.* **108**, 1167-1174.

Zhou, Y.-Y., Yang, D., Zhu, W.-Z., Zhang, S.-J., Wang, D.-J., Rohrer, D.K., Devic, E., Kobilka, B.K., Lakatta, E.G., Cheng, H. and Xiao, R.-P. (2000) Spontaneous activation of β_2 - but not β_1 -adrenoceptors expressed in cardiac myocytes from $\beta_1\beta_2$ double knockout mice. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 58, 887-894.

Zhu, W.-Z., Wang, S.-Q., Chakir, K., Yang, D., Zhang, T., Brown, J.H., Devic, E., Kobilka, B.K., Cheng, H. and Xiao, R.-P. (2003) Linkage of β_1 -adrenergic stimulation to apoptotic heart cell death through protein kinase A-independent activation of Ca²⁺/calmodulin kinase II. *J. Clin. Invest.* 111, 617-625.

Zhu, W.-Z., Zheng, M., Koch, W.J., Lefkowitz, R.J., Kobilka, B.K. and Xiao, R.-P. (2001) Dual modulation of cell survival and cell death by β_2 -adrenergic signaling in adult mouse cardiac myocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **98**, 1607-1612.

Zou, M.-H., Hou, X.-Y., Shi, C.-M., Kirkpatick, S., Liu, F., Goldman, M.H. and Cohen, R.A. (2003) Activation of 5'-AMP-activated kinase is mediated through c-Src and phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity during hypoxia-reoxygenation of bovine aortic endothelial cells: role of peroxynitrite. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 34003-34010.

Zou, M.-H., Hou, X.-Y., Shi, C.-M., Nagata, D., Walsh, K. and Cohen, R.A. (2002) Modulation by peroxynitrite of Akt- and AMP-activated kinase-dependent Ser1179 phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 32552-32557.

Zou, M.-H., Kirkpatrick, S.S., Davis, B.J., Nelson, J.S., Wiles, W.G., IV, Schlattner, U., Neumann, D., Brownlee, M., Freeman, M.B. and Goldman, M.H. (2004) Activation of the AMP-activated protein kinase by the anti-diabetic drug metformin *in vivo*: role of mitochondrial reactive nitrogen species. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 43940-43951.

Zou, Y., Komuro, I., Yamazaki, T., Kudoh, S., Uozumi, H., Kadowaki, T. and Yazaki, Y. (1999) Both G_s and G_i proteins are critically involved in isoproterenol-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. J. Biol. Chem. **274**, 9760-9770.